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a100% digital business having
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There's nothing more important
than trust and transparency in
today’s automotive marketplace.
A transparent market makes

car buying fair, inherently
generating trust and building
better relationships.

Auto Trader creates this trust
and transparency throughout
the market, allowing car buyers
and sellers to focus on the
things that really matter.

We are doing this by combining technology,
dataand 40 years of automotive industry
experience to provide a great digital
experience for car buyers and arange of
value-adding data and advertising services
to carretailers and manufacturers.

Read more about our strategy and
operating priorities on page 13.
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Business at a glance

We have achieved another strong year of growth across

allthree of our revenue streams. Our audience has grown - with
increases in cross platform visits, minutes spent on our marketplace
and full page advert views - and we have delivered on our capital
return policy.

Financial highlights

Revenue Operating @ Underlying @

rofit operatin
9 (o) p @ Margin prpofitz g @ Margin
+ /0 +1 8 0/ Margin Margin
to£311.4m o 1 9 o
+1Y%

to£203.1m
to£207.2m
2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017
£281.6m £311.4m £169.6m £203.1m £171.3m  £207.2m
Basic Cash generated Net external @
EPS fromoperations? debt* @
Leverage®
Leverage®
(o)
+22% +£32.8m -£37.6m
to15.64p pershare to£212.9m to £355.0m
2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017
12.67p  15.64p £180.Im £212.9m £392.6m £355.0m

Total dividend Cashreturns to Change from 52-week to

per share shareholders® annual accounting period
Asthe 2017 financial year was five

5 2p +£1 23 7m days longer than the previous year,

e ¢ year-on-year percentages for revenue,

interim1.7p to £128.7m

costs and profits have been adjusted
toreflect like-for-like growth.

plusfinal 3.5p

Read more in our Financial

2016 2017 2016 2017 review on page 26.
1.5p 5.2p £5.0m  £128.7m

Operational highlights

Average monthly Average Revenue Per Number of retailer Advertviews
cross platform Retailer forecourt forecourts advertising per month®?
minutes”® (‘ARPR’) per month?® on Auto Trader®
to 582m to £1,546 to 13,296 to247.4m
(2016: 521m) (2016: £1,384) (2016:13,514) (2016:242.8m)
1 '2017' references the 369 day period ended 31 March 2017 and the 5 LeverageisNetexternaldebtasamultiple of Adjusted underlying EBITDA
comparative ‘2016’ references the 52 week period ended 27 March 2016 (earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation,
unless otherwise stated. share-based payments and associated Nl and exceptionalitems).
2 Operating profit before share-based payments and associated national 6 Cashreturnstoshareholders comprise dividends paid and the cost of share
insurance (‘NI')and exceptionalitems. buybacks (excluding transaction costs).
3 Cashgenerated fromoperationsis defined asnet cash generated from 7 Crossplatformminutes measured by comScore.
operating activities, before corporation tax paid. 8 Averagenumberduring the year.
4 Netexternaldebtis gross externalindebtedness, less cashand 9 Company measure of the number of inspections of individual vehicle
cashequivalents. advertisements on the UK marketplace for both physical and virtual stock.
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Ourrevenue streams

Trade

H Our business model page 10
Chief Executive Officer’s statement page12
Financialreview page 26

FORSALE

Revenue fromretailers and home traders advertising

Revenue performance

t0 £262.1 million
(2016: £236.4 million)

Consumer services

Revenue from private sellers who can place an advert
on the marketplace forafee and from our partners
who provide services to consumers.

Revenue performance

+49

to £31.8 million
(2016: £30.3 million)

Display advertising

Revenue from manufacturers and their advertising
agencies who advertise their brand or services

onthe marketplace.

Revenue performance

to £17.5m
(2016: £14.9m)

their vehicles and utilising Auto Trader's products. = .-
Percentage of revenue \
o p
"7 " P

Percentage of revenue

Percentage of revenue
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Market overview

The automotive market today

The UK automotive marketplace continues to grow. Used car volumes
are benefitting from previous new car growth, whichis expected to
decline modestly from the record highs reached in 2017.

new carsregisteredin
the12 months to March 2017

increaseinnew car
registrationsinthe12 months

to March 2017

UK automotive market and macroeconomic conditions

New and used car sales volumes

The number of vehiclesin the UK continues
to grow, fuelled byincreasesin both new car
registrationsand the average scrappage
age. Thenumber of new carsregisteredin
the12 months to March 2017 increased for
afifth consecutive yearto 2.7 million units
(growth of 2.6%) according to the Society
of Motor Manufacturersand Traders
('SMMT')". Sales to fleet customers were
particularly strong, up 6.3% year-on-year,
whilst the number of new carsregistered to
retailindividuals was broadly flat after four
consecutive years of growth, despite the
dipinconsumer confidence following the
Brexitresult.

2017 started strongly witharecordrisein
new carregistrationsinthe first quarter.
Thiswasin partdue toavery strong March
as consumers looked to buy ahead of an
increase invehicle excise duty effective
1April 2017.

Low rate finance and new car desirability
are key drivers to the growth the marketis
experiencing at this time. The continuation

Number of new car registrations

('000s)
3,000

of attractive finance propositions has
underpinned levels of new and used car
transactions. 86% of private new car sales
were purchased using dealership finance,
andthe totalvalue of finance agreements
forusedcars grew 11%inthe12 monthsto
March 20172 High levels of finance uptake
have contributedtoareductioninthe
average length of carownership to 3.2 years
from 3.6 years since 2011,asnew carsare
introduced into the used car market at the
end of finance agreements.

Despite the exceptionally high performing
first quarter of the year,and the continuation
of lowinterestrates, theindustry expects that
new car transactions will begin to plateau or
declinein2017,and new carregistrations were
down by 0.6%year-on-year for the five months
to May 2017'. We expect the strong new car
market performanceinrecentyears will
continue to have a positiveimpact onused car
transactions, building on the 8.2 millionused
carssoldinthe12monthsto March 2017,
whichincreased by 4.9%over the same

period lastyear.

used carssoldinthe12
months to March 2017

growthinfinance agreements
forused carsinthe12 months
to March 20172

UK economy and EU Referendum
considerations

Since Britainvoted to leave the European
Union, consumer spending and service
sector growth have remained steady,
helping the UKeconomy to grow by 0.7%in
Q3and Q4 of 2016. GDP grew by 2.0%in 2016
and similar levels are predicted for 2017.
However, inflation has climbed steadilyin
the pasttwoyears, reaching 2.7%in April 2017
and estimated torise further with the fallin
the pound raising the prices of imported
goodsandraw materials. Interestrates
remain low, with the Bank of England cutting
itsbaserate from 0.5%to 0.25%; this
continued low level of interestrates has
provided consumers with attractive car
finance dealsand supported the strong
new car market.

Whilst we have seen fairly limited impact
todate fromtheresult of the European
Referendum, the UK's decision to leave the
EU does continue to cloud future growth
expectationsasitis not clear whether Britain
will follow a hard or soft Brexit strategy. Turn
to page 33 formore details about theimpact
of the EU Referendum on Auto Trader.

Number of used car transactions

('000s)
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2 FleetandLeasing Association (‘FLA’) data for12 months to March 2017.
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The role of digital platforms
in the car buying journey

Theimportance of trustin

today’s marketplace

Consumersnow approach car buyingin

the same way as most other purchases. This
means a growing dependence ononline tools
and services that offer more transparencyin
theretail process. Transparency creates
trust whichisimportant becauseitdrives
consumer confidence and influences

buying decisions.

Inthe car buyingjourney, transparency on
price alleviates the need to 'haggle’, as car
buyersare wellinformed onwhetherthe
advertised priceis fairandreflects the
market. Thisisinstilled further by our price
‘indicators’ whichinform car buyers as
tohowthe advertised price compares
tothe market price.

Dealerreviews

Reviews by other car buyersalso playan
increasingly influentialrole, influencing over
one third of car purchase decisions?. Similar
to otherretail sectors, reviews left by other
consumers offer buyers more transparency
over the whole process.

Transparent valuations

Inadditionto clearand transparent
information on price, car buyers alsodemand
transparency on otheraspects of the buying
and selling process. Car buyers may want to
know the value of their car if consideringits
sale, either through part-exchangeora
private transaction. Having clearinformation
onthelikely financialreturns for different
selling methods gives sellers more options
and also makes processes easierand helps
to make decisions quicker.

We anticipate that the growingreliance
ononlinetools by carbuyers willincrease
engagement with Auto Trader’s consumer
productsandits marketplacein general.
Auto Trader’s valuations toolis used
422,000 times by consumers each month
and our Part-Exchange Guide is used 117,000
times per month.

3 Auto Trader Research conducted for
Auto Trader’s Click Awards May 2016
by Acacia Avenue.

4 Auto Trader Market Report, March 2017.

5 Auto Trader Market Tracking Study 2017.

Financing a car

With 86% of new cars
boughton financeinthe
12 months to March 20172,
buyersalso want to know
what the depositand
monthly paymentis likely
tobe.55%of recent car
buyers said they worked
out their monthly budget
whenresearching their
nextcar®

Confidence

Theintroduction of our
dealer finance toolon our
full page adverts has
increased engagement

with carbuyersonthe
marketplace. With over

half of car buyers thinking

of the monthly payment
during the research process?,
this product has the ability to extend
the carbuyingjourney beyondresearch
toatransactionalphase.

New cars

28% of buyers are open to purchasinga
new car?® highlighting how undecided
buyersare ontheir next purchase. The
growth of ‘nearly new’ oryounger used
carsalso offers more choice, blurring the
lines betweennew and used and leaving
carbuyers more opentoinfluence. As
aresult, car buyersrely more heavily
ononlinetools to help them make a
purchase decision.

The launch of our new car ‘virtual stock’
enables consumersto see new caroptions
alongside used cars and therefore offer
more choice to carbuyers.

We anticipate that the continued
development of this product will help
position Auto Trader as anew and used
car destination, increasing engagement
with our existing users and also attracting
new audiences who may have not
considered Auto Trader asanew car
marketplace.

Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017
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Market overview continued

Driving efficienciesin
today’s complex market

The automotive market, with nearly 11 million car transactions each
year,is complex and often inefficient. We believe that by improving
transparency, we can help remove some of the friction that's currently
feltin the car buying process, which will lead to people changing their cars
more often - awin for consumers, retailers and the industry as a whole.

Through the evolution of our digital platforms and our innovative
data products we continue to make the car buying process easier for
Consumers, Trade and Manufacturers.

Manufacturers

2 2.7m
(o

Trade

New cars sold
viaretailers 23>

22223535

Trade-

TP to-trade 229

Therole we play transactions

New car LL €<
editorial

and reviews

€<¢<<¢<<K<

New cars

Display
advertising
Therole we play

Classified advertising

Finance solutions

Forecourt
management tools

Valuations

Creating a trusted
marketplace

Dealer websites

Retailer brand
advertising

435335

Business

225252577

Directcar sales
to businesses

Fleet
& lease

customers FEXER]

Commercial buyers
of new cars

<<
4353325935535 5539555%955%%3
2232922355325 3%>>

€€€CCCCCC<C<K

L& <<

IET T ETEEEEE Auction

Buying and selling EEEEZEEEEEEEIERXEEE

N
3355595553555 55555555555 5> EEteulo

v
v
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Consumers Trade Manufacturers
Owners of the 34 million Retailersinvolvedinthe sale of New cars are deliveredinto
carsinthe UKinvolvedinthe new and used cars to consumers. the market from manufacturers
purchase and sale of both They are also typicallyinvolved into fleetand lease (direct to
new and used cars through inpart-exchanging cars as well businesses) and sold to consumers
the ecosystem. as sourcing and disposing of viaafranchise network.

them, usually at auction.

2225

New carsdirecttoconsumers » » 9 > >

9.4m /\

Used carsales
to consumers ) > ) ) ) cars sold to consumers to-consumer

(new and used) Qactlons
€ € € € € € € € € Part-exchangeofusedcars € € € ¢

Therole we play
New and used
car search listings .‘ @

> > 2>

Vehicle Check
Dealer Reviews
and ratings
Valuations

Price Indicator
Private sales
Motoring services

Motoring advice

& Thissymbolindicates

Auto Trader’s interaction
€ € Usedcarsalestoimmediatecashbuyers € € € € & & with the market. Turn over
to find out more about the
services we offer to each
of these audiences...

a

Third parties
C<<<< making cash

FECCCCCCC<C<C<CK

offersto
consumers
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Market overview continued

How we make the market
simpler and more efficient

Consumers

Consumers buy from trade retailers
orbuyand sellto each other using
an automotive platform such as

Auto Trader, or through other means.
9o4m 3.0m

consumer-
carssold to consumers to-consu_mer
newandused) wajy “Reviews are very helpful,
very insightful; something
lalways look at to get a good
understanding of whatI'm
buying. | know how important
online reputationis and how
muchitlends towards the
credibility of abusiness.”

Car buyer January 2017

Trade retailers buy new cars
directly from manufacturers,
and used cars from auction
houses, other retailers or

directly from the consumer.
used car sales
to consumers

“Part-Exchange Guide allows
. d\ _ customers to get a valuation
RSt fromanindependent, trusted

@ay source, prior to contacting us.

It manages the customer’s
expectations and puts us and
the customer on the same page.”

Shelbourne Motors October 2016

New cars are deliveredinto
the marketinto fleet and lease
(direct to businesses) and sold

ﬁ 2 to consumers via a franchise.
7 m

new car registrations

“The content partnership with
Auto Trader provided a trusted
and credible platform on which
to highlight all the ways in which
the Tipo gives you more for
less on any carjourney.”

Fiat Brand Communications Manager
January 2017

08 Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017
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Therole we play

New and used car search listings
Consumers cansearch fromaround
450,000 used carsand 6,000 new cars
onthe marketplace each month, using
astandard make/modelsearchorvia
discovery searchif theyaren'tsure

of the exact vehicle they want.

Vehicle Check

Afree standard five point vehicle
checkso consumers can quickly
assess the provenance of avehicle.

Dealer Reviews and ratings

Over 5,000retailers featurein over
325,000 reviews, helping consumers
make aninformed and trusted decision
aboutwho they want to buy from.

Classified advertising
Ourcoreclassified platformreachesthe
UK'slargestautomotive audience. Our
product packagesenableretailersto
compete effectively onthe marketplace.
Our ‘starter’ retailer package now
includes productssuchas100images,
Live Chat, Dealer Reviews,and the
Part-Exchange Guide. We offer
progressively higherlevels giving retailers
the opportunity to pay for greater
prominenceandstandoutinasearch.

Finance solutions

After gaining FCA authorisation, we can
now enable retailers to display their
own finance calculatoras standard on
their full page adverts on Auto Trader.

Therole we play

New car editorial and reviews
Make/model pages forallnew cars
improve the buyingjourney, and the
extracontentenhances Auto Trader’s
positioninthe new car market.

H Our business model

page10

Valuations

We provide free vehicle valuations
offering both a private sale price as
wellas apart-exchange price.

Price Indicator

Powered by our valuations, these
good, greator low price indicators give
consumers full price transparency so
they canunderstand the price theyare
paying compared to the market value.

Private sales
Consumers can list their vehicles
forsale directly to other consumers.

Forecourt management tools
Powered by both our own and
third-party data, we offer data
intelligence solutions (i-Controland
Retail Check)enabling retailers to buy
therightstock, attheright price.

Valuations

Animprovementinthe underlying
datathat powers our valuations has
allowedustolaunchspec-adjusted
valuations which power price
indicators consumers see onthe
marketplace. Ourvaluations also
power our part-exchange tool.

Creating a trusted marketplace
Weinvestintechnology and ateam
thatis focused on creating a safe and

New cars

We extended our discovery search
toinclude over 6,000 brand new car
make/modelvariants. These new cars
are unregistered and do not physically
exist,and are called 'virtual stock'.
The change was designed to allow
manufacturers to advertise their
stockin front of buyers earlierin

the carbuyingjourney.

Motoring services

We offer consumersavariety

of services to help them make
aninformed decisionabout the
cartheyare looking to buy, these
include: vehicle check, finance,
andinsurance.

Motoring advice

We feature over 48,000 expertand
ownerreviews, as wellasregularly
updated editorialand advice
articles to help both confidentand
unconfident car buyersin their
carbuyingjourney.

secure marketplace. Weremove
misleading advertsandalso operate
two-factor verification on our
platformsto protect our customers.

Dealer websites

We provide mobile-optimised
websites for our retailers which
feature many of our core tools,
i.e. Part-Exchange Guide, finance
calculatorand Dealer Reviews.

Retailer brand advertising

We offerretailersarange of display
advertising packages so they can
promote their businessaswell as
individual vehicles.

Display advertising

Our platforms enable
manufacturers to promote their
brandsto the largestand most
engaged automotive classified
audience.

Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017 09



Ovur business model

Leveraging the scale of our
network to generate value

Inputs

Auto Traderis the UK's
largest digital automotive
marketplace. Our trusted
brand has been built over
the last 40 years through
advancementsin our
technology and products,
coupled with ahighly
skilled digital workforce.

Our
people

Technology

Data

Brand
strength

What we do

We have built a network of highly
engaged consumers searching around
450,000 used carsand 6,000 new car
make/model variants from a diverse
retailer base. Thisis the network effect
model - a self-perpetuating cycle with
each element further fuelling the next.

10 Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017
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H Our strategy pagei3

Delivering on our priorities page16

What this means Outputs

We are the most effective As aresult, we continue to improve
platform for consumers, our market position and generate
retailers and manufacturers. greater shareholder value.

Trustin
the market
Brand
This results in more reputation
users, greater spend
and even more data Market
. . position
which ultimately
generates Data & insight
incremental value.
Revenue
Shareholder
returns

Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017 1



Chief Executive Officer’s statement

Trust and transparency are
key purchase drivers in today’s
consumer buying journey

We have strived to create greater
transparency and therefore trust
in our marketplace, benefitting
consumers, retailers and
manufacturers alike.”

Trevor Mather
Chief Executive Officer

Auto Trader has built onthe momentum
generatedinits firstyearasalisted
company to deliver a good financial
and operational performance. We have
strived to create greater transparency
andtherefore trustin our marketplace,
benefitting consumers, retailers and
manufacturersalike. Thisin turn continues
toincrease the value we deliver, making
the car buying journeyasimpler, more
enjoyable and trusted process.

Summary of operating performance

We have continued to deliverincreased value
forourretailer customers. Ouraudience has
grown, withincreasesin cross platformvisits,
minutes spentonour marketplace and full
page advertviews, consolidating the position
we hold of having the largest and most
engaged audience, asconsumersincreasingly
interact with contentsuch asretailerreviews,
vehicle videosand new car editorial.

The biggeraudience was accompanied by
greater levels of stock. Although the number
of retailer forecourts was slightly down, this
was predominantly in smallerand non-car
related market segments. The reinforcing
nature of our network effect, when coupled
with our pricinginitiative for the year, saw us
grow Average Revenue Per Retailer ('ARPR’)
by £162to £1,546 (2016: £1,384).

As aresult, we have continued to grow
revenue across all of ourrevenue streams
(Trade, Consumer services and Display
advertising), with growth of 9%'in total.
This growth, combined with further cost
reductions as we continue to focus on
operating asimpler,leanerand more
data-oriented business, resultedinan
increasein Underlying operating profit
of19%to £207.2m. Operating profit was
up18%to £203.1m, representing another
good year for the business.

1 Asthe 2017 financial year was five days longer than
the previousyear, year-on-year percentages for
revenue, costs and profits have been adjusted to
reflect like-for-like growth. Read more in our
Financialreview on page 26.

52017
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Our strategy

H Our business model

Key performanceindicators

We remain focused on delivering our strategy to be the UKand Ireland’s

leading digitalautomotive marketplace and help improve the processes of
buying and selling vehicles for consumers, retailers and manufacturers alike. Our
priorities are regularly reviewed, and in 2017 we focused on six operating priorities
which we felt would help us to achieve our strategic goals, and | am particularly
proud of the progress the Group has made against these priorities.

See page 16 to learn more
about how we are delivering
on our priorities.

/-4

To be the UK and Ireland’s leading digital automotive marketplace

We will simplify our business

and integrate our assets

We will continuously
improve and be brilliant
at everything thatis
atour core

We will build a digital
culture thatis values-driven,
customer focused and
data-oriented

Operating priorities

Increase consumer audience,
advert views and use of
our valuation tools

The network effect model calls for the
largestand most engaged audiencein
order todrive the mostadvertviews
and ultimately sales of retailers’ stock.
Offering useful services that help
consumers to buyand sell easily, like
thevaluation tool,is essential to keep
our marketplace relevant.

(4]

Extend the penetration
of products outside of our
core classified proposition

Leveraging our core business to meet

the wider needs of retailers, helping them
toremove inefficienciesand become
more profitable, whilst providing

Auto Trader with a material source of
futurerevenue growthandacloser
relationship withits customers.

©

Promote trust and fairness
in the marketplace

Atrusted, fairand effective marketplace
iscoretothevalue we deliver to
consumers, retailers and manufacturers,
who expectusasoperatorand
custodian of the marketplace to ensure
all participants benefit.

©

Enhance our relevance
and value to manufacturers

One third of new car buyers state that
Auto Trader would be one of their first
destinations when looking to buyabrand
new car?therefore thereisahuge
opportunity to promote the relevance
and value of our marketplace with
manufacturersand new car buyers alike.

©

Grow ARPRin abalanced,
sustainable way by creating
value for our customers

ARPRis our primary driver of revenue
growth so the more balanced we canbe
(across pricerises, stocklisting growth,
productupselland cross-sell), the more
sustainable ourrevenue willbeinthe
long term.

6]

Operate a simpler,
leaner and more
data-oriented business

Making our processes and procedures
more intuitive and streamlined whilst
harnessing the data from our marketplace
will benefit both our customersand
employees. Creating ahigh-performing,
continuously developing business will
unlock opportunitiesand provide a truly
digitalexperience forall.

page10
page 22

2 Auto Trader Brand Tracking research (January - February 2017), conducted by Acacia Avenue, March 2017.
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement continued

Progress made against our
operating priorities

During the year, our audience has continued
to grow: cross platformyvisits *haveincreased
to55.4million per month (2016: 47.9 million);
minutes spent on our marketplace®have
grown by 12%to a total of 582 million minutes
onaverage per month (2016: 521 million),

and full page advertviewsincreased to

247.4 million per month (2016: 242.8 million

per month).

We continue to embed our valuations with
the trade and consumers alike, witha focus
onbecoming the benchmark for the industry,
and have deliveredrecord numbers of
valuations this year. The number of valuations
conducted by consumersrose by 25%toa
total of 17.1million (2016:13.7 million), being
particularly buoyed by the introduction of
our Part-Exchange Guide product.

2

Over the past 40 years, Auto Trader has
become synonymous with buying and selling
cars. This heritage has allowed usto builda
trusted position which we have leveraged
tobecome anadvocate of transparency,
delivering free consumer valuations,
Part-Exchange Guide, Vehicle Checks,
Dealer Reviews,and most recently, Price
Indicator, which benefits the users of our
entire marketplace.

3

Through delivering increased value to our
customers, we were able to successfully
execute ourannual pricing eventin the

first quarter of the financial year. The added
value of more consumers and more
engagement has been complemented by
anincreasein physical stock onsite, with the
average number of cars growing to ¢.450,000
(2016:¢.437,000) underpinned by good used
car transactionnumbersin the year. We have
seenmarginally lower forecourtsintheyear,
down 2%t013,296 (2016:13,514), with fewer
non-carandsmallindependent forecourts,
offset partly by growthin franchise
forecourts. Together with the gains made
onour product lever both withinand outside
of our core classified packages, this enabled
us to grow ARPR by £162 to £1,546.

growthinadvertviews

ARPR per month, up £162 (2016: £1,384)

4

We have improved the number of managing
forecourtstoc.2,500(2016: ¢.1,900) and
moved more customers up the selling
package staircase. However, as expected,
retailing solutions revenue declined as
aresult of discontinuedrevenue from
pay-per-click (‘PPC’) and search engine
optimisation (‘'SEQ’) products, as wellas
the re-platforming of our buying portal

and website templates.

5

We have continued to grow our relevance to
manufacturers, reflectedin higher Display
advertising revenue in the year, with growth
of 16%(2016: 23%) in spite of uncertainty in the
lead up to the EU Referendum. We continue
tobelieve thereisasignificant opportunity
indisplay as we foresee further shift by
manufacturers from traditional marketing
channels todigitalchannels,inline with

the trends seenin other retail sectors. Our
priorityis tobecome known to consumers,
manufacturersand agencies as a destination
fornew cars,and we have takenasignificant
step towards thisin 2017 with the addition

of over 6,000 brand new cars to our
marketplace, which we call 'virtual stock'.

6

Over the year, we have operatedinalean
and agile way and seen continued benefits
from the consolidation into two offices.
Despite continued investmentin new
products, developersand front-line sales
people, we expect to maintain our current
headcount,and becomeincreasingly more
data-oriented, reaching ever higher levels
of performance.

14 Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017

Driving a more transparent

and trusted marketplace

Consumers spendaround1ihours*
researching their next caronline, visiting on
average 2.2dealerships®before they make
their purchase. They buy cars now as they
doany other consumer goods, demanding
transparency, ease and trustin the seller.
If sellers, in our case automotive retailers,
don't offeratransparent, easy and
trustworthy experience, aconsumer may
goelsewhere.

With thisin mind, and to encourage retailers
to operateinamore transparentand trusted
manner, we took the decision torestructure
our packages so that they now include
products that will allow them to compete
more effectively onthe marketplace. Our
new ‘starter’ package includes products
suchas: Dealer Reviews, Part-Exchange
Guide, 100 Images and Live Chat - all tools
that we see as abasicrequirementfora
retailer to compete effectivelyintoday’s
digital marketplace. We have five levelsin
total, which progressively increase up to
‘Advanced’ and ‘Premium’, giving retailers
the opportunity to pay more for greater
prominence and stand out when consumers
search forcarsonadesktop. Greater
prominence and appearing higherinthe
searchresultsincreasesaretailer’s ability to
sellacar, faster, thereforeincreasing profit.

Creating price transparency
Ourmostrecentlaunch, Price Indicator,
directly addresses how retailers can provide
agreater level of transparencyin their pricing
toconsumers, asitlabels their stock with
a’'good price’, ‘great price’ or ‘priced low’
indicator. Theseindicators are powered by
our valuations algorithm which has been
developedtoincorporate features such as
live market movements, specifications and
optional extras. The marketis constantly
changing - there are over12,000 price
changesevery day on Auto Traderand nearly
20,000 carsare added orremoved - sorather
than prescribe a definitive price position,

we advise retailers to price to the market so
theyare more likely to see anindicator on
theiradvert.

3 Monthly visitsand monthly minutes
as measured by comScore.

4 Auto Trader Car Buyer Report, conducted
by Gfk,May 2016.

5 Auto Trader Market Tracking Study 2017.
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Promoting finance solutions
forourretailers

Since gaining FCA authorisation, which
enables us toshow the monthly borrowing
cost of aspecific vehicle based onaretailer’'s
preferred lender, over1,300 retailers are
benefitting from our finance product, initially
onafree of charge basis. Finance is akey
revenue stream for our customers, with over
86% of new cars sold on finance and growth
of 11%in the total value of finance agreements
forusedcarsintheyearé sothisisavaluable
proposition forretailers. Itisalso anadded
benefit for consumers as they willbe able to
work out how to finance a specific car with
the vehicle retailer rather than seeking
finance elsewhere.

Stocking and pricing to the market
Inadditionto driving trust and transparency
inthe marketplace, we advocate the power
of using data to stockand price vehicles
correctly. Atyear end, approximately 2,500
retailer forecourts (2016: ¢.1,900), listing

34% of trade stock, were using our data
intelligence Managing products, i-Control or
Retail Check. These products allow retailers
to utilise datathatisrelevant tothemto help
them buy the most desirable stock, at the
right price, so they can optimise stock turn
and therefore profit - helping them do
business more efficiently.

Generating value for manufacturers
When looking to buy a new car, Auto Trader
isspontaneously front of mind for almost
aquarter of consumers. Coupled withan
increase of over 6,000 brand new ‘virtual
stock’ cars onto our marketplace, this has
increased sales leads and amplified the value
we now offer to manufacturers and their
networks. We have also continued to build
key relationships with manufacturers and
theirmediaagencies and we are working
with them to leverage our dataandinsight
totarget buyersattherighttimein their
carbuyingjourney.

Acquisition of Motor Trade Delivery

In April 2017, we acquired Motor Trade
Delivery Limited (‘MTD’),an online real-time
marketplace for the trade delivery of vehicles
across the UK, and welcomedits nine
employees to the Group. Thisacquisitionis
anextension of our overall strategy of using
digitaltechnology toimprove efficiencies
forourretailer customers.

6 TheFinance & Leasing Association data
for the 12 months to March 2017.
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Culture and people

As part of the Group’s digital culture,
incorporating an agile and lean working
ethos, we have continued to find ways of
operating more efficiently whilst ensuring
thatteams are truly data-oriented. We
therefore took the decision to assign
every teamtheir own dedicated data
analyst,embedding data practices fully
across the organisation.

The Group's most valuable resourceis our
employees, and the success of the Group
istotheir credit. Andit's having a truly
diverse employee base that allows for
amorerounded, creative andinnovative
organisation. We respectand appreciate
diversity and have made a conscious effort
to educate and challenge attitudes. Every
one of ouremployees has participatedina
one-day workshop focusing on creating
commonunderstanding of the concepts as
wellas exploring their unconscious biases.
We have created networks for women, those
with families as wellas commoninterest
groups, to ensure employees feel supported
by anetwork of like-mindedindividuals. Itis
ourambition to become one of the most
diverse andinclusive employersin the UK.

price changes every day on Auto Trader

cars are added orremoved daily

retailer forecourts currently use our
data-driven Managing products, i-Control
or Retail Check (2016:1,900)

Outlook for 2018

Afteranumber of years of near uninterrupted
growth, the industry expects new car
registrations to plateau or decline in calendar
2017, but anticipates greater used car
transaction volumes as past observations
suggest thattherecentstrong growthinnew
car sales will continue to stimulate demand
forused cars.

Retailer forecourt numbersare set to be flat
tomarginally down, with overall stock levels
expected tocontinue to grow. ARPR
improvementis expected toreturnto 2016
growth levels at orabove £130 per month,
with the majority of growth from the product
lever. Thisreflects the recent bundling of
productsinto our new selling package levels
as wellasupselling of the new Advanced and
Premium levels. MTD willbe reportedasa
component of Trade revenue, but outside of
Retailerrevenue, and therefore will not
impact ARPR.

Consumer services revenue momentum s
expected toremain at low single digit, whilst
Display advertising growth (to be renamed
Manufacturer & Agency)is expected to
slow slightly fromrecent levels but remain
double digit.

Costs, takingintoaccount MTD and
share-based payments, are expected to
increase at the rate of mid single digit with
headcountremaining flat and salary inflation
settoriseinanincreasingly competitive
market. Spend on marketing as a percentage
of revenueis expected to remain broadly
constant, with slightly higher overheads
being offset by further, albeit smaller, savings
indepreciationand amortisation.

Operating profit willreplace Underlying
operating profitas our key performance
measure from financial year 2018, with
operating margins set torise further.

The Boardis confident of deliveringits
growth expectationsinthe comingyear,
despite wider economic uncertainly fuelled
by the result of last year’'s EU Referendum.
We believe our strong market position, and
continued ability to add value to consumers,
retailersand manufacturers will position us
wellto deliver growth.

Trevor Mather
Chief Executive Officer
8 June 2017
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Delivering on our priorities

Industry challenge

/6%

of car buyers claim that
transparent pricing

of carsis the most
important thing to them'.

Consistently
delivering on our
priorities

A clear focus on our six operating priorities
allows us to monitor our strategic progress and

deliverresults, consolidating our position at the
forefront of the UK automotive marketplace.

|ncre ase consumer Progress during the last year:
aydlence, advert 589m

VIeWS and Use Of Our cross platform minutes each month.
valuations tools

We continue to operate the UK's largest
digitalautomotive marketplace withan

2%

increaseinadvertviewsyear-on-year.

average of 582 million cross platform
minutes and 55 million cross platform visits
per month, viewing an average of 247 million
full page advertviews permonth and
conducting over 17 million valuations as
consumers seek tounderstand the private
sale or part-exchange value for their cars.

1/m

consumer valuations conducted
onsite overtheyear.

—

Video car adverts

New ways to view stock

Video adverts help reassure car buyers that they
are buying avehicle fromareputable and trusted
retailer. It'sanother vital way retailers can deliver
transparency with car buyers that builds trust.

1 Auto Trader
September 2016 Market Report.
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©

Promote trust and fairness
in the marketplace

Asanindustry that has alow perception of trust with consumers,
it'sessential that the industry works together to drive greater
levels of transparency and therefore trust. If growth of
transparencyis adoptedindustry-wide, it willremove some of
the friction that's currently feltin the car buying process and lead
to people changing their cars more often.

Progress during the last year:

Forced removal of misleading adverts that
deliberately misinform consumers.

We implemented an extra layer of security with
two-factor verification on our dealer portalaccounts.

We launched Dealer Reviews for our retailer customers, as wellas
forming partnerships with major review platform providers, to
enable them to show alevel of trust to car buyers.

We continued to harmonise retailer pricing structures and created
new packages for financial year 2018. The new packages, including
the ‘starter’ package, provide retailers with products thatallow
them to convey trustand transparency with consumers, i.e. 100
Images, Dealer Reviews, Live Chat, and Part-Exchange Guide.

X Volkswagen E-Golf 5-Door

‘ Volkswa
]

B . 2014 (64 reg)
N - 35,000 miles t
swagen Golf 1.4 GTE

-
‘ Volkswag~

Price Indicator

Creating price transparency

Powered by our valuations algorithm, we launched ‘good’,
‘great’ and ‘low’ price indicators onto the marketplace so
consumers get transparency in the pricing of cars.

AutoTrader Group pleAnnlalReport and Financial Statements 2017
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Delivering on our priorities continued

©

Grow ARPRiIna
balanced, sustainable
way by creating value
for our customers

We continually innovate to develop new and
enhance existing products and services for
consumers, retailers and manufacturers to ensure
we are always delivering value. We've made
significant stridesinimproving our valuations data,
which has allowed us to provide adjusted valuations
based onspec,something that therest of the
industry has struggled to achieve. We have also
enhanced our Dealer Portal with new functionality
thatallows group reporting, enabling self-serve

of adealer group’s performance dashboard, and
anew look stockmanagementdashboard, so
retailers canassess levels of response and adjust
theiradvertising and pricing accordingly.

Progress during the last year:

Physical car stock onsite hasincreased
year-on-year by 3%.

Portalis now utilised by around 87%
of ourretailer customers.

We'veincreased prices toreflect the value we
deliver to our customers, adding more products
as standardinto our packages.

We migrated all of our customers onto anew
monthly billing system, Singleview, helping us
toimprove our customer service as wellas our
effectivenesstocrosssell products.

Increased car stock on our marketplace
("000s) (%)

460 20

440

Hello Paul. Yesterday, your P &
Renault Captur was your 3 S, PSR ST
most popular vehicle,

5
. ||‘ |||.|||||. .n|||u...||. |
I T

2015 2016 2017

+1,064% 109 330
© Year-on-year growth rate in that month -
@ 12 month rolling total

Your oldest stock on Auto Trader
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i-Control
We have continued to

of ourdataintelligence

Retail Check. Users of
these tools will now
exclusively be able to
seeadjusted guide
price valuations based
onadding spec.

Extend the penetration
of products outside

of our core classified
proposition

We have removed sales commissions from our
salesandserviceteamsandimplemented anew
‘challenger’ salesapproach. This ensures our
teams are equipped to provide strategic business
consultancyandare therefore more able to
articulate value in products that sit outside of our
core classified offering. We have also continued to
develop products outside of our core, for example
products thatallow retailers to manage and market
theirbusinesses more effectively.

Progress during the last year:

We have increased penetration of products outside
of our core selling proposition, growing usage of our
Managing products,i-Controland Retail Check.

We gained FCA authorisation allowing us to show
aretailer'sown finance deals on theiradvertson
Auto Trader.

Launched new website templatesin order for us
tocompete more effectively.

Launched anew retailer brand advertising
proposition.

retailer forecourts using our data-driven Managing
products,i-Control or Retail Check

Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017
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Delivering on our priorities continued

Enhance our relevance

and value to manufacturers

Auto Traderis spontaneously top of mind for almosta quarter of
consumers when looking to buy anew car? Coupled with anincrease

of over 6,000 brand new make/model variants onto
thishasincreasedthe salesleads and amplified the

tomanufacturers and their networks. We have also continued to build
key relationships with manufacturers and their media agencies and are
working with themto leverage our dataandinsight to target buyers at

therighttimeintheircarbuyingjourney.

Progress during the last year:

Updated over 300 new car make/model Developed our cross platformaudience
pages, enabling consumers to make an targeting, beginning toembed our data
enquiry withalocalretailer. management platform, helping us to

targetaudiences more effectively.

our marketplace,
value we now offer

Continued to develop new advertising

and creative formats so manufacturers Increased Display advertising revenue
and theirretailer networks canreach new frommanufacturers and their media
carbuyersattherighttime, ontheright agencies by 16%.

channelwith theright message.

Thisyear we extended our discovery search
with the addition of over 6,000 brand new,
make/model variants to our marketplace,
what we have called ‘virtual stock'.

/3

of new car buyers state that Auto Trader
would be one of their first destinations when
looking tobuy abrand new car?.

2 Auto Trader Brand Tracking Data from
Acacia Avenue (January - February 2017).
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Operate a simpler,
leaner and more
data-oriented
business

As part of the Group's digital culture, incorporating
anagile and lean working ethos, we have continued
to find ways of operating more efficiently whilst
ensuring thatteams are truly data-driven, resulting
inevery team being assigned their own dedicated
dataanalyst.

Inabidtooperate asimpler and more efficient
business, we have migrated all our13,000 retailer
forecourts onto anew billing system enabling our
sales teams to manage and monitor product
penetration as wellas customer value.

Data-driven
product development

Progress during the last year:

00%

migration of retailer forecourts onto new billing
system, Singleview

Developed the "Auto Trader Way” methodology to
standardise the approach to product development,
placing dataat the heart of everything we do.

Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017
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Key performance indicators

Financial performance KPIs

We use the metrics below to track our financial performance.

Revenue

£m

Underlying operating

profit
£m

+19%

Underlying operating
profit margin
%

2015 2016 2017

2015 2016 2017

2015 2016 2017

Operating priorities

00000

Operating priorities

0000060

Operating priorities

0000060

Definition

The Group generatesrevenue from three
different streams: Trade, Consumer
servicesand Display advertising. Trade
is furtheranalysedinto three classes:
Retailer, Home Trader And Other.

Progress

Revenueincreased by 9%, coming from
a9%increasein Traderevenue,aswellas
growth of 4%in Consumer services and16%
in Display advertising revenue. Refer to
the Financialreview for further detail on
eachrevenue stream.

Definition

Underlying operating profitis Operating
profitbefore managementincentive plans,
share-based payments and associated NI,
exceptionalitemsandimpairments.

Progress

Underlying operating profitincreased by
19%, reflecting the Group’s revenue growth
and well managed costs.

Definition

Underlying operating profit margin
isUnderlying operating profitasa
percentage of revenue.

Progress

The Group's focus on operating efficiency
and costcontrolresultedina 6 percentage
pointincreasein Underlying operating
profitmarginto 67%.

Risks

00000

Risks

0000060

Risks

000000

As the 2017 financial year was five days longer than the previous year, year-on-year percentages for revenue, costs and profits have been adjusted
toreflectlike-for-like growth. Read more in our Financial review on page 26.
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Basic EPS

pence pershare

Cash generated from
operations

£m

2015 2016 2017

2015 2016 2017

Operating priorities

0000060

Operating priorities

000

Definition

Basic earnings per shareis defined as
profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the parent divided by the
weighted average number of ordinary
sharesinissue during the year.

Progress

Basic EPS growthis areflection of the
Group's strong operational leverage
aided by asmalltailwind from the share
buy-back programme implementedin
thisfinancialyear.

Definition

Cash generated from operations as
reportedinthe consolidated statement
of cash flows on page 83. Thisis defined
as cash generated from operating
activities, before corporation tax paid.
Thisis considered to be amore meaningful
measure of performance than the
statutory measure of cash generated
from operating activities which canbe
distorted by changesin funding structure
andthetime lag thatappliestothe
payment of corporation tax.

Progress

Cash generated from operationsincreased
to £212.9mintheyear, giving growth of
£32.8m. Thisdemonstrated a high level of
profitbeing convertedinto cash, which
was largely returned to shareholders.

Risks

0000060

Risks

0000

Operating priorities relevant to our KPIs
@ 'ncrease consumer audience, advert
views and use of our valuationtools

@ Promote trustand fairness
inthe marketplace

© GrowARPRinabalanced, sustainable
way by creating value for our customers

o Extend the penetration of products
outside of our core classified proposition

© Enhanceourrelevance andvalue
tomanufacturers

@ Operateasimpler, leanerand more
data-oriented business

&Y Readmore onpage13.

Risks relevant to our KPIs

@ Economy, marketandbusiness
environment

© Increased competition

© Brand

@ New ordisruptive technologies and
changing consumer behaviours

© 'Tsystems
@ Employeeretention

&Y Read more on pages 33 to 35.

Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017 23



Key performance indicators continued

Operating KPIs

We use the metrics below to track our operational performance.

Advert views

Average number per month (millions)

+2%

Number of retailer
forecourts

Average number permonth

-2%

Average Revenue Per
Retailer ('ARPR’)

£permonth

2015 2016 2017

e e 2

2015 2016 2017

2015 2016 2017

Operating priorities

0 0.0

Operating priorities

000600

Operating priorities

00060

Definition

Advertviews are click-throughs from
initial searchresult pagestoseethe

more detailed specification of the vehicle.
Research has shownthatahigherlevel

of advertviews correlates withahigher
number of retailer sales.

Progress

2% growthinadvertviews was steady
asour market leading position was
consolidated. A proportion of advert
view growth was cannibalised by growth
invaluations, as consumers no longer
needto go throughasearchtogetan
indicative value for their vehicle. Inthe
yearwe delivered 3.0 billion of these
virtualinspections, whichmeans there
was an average of 94 vehicles per second
beingviewed throughanadvertview.

Definition

The average number of retailer forecourts
per month that are advertising vehicles on
the Auto Trader marketplace over the
financial year.

Progress

The marginaldeclinein forecourts was
theresultof lossesinnon-carchannels
andaslightdeclineinsmallindependent
customers, marginally offset by growth
infranchise forecourts. Theindependent
decline appearstobe attributable to
continued consolidationinthe total
number of UK forecourtsandthe
challenges faced by the fast moving nature
of digital'sroleinthe car buying process.
Declineinthefirsthalfimpactedrunrate
into the second half of the year.

Definition

Average Revenue Per Retailer ('ARPR’) is
the average monthly revenue generated
fromretailer forecourts divided by the
average monthly number of retailer
forecourts.

Progress

Inthe year we continued to deliver
greater levels of value to our customers,
withincreased levels of audience and
higher levels of engagement per visit.
Thisvalue underpinnedthe three levers
of ARPR, price, stockand product (where
we consolidated upselland cross-sell).
Ourannual pricing event saw greater
levels of product uptake and higher
numbers of listings, aided by a good
market tailwind.

Risks

006000

Risks

000006

Risks

00600
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Cross platform minutes
Monthly average minutes spentacross all
our platforms (millions)

Number of full-time
equivalent employees
(‘FTEs’)

Average number (including contractors)

2015 2016 2017

2015 2016 2017

Operating priorities

0000

Operating priorities

(6]

Definition
Monthly average minutes spentacrossall
our platforms, as defined by comScore.

Inthe previous year,we reported our
share of cross platform minutes against
adefined competitor set. However, due
tochangesincomScore’s methodology,
andinconsistencies between the way that
competitor websites are configured, this
measureisnolonger consideredto be
reliable and so has beenreplaced with
ameasure of our own total cross

platform minutes.

Progress

Cross platform minutes growth, as
measured by comScore, was reflective
of anincreasingly engaged audience.
Engagement was seen notjustinour
core classified listings but also with our
valuation products and Dealer Reviews,
both key components of our drive for
greater levels of trustand transparency
inthe marketplace.

Definition

Full-time equivalentemployees are
measured on the basis of the number

of hours worked by full-time employees,
with part-time employeesincluded on
apro-ratabasis.

Number of FTEs (whichincludes
contractors)isreportedinternally each
calendarmonth, with the full-year number
being generated froman average of those
12 time periods.

Progress

People areanessentialassetand
attracting, retaining and developing that
talentis at the core of our operational
thinking. Thereisalso aninternal
commitmenttooperateinaleanand
agile environment which has driven
efficiencies over the last year, resulting
ina4%reductioninFTEs.

Risks

006006

Risks

0 0.0

Operating priorities relevant to our KPIs
@ Increase consumeraudience, advert
views and use of our valuationtools

@ Promote trustand fairness
inthe marketplace

© GrowARPRinabalanced, sustainable
way by creating value for our customers

o Extend the penetration of products
outside of our core classified proposition

© Enhanceourrelevance andvalue
tomanufacturers

@ Operateasimpler, leanerand more
data-oriented business

&Y Readmore onpage13.

Risks relevant to our KPIs

@ Etconomy, marketandbusiness
environment

@ Increased competition

© Brand

o New or disruptive technologies and
changing consumer behaviours

© 'Tsystems
0 Employee retention

&Y Read more on pages 33 to 35.
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Financial review

We have delivered on our guidance to
reduce leverage, grow dividends and
return excess cash to shareholders

In 2017, we returned £128.7min
cash to shareholders, as well as
reducing gross debt by £40m.”

Sean Glithero
Chief Financial Officer

Revenue

In 2017, we saw another year of strong
revenue growth at 9%, reaching £311.4m
(2016: £281.6m). Growth was achievedinall
threerevenue streamsandintotalatarate
similar to that attainedin 2016.

Trade revenue was the largest contributor,
withrevenuerising by 9% to £262.1m

(2016: £236.4m). Within Trade, Retailer
revenue grew 10%to £250.1m (2016: £224.5m).
Home Trader saw growth of 3% to £12.0m
(2016: £11.5m), with a lower growth rate largely
being attributable to limited pricing
initiativesin the year. Otherrevenue fell

Change from 52-week to
annual accounting period

Due to the publishing heritage of the
business, results have historically been
reported ona52 week (i.e. 364 days) basis
with the accounting period ending onthe
closest Sunday to 31 March.

\ T ¥ The Board made the decision to change
\ | the period end date to be 31 March every
- \ A ; year, startingin financial year 2017, to
{| \ i betteralign with our customers’ needs,
andto the products and services we offer.

As aconsequence of this change, the 2017
financial year was five days longer than
the previous year and whilst there was
noimpactonthe firsthalf results, the
second half of the year was longer and
hencerevenues, costsand earnings were
greater due to the extratrading days.

Year-on-year percentages for revenues,
costs and profits have been adjusted to
reflect like-for-like growth. No other
percentages have been adjusted.

L : Forexample: Operating profit (£203.1m x
R W {7 364/369 divided by £169.6m - 1) 100 = 18%.

: £ - B
i‘ ! b @
A Sl

'I’gtiererouppchnnualReportan%ﬁnb . State
b A i h"“ .

Nt 26 Auto



Strategicreport / Governance / Financialstatements

H Our business model page10
Key performanceindicators page 22
2017 2016 Days-adjusted
Revenue £m £m change
Retailer 250.1 224.5 10%
Home Trader 12.0 1.5 3%
Other - 04 n/m
Trade 26241 236.4 9%
Consumer services 31.8 30.3 4% Trade revenue
Display advertising 17.5 14.9 16%
Total 3.4 281.6 9% £262 1 m
o
(2016: £236.4 million)
£0.4mversus 2016 due to the closure of our With a greater number of listings, alarger
manufacturer websites business, 2nd Byte, audience and higher levels of engagement,
inJune 2015. weimplemented a price changein the first
We deliveredincreased Retailerrevenue QLEEIer f|napmaly_ear 20.1?' For some
. customers, this wasinadditionto a pricing
asaresultof growthin Average Revenue N .
L } initiative in the second half of the previous
Per Retailer (‘ARPR’), where there was .. .
. year. The timing benefit, where the two
improvement of £162 to £1,546 per month . X .
: events compound upinthe price lever,is not
(2016: £1,384). Average retailer forecourts exDected to FeoceuUr going forward aswe ) ) .
were down 2% 0 13,296 (2016: 13,514) with P rgoing forwarda Underlying operating profit
. . shift toanannual price reviewin April of
lossesinnon-car, Republic of Ireland and M .
smallerindependentretailers partially offset cRE el St ngn e el e 20
. P . P y Of total ARPR growth, price contributed m
by growthin franchise forecourts. This . N ®
. . R £86(2016: £41) and 53% (2016: 31%).
change inretailer mix led to an overall ARPR (2016: £171.3 million)
increase fromthe loss of smaller lower Our product lever, which had previously been ’ ’
yieldingretailers. Withmuch of thedecrease  splitbetween additional products taken,
occurringin the first half of the yearand either within or outside of our core classified
thereforeimpacting the second halfrunrate,  selling package (upsell & cross-sell),
forecourts were largelyinline with contributed £28 (2016: £33) and 17% (2016: 25%)
expectations for the remainder of the year. of total ARPR growth. We continued to see
Low-level market consolidation continues high adoption of Level 3 of our package
to be apparentamongst smaller customers, staircase, whichincludes priority listings on
although the dropin the total number of mobile. Thisacted as a catalyst for the
forecourtsremains at the rate seen over introduction of our new prominence X
the last three to four years. productsin the 2018 financial year, which give Cash generated from operations
AR s eR CIAR per TeRE TS customgrs the opportumtyto gchleve more
. advertviews by upgrading to higher levels
generatedthroughthreelevers: stock, price, . 5 m
. inthe package staircase. [ ]
and product, where we have consolidated
upsellandcross-sell. Alsoincludedinthe productleveristhe (2016:180.1m)
change in Retailing solutions revenue, which
Ourmarketplace saw anaverage number of B o
. R . saw ayear-on-yeardecline of 4% to £23.9m
carlistings of ¢.450,000in the year, which . R R .
N (2016: £24.5m), with the main driver being the
was 3% higher than last year (2016: ¢.437,000). . . . ) .
. discontinuation of low margin pay-per-click
The growthinstock comes through , , . RS ,
> . o . ("PPC’)and search engine optimisation (‘SEQ’)
continuedinternalinitiatives to help retailers . . .
. products which were wound downin their
understand the value of advertising all of . ) )
. . entirety during the first half of the year.
their stock onthe marketplace and focusing . R
. . S Retailer display revenue also saw asmall
ontheever-increasingrole of digitalinthe RS A A .
carbuying journey. We also saw a good V_ y . e Cashreturned to shareholders
. e higherreturn-on-investment listings and
underlying used car market, benefitting from
. . data productsratherthantopromote
therecent growthinnew car transactions. . ) o
. - theirbrand through display advertising. m
With top-level growthinthe number of . I [ ]
o . o Our website templates and B2B classified
listings and the benefit from unwinding . .
. . . . portal products saw a number of technical (2016: £5.0m)
the lastremaining historic stock discounts, changes in the vear whichlimited growth
the stock lever contributed £48 (2016: £58) o ogrtunities éen’etration of foregcourts
and 30% (2016: 44%) of total ARPR growth. PP :
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Financial review continued

using our Managing products grew wellin the
second half of the yearand we closed the
yearwithc.2,500 forecourts (2016: ¢.1,900),
representing al9% penetration of total
forecourts (2016:14%).

Consumerservicesrevenue increased 4%
inthe yearto £31.8m (2016: £30.3m). Private
revenue, within Consumer services, grew
3%10£24.4m (2016: £23.3m), although the
second half was broadly flat, as we saw
increased competition and the effect of the
growingimpact of our own Part-Exchange
Guide product. Motoring services saw a
slightly better growthrate,increasing 4% to
£7.4m (2016: £7.0m), with much of the growth
coming through delivering greaterresponse
to our third-party partners forinsurance,
finance and vehicle checks.

Display advertising revenue grew 16% to
£17.5m (2016: £14.9m) from a higher number
of homepage takeovers andincreased levels
of inSearch advertising, tempered by lower
growthinprogrammatic display revenue
following the introduction of anew adserver
inNovember, which took time to embed.

We continue to deepenrelationships with
manufacturers and their media agencies,
which will allow us to develop and monetise
ourvirtual stock proposition.

Costs

Underlying administrative expenses
continued to be wellmanaged, seeing
a7%reductionyear-on-year to £104.2m
(2016: £110.3m). Total administrative
expenses saw areduction of 5%.

People costs comprise staff costs (excluding
share-based payments) of £49.1m (2016:
£51.1m) and third-party contractor costs of
£0.4m (2016: £0.4m). Overall, people costs
declinedintheyear by 5%to £49.5m (2016:
£51.5m), due to lower full-time equivalent
employees (‘FTEs’) (including contractors),
down 35year-on-year to an average of 824
(2016: 859) as wellas afallinredundancy and
restructuring costs. The headcountreduction
came as we continued toimprove our way of
workingin aleanand agile way, although some
of the saving was offset through higher
salaries as we look to attract the best digital
talent, particularlyin technicaland customer
facingroles.

2017 2016 Days-adjusted

Costs £m £m change

People costs 49.5 51.5 (5%)
Marketing 16.0 15.7 1%
Overheads 30.7 32.5 (7%)
Depreciation & amortisation 8.0 10.6 (26%)
Underlying administrative expenses 104.2 110.3 (7%)
Share-based payments 4.5 2.5 78%
Exceptionalitems (0.4) (0.8) (51%)
Total administrative expenses 108.3 112.0 (5%)

Days-adjusted

Underlying operating profit change
Underlying operating profit 207.2 171.3 19%
Share-based payments (4.5) (2.5) 78%
Exceptionalitems 04 0.8 (51%)
Operating profit 203.1 169.6 18%

Marketing spendincreased slightlyinthe
yearto £16.0m (2016: £15.7m), although as a
percentage of revenueit fellto 5.1%

(2016: 5.6%). Much of the focus this year has
beenon product specific campaigns where
we have promoted private advertising,
Part-Exchange Guide and valuations. We
increased PPC spend as we saw higher levels
of competitoractivityin thisarea.

Reductions were made in overheads of 7%

to £30.7m (2016: £32.5m), in part through
adhering to lean operating principles and
anumber of one-off savingsincluding arates
rebate,and ayear-on-year cost saving of
c.£1.0mdue to the discontinuation of the
low-margin Retailing solutions products.
Lower FTEs, in particular,had abenefiton
employee related expenses.

Depreciationand amortisation decreased
by 26%to £8.0m (2016: £10.6m) as past
development costs became fully amortised
intheyear.

Ashare-based payments charge of £4.5m
(2016: £2.5m) was recognised during the year,
including nationalinsurance costs (‘NI’) on
potentialemployee gains where applicable.
The year-on-yearincreasein the charge was
primarily due to further awards madein June
2016 under the Performance Share Planand
the Deferred Annual Bonus Planas well as the
full-yearimpact of the Sharesave scheme
launchedin September 2015. Refer to note 26
of the consolidated financial statements for
further details.
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Following the completion of the office
centralisation programme in 2014, the Group
rananinitiative to exitanumber of properties
early and to secure cash discounts where
possible. During the period, the Group
completed thisinitiative and disposed of
the lastremaining property. Asaresult,an
exceptional creditof £0.4mhasbeen
recognisedintheincome statementin
respect of the profit on disposaland the
release of vacant property provisions no
longerrequired.

Underlying operating profit

Underlying operating profitincreased by
19%to £207.2m (2016: £171.3m) with Underlying
operating profit marginimproving by 6
percentage points to 67% (2016: 61%).

The Group has previously reported non-
underlyingitemsinthe income statement to
highlight the impact of one-off and other
discreteitemsandtoallow better
interpretation of the underlying performance
of the business. Theseinclude exceptional
items, share-based paymentcharges (and
associated Nl)and costsrelatedto
managementincentive schemeslinked to the
previous private ownership of the Group. From
nextyear,i.e.for2018 and beyond, the Group
willnolongerreportUnderlying operating
profitand willinstead focus on the statutory
measure of Operating profit,asitis expected
that going forward the year-on-year change
inshare-based payments charges willbe
lessdistorting thanin the past.

Inthe year, Operating profit grew 18% to
£203.1m (2016: £169.6m), with Operating profit
marginincreasing 5 percentage points to 65%
(2016: 60%).
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Profit before tax

Profitbefore taxincreased to £193.4m

(2016: £155.0m), which followed the Operating
profit performance and areductioninnet
finance costs to £9.7m (2016: £14.6m). Net
finance costs fell through a combination

of paying the lowest level of margin on the
debt facility from June 2016 onwards, and
from lower gross debt, which was reduced
intheyear.

Taxation

The Group tax charge of £38.7mrepresents
an effective taxrate of 20% (2016:18%) which
isinline with the average standard UK rate
and areflection of our taxation policy to act
inaresponsible and transparent mannerin
all tax matters.

The 2016 rate was lower than the standard
rate due toaone-offrelease of a tax
provision.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per sharerose by 22%to
15.64 pence (2016:12.67 pence) and was
based onaweighted average number of
ordinary sharesinissue of 989,278,991
(2016:1,000,002,803). Diluted earnings per
share of 15.60 pence (2016:12.65 pence) also
increased by 22%, based on 991,812,212 shares
(2016:1,001,394,111) which takes into account
the dilutive impact of outstanding

share awards.

Cash flow and net external debt

Cash generated from operationsincreased
t0 £212.9m (2016: £180.1m) and was achieved
as aresult of strong Operating profit
combined with low working capitaland
capitalexpenditure requirements. This
enabled us to deliver on our guidance to
reduce leverage, grow dividends and return
excess cashtoshareholders.

Corporation tax payments totalled £34.8m
(2016: £16.0m), as tax paidin 2016 benefitted
from the previous year’s lower earnings; the
result of higherinterestand exceptional
costs. Cash generated from operating
activities was £178.1m (2016: £164.1m).

Capital expenditureincreasedintheyear
to £3.7m(2016: £3.1m) as we made further
investmentsin our working environment as
wellasresidual spend on the new billing
system, Singleview.

Interest paid on financing arrangements
fellto £7.6m (2016: £12.6m) through the
combination of alower margin payable and
lower gross debt,as £40.0m (2016: £147.0m)
was repaidin the year taking gross debt to
£363.0m (2016: £403.0m). Net external debt
reducedto £355.0m (2016: £392.6m), as lower
levels of cash were held at the 2017 yearend
comparedto the previousyear. Leverage,
defined as theratio of net externaldebtto
Adjusted underlying EBITDA, decreased to
1.6x(2016: 2.2x).

During 2017, we commenced a share buyback
scheme whichsaw £102.iIminvestedinthe
repurchase of 26.3 million shares, incurring
feesof £0.5m. Afurther £26.6m was paidin
dividends, giving atotal of £128.7m

(2016: £5.0m) incashreturned to shareholders.

Dividends and returns to shareholders

The Directors are recommending a final
dividend for the year of 3.5 pence per share,
which together with the interim dividend
makes a total dividend of 5.2 pence per
share,amounting to £50.8m, in line with our
policy of distributing approximately one third
of netincome. Subject to shareholders’
approval at the Annual General Meeting
('"AGM’) on 21 September 2017, the final
dividend will be paid on 29 September 2017
toshareholders onthe register of members
atthe close of business on1September 2017.

The policy of distributing approximately
one third of netincome remains unchanged.
The capital allocation policy that sees the
majority of surplus cash, after dividends,
used to buy back shares remainsunchanged
and grossindebtednessis expected to fall
steadily through debtrepayments.

Atthe 2016 AGM, the Company'’s shareholders
generally authorised the Company to make
market purchases of up t0 99,905,974 of its
ordinary shares, subject to minimumand
maximum price restrictions. This authority will
expire at the conclusion of the 2017 AGM and
the Directorsintend to seekasimilar general
authority from shareholders at the 2017 AGM.
The programme will be ongoing and any
purchases of its shares made by the Company
under the programme will be effectedin
accordance with the Company’s general
authority torepurchase shares, Chapter12 of
the UKLA Listing Rules and relevant conditions
fortradingrestrictionsregarding time and
volume, disclosure and reporting obligations
and price conditions.

Post balance sheet event

Since the year end, the Group has acquired
Motor Trader Delivery Limited (‘MTD’) foran
undisclosed sum. MTD revenues and profits
fortheirlast financial year were less than 1% of
the revenue and profits of the Group. As at the
date of thisreport, we have notyet concluded
the accounting for this acquisition.

Appointment of auditors

Atthe 2016 AGM shareholders approved the
appointment of KPMG LLP as the Group's
new external auditors.

Sean Glithero
Chief Financial Officer
8June 2017
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Risk management

Understanding and managing our
principal risks and uncertainties

Risk management process

We recognise that effective risk managementis critical to enable

us to meet our strategic objectives and to achieve sustainable
long-term growth. A four-step process has been adopted to identify,
monitor and manage the risks to which the Group is exposed:

Atop-downand bottom-up
approachisusedtoidentify
principalrisks across the
business. Whilst the Board
has overallresponsibility for
the effectiveness of internal
controlandriskmanagement,
the detailed workis delegated
tothe Operational Leadership
Team ('OLT').
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2]

Risks and controls are analysed
and evaluated to establishthe
root causes, financialimpact
and likelihood of occurrence.
The Group categorisesrisks
intosixareas:

- economy, marketand business
environment;

- financialand compliancerisk;
- assetrisk;

- operationalrisk;

- competitiverisk; and

- product specificrisk.

(3]

The effectivenessand
adequacy of controlsinplace
are assessed. If additional
controls are required to
mitigate identifiedrisks then
these areimplemented and
responsibilities assigned.

(4]

The OLTisresponsible for
monitoring progress against
principalrisksinacontinual
process. They are assisted by
the Group'sinternalaudit
programme runin conjunction
with Deloitte.

The Boardreviews the Group's
riskregisterand assesses the
adequacy of the principal risks
identified and the mitigating
controlsand procedures
adopted.
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Ovur framework

Risks are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are captured in arisk
register, identifying the risk area, the likelihood of the risk occurring,
theimpactif it does occur and the actions being taken to manage the
risk to the desired level. The Board's role is to consider whether,

given the risk appetite of the Group, the level of riskis acceptable

withinits strategy.

Theroles and responsibilities of each level of this framework

are as follows:

External auditor

Board

Audit Committee

Operational Leadership Team

Risk register and risk review

Operational management

Risk governance and responsibilities

The Board’s responsibilities
- Overallresponsibility for risk
management.

The Audit Committee’s

responsibilities

- Assessthe scopeand
effectiveness of risk
management processes and
internal control systems.

Operational Leadership

Teamresponsibilities

- identify, assess, monitor,
manage and mitigate risks
and exploit opportunities;

- ensure appropriate internal
controlsareinplace;

- ensuretheriskregisteris
properly maintained; and

- embed risk management
asbusinessasusual.

Operational management

and internal controls

- Embed and manage internal
controlsandrisk management
day to day as part of business
asusuval.

103ipne jeusalu|

Oversight functions and

internal audit

- Aidin setting appropriate
policies, provide guidance,
adviceanddirectionon
implementation of those
policiesand monitor the first
line of defence.

Additional line of defence
- Externalauditor.
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Risk management continued

Viability statement

Inaccordance with Provision C.2.2 of the 2014 UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Board has assessed the prospects

and viability of the Group.

Assessment of prospects

Auto Traderis the UK's leading digital
automotive marketplace anditis the Group's
clear focus to maintain this position by
relentlessly focusing onimproving the process
of buying and selling vehicles. During the year
ended 31 March 2017 the Group generated a
profitbefore tax of £193.4m and was highly
cash generative with cash generated from
operations of £212.9m. Takinginto account the
Group's current positionandits principalrisks
anduncertainties as described on pages
33t035,the Directors have assessed the
Group's prospects and viability.

The business modeland strategy as set out
onpagesiOandi3areacore partof
understandingits prospects. These factors
provide a framework for therolling three-year
planwhichisdevelopedaspartof theannual
budget processandreviewed by the Board to
assessthe Group's prospects.

The Directors have adopted a three-year
timeframe for assessing both prospects
and viability, whichis considered to be
appropriate due to the following:

- itisconsistent with the Group’s rolling
three-year strategic planning process;

- the Group operates withina digital online
marketplace where the market canbe
fast moving, so looking out beyond this
timeframe yields little benefit;

- itreflectsreasonable expectationsin
terms of the reliability and accuracy of
operational forecasting models; and

-itincorporates the periodin which we
expecttorefinance our existing term loan
and thereforeincludesanassessment
onour ability torefinance.

The Group's prospects are assessed primarily
throughits strategic planning process.

This processincludesanannualreview of

the ongoingplan,led by the CEO through the
Operational Leadership Team,and all relevant
functionsareinvolved. The Board participates
fullyinthe annual process and has the task of
considering whether the plan continues to
take appropriate account of the external
environmentincluding technological, social
and macroeconomic changes.

The output of the annualreview processisa
set of operational priorities, an analysis of
therisks that could prevent the plan being
delivered,and the annual financial budget.

Detailed financial forecasts that consider
customernumbers, ARPR growth, revenue,
profit, cash flow, funding arrangements and
key financial ratios have been prepared for
the three-year period to March 2020. The
first year of the financial forecasts forms
the basis forthe Group’s 2018 budget and
issubjecttoare-forecastprocessatthe
half-year. The second and thirdyearsare
preparedindetail,and are flexed based
ontheactualresultsinyearone.

Assessment of viability

The Board’'s assessment of the Group's
prospects,asdescribedabove, hasbeen
made with reference to current market
conditionsand knownrisk factors. The
principalrisks and uncertainties facing the
Group are outlined on pages 33to 35.

Giventhe Group's financial performancein
2017 and overrecentyears, the Board
continues to believe that the key factor
which would prejudice the delivery of the
Group's financial objectivesisasevere
weakening of Auto Trader’'s marketplace
propositionand its leading market position.
This could be caused by aloss of audience
whichresultsinareductioninretailersand
the level of stocklisted on the marketplace
orbyareductioninthe number of retailers
and stockwhich could thenresultinaloss
of audience.

Using the current strategic planasabase
case, alternative forecasts have been

produced to model the effectonthe Group's

liquidity and solvency of very severe
combinations of the principal risks and
uncertainties affecting the business.

The viability modelassumed arapid
deteriorationinstockand audience over
ashort period of time. The number of
customerretailer forecourts and the ARPR
generated were significantly degradedin
the model, but expenditure in the areas of
marketing, payrolland technology were held
steady. Revenue and profitability are clearly
affectedinthisscenario, but the business
remains cash generative.
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Giventhe Group's significant free cash
flow,and the Board's ability to adjust the
discretionary share buyback programme,
thereislong-term comfortaround viability
inthe face of adverse economic or
competitive conditions.

Based ontheirassessment of prospectsand
viability above, the Directors confirm that
they have areasonable expectationthatthe
Group willbe able to continuein operation
and meetits liabilities as they fall due over
the three-year period ending March 2020.

Going concern

The Directors also considered itappropriate
to prepare the financial statementsonthe
going concern basis, as explainedin the Basis
of preparation paragraphinnote1tothe
financial statements.



Principal risks and uncertainties

Strategicreport / Governance / Financialstatements

Identify, evaluate and

manage the Group’s risks

The Board has carried out arobust assessment of the
principalrisks facing the Group, including those that would
threatenits business model, future performance, solvency
or liquidity.

Thisincluded an assessment of the likelihood and impact of
eachriskidentified, and the mitigating actions being taken.
Risk levels were modified to reflect the current view of the
relative significance of eachrisk.

The principal risks and uncertainties identified are detailed
below. Additional risks and uncertainties to the Group,
including those that are not currently known or that the
Group currently deems immaterial, may individually or
cumulatively also have a material effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations and/or financial condition.

Principal risk Description

Key mitigations

Operating priorities relevant to our risks

@ Increase consumeraudience, advert
views and use of our valuationtools

@ Promote trustand fairnessin the
marketplace

@ GrowARPRinabalanced, sustainable
way by creating value for our customers

o Extend the penetration of products
outside of our core classified proposition

© Enhanceourrelevance andvalue to
manufacturers

@ Operateasimpler, leanerand more
data-oriented business

&Y Readmore onpage13.

Operating Change

priorities

1. Economy, If the UK car market contracts this - Regular review of 0O O (6]
market and couldresultinareductioninnew and market conditions.
business psed cartr‘ans'aotions which could result — Resilient business model.
environment inareductioninthe number of retailers

orreduceretailers’ desire toadvertise
theirvehicles onthe marketplace. In
addition, acontractioninthe UK car
market could reduce manufacturers’
spendonadvertising.

Theresult of the EU Referendum has
increased the level of uncertainty
around customerand consumer
spending power.

Although thereare noshort-term
indicators of adownturn,inthe longer
termthe industry now expects new car
registrations to plateau or decline from
recentrecord highs,and so thisrisk level
has beenslightlyincreased.

In considering the potentialimplications
of the Referendumresultonthe
business the Directors considered the
time lag between the registration of new
carsandthe entry of carsinto the used
car marketplace; theresilience of our
business model; the strength of our
value proposition; and the Group's
ability toreduce costs.

- Ability toreduce costs.

- Diversificationinto other
advertiser needs.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Principal risk Description Key mitigations Operating Change

priorities

2. Increased Increased competition could impact the - Demonstration of value 0O 0 O =
competition Group's ability to grow revenue due to tocustomers.
the potential loss of audience, trade and - Regularreview of
consumer advertisers, or demand for audience data.

additional services. )
- Maintenance of

investmentin products
andinmarketing
campaigns.

- Resilient business model.

3. Brand Failure to maintain and protect the brand - Maintenance of 006000 =
ornegative publicity surrounding the investmentin marketing
Group's products or services could campaigns.
impede the Group's ability toretain or - Clearand open culture
expandits base of retailers, consumers with focus on trust and
and advertisers or could diminish transparency.

confidenceinandtheuse of the
Group'sservices.

4. New or Failure toinnovate and develop new - Monitoring of emerging O 6006 =
disruptive technologies or products, to execute trendsinautomotive and
technologies productlaunchesandimprovements otherverticals worldwide.
and changing ortoadaptto changing consumer - Monitoring of audience
consumer behaviour towards car buying or figures and consumer
behaviours ownership could lead to the Group's functionality relative
business beingadverselyimpacted. to competitors.

- Continuousinvestment
intechnology.
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Principal risk

Description

Key mitigations Operating Change

5.I1T systems

Failureinone systemasaresult of
malicious attack, our own failures or
those of third-party suppliers, could
disrupt othersand couldimpact the
availability or performance of Group
platformsand could cause reputational
damage with consumersand/or
customers.

priorities

- Adherence to strict oeeoeo =

industry standards.
- Internalteam focused on
mitigating security threat.
- Maintenance of a
business continuity plan.

6. Employee
retention

Our continued success and growthis
dependentonour ability to attract,
recruit, retain and motivate our highly
skilled workforce, with a particular focus
onspecialisttechnologicaland data
skills. Failure to do so couldresultinthe
loss of key talent.

- Long-termincentive 0060 =

plansforkey senior staff.

- Active succession
planning and career
developmentplansto
retainand develop the
nextlevel of executives.

- Strong value-led culture
embedded throughout
recruitment,induction
and training.

- Employee engagement
surveysandother
activities.

<
X

Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017 35



Corporate social responsibility

Make a
difference

Our strategy is to lead the
future of the digital automotive
marketplace in the UK. We

do this by building a digital
culture thatis values-driven,
customer-focused, data-
oriented and focused on
making the processes of both
buying and selling new and
used vehicles easier.

Overview

Our operating priorities support this strategy and
arereviewed annually. People are the Group's
mostvaluable resource and the success of the
Groupistothecreditof allitsemployees. Last
year we were focused on creatingasimpler,
leaner,and more data-oriented organisation. In
order forusto truly become more data-oriented,
we restructured our dataandinsight tribe (what
we callour functions) so data specialists are now
aligned toallareas of the business providing
more specific datato each squad (our term for
teams). To continue embedding this, nextyear’s
operating priority will be to create and maintain
consistently high-performing, data-oriented
squadsacross the whole Auto Trader business.

Our cultureis shaped by our values of
determination, reliability, curiosity, inspiration
and humility; these values often manifest
themselvesinour fast-paced and highly
customer-oriented approachinour
commitmentto being an exciting, innovative
anddigital-led company.

Corporate socialresponsibility at Auto Trader
isdriven by ourvalues and culture andis
focused on making adifference to our
employees, our community and our industry.
This, along with our diversity andinclusion
strategy,isembeddedinto how we operate
onadaily basis.

Asanemployer,itcomprisesemployee
engagement, rewards and recognition schemes,
people development, health and safety, the
environmentalimpact, sustainability and

energy efficient operations.

Asacompany, we are keen to give back to our
localcommunitiesin which we operate, as well
as supporting charities and causes thatare
close toouremployees’ hearts. We focus our
community supportin fourareas: employees’
individual charitable fundraising efforts,
promoting the two volunteering days thatare
available toallemployees, Give as You Earn,
whichis one of our Incredible Benefits,and
through the Auto Trader Community Fund
which supports grassroots projectsin
Greater Manchester.

We constantly look at ways we can make a
positive contribution to ourindustry; whether
that's developing the next generation of talent,
sharing best practice advice with our retailer
customers through masterclasses and
larger-scaleindustry events, or helping the
industryasawhole to operateinamore
transparentand therefore trusted manner.
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: Our culture
- - ——

i ' . . X We have fostered a fast-paced culture that has innovation atits
. ™ & a - heart, driven by acommitted leadership team that combines

digital experience with along average tenure at the Group.

Driven by

innovation

Our values

By adhering to the Group's core values, we believe we are making a
L positive impact not only on our consumer audience and customers, but
- " L alsoonouremployeesand the communities in which they work and live.

We got where we are today by being Our customersdependonus, sowe
determined. Andthat's how we'll must always be there with useful services
continue to succeed. that work effortlessly.

Asking questions and trying things out We need our customers more than

isthe best way to stay ahead of changes they need us. Everything we do,
inthe digital world. we should do to help them.

i . ) .
With nearly 40 years of experience, Auto Traderis a trusted
industry voice. We use that voice wisely.

NSVZ

e
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a difference

to diversity and
inclusion

Ensuring Auto Traderis adiverse and
inclusive company is extremely important to
us. We created adedicated working group
who are tasked withimplementing a strategy
to ensure diversity andinclusion becomes
partof our Company’s DNA. We are also
committed to ensuring everyone has equal
opportunities to achieve their full potential
as wellas equal payregardless of gender.
Diversity for everyone at Auto Trader means
respect forand appreciation of differences
in: gender, age, sexual orientation, disability,
race and ethnic origin, religion and faith,
marital status, social, educational
background and way of thinking. We believe
thatinclusionis a state of being valued,
respectedand supported forwhoyou are.

“Diversity is the mix.
Inclusionis getting
the mix to work
well together.”

Asaresult, all of ouremployees have
participatedinaone-day workshop
focusing on creating common understanding
of the concepts as wellas exploring their
unconscious biases and how they canimpact
theirown behaviour and relationships with
other peopleinside and outside of work. Our
approachisto educate and change attitudes;
we haveintroduced aseries of masterclasses
including Mental Health Awareness sessions
and participatedinvarious local events like
the Manchester Pride Festival, where we
receivedthe ‘Lord Mayor's Special Award’
forour enthusiastic showcase of support to
the LGBT+ community.

We have created various employee groups
(photography, book, board game, running
and movie clubs) thataim to bring people
togetherinline with our philosophy that
inclusion willbe achieved by respecting
eachother’s differences but concentrating
on finding common ground. Awomen'’s
network was launched aiming to make a
differenceinthelives of womenin our
business, the community and related
industries of technology and automotive.
We also started a family network to give
colleagues with families with young
children or carer responsibilities a way
tosupporteachother.
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Gender diversity

As at 31 March 2017 Male Female Total
Board 4 2 6
Senior managers' 11 4 15
Company? 515 305 820

We continue our participation to promote 1
Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths
('STEM') careers by supporting two schools
near our Manchester office by running
‘Code Clubs' to teach young children how
tocode. Following the success of last year,
we are expanding our participationinthe
‘Change 100’ programme, organised by
Leonard Cheshire Disability, offering three
talented students asummerinternshipin
either our Manchester or London office.

Senior managers are defined as
members of the Operational
Leadership Team (‘OLT’).

2 Companynumbersinclude Board
and OLT members.

Ourambition to become one of the most
diverse andinclusive employersis supported
by our Company policies and practices.
During our annual engagement survey, we
monitor progress related to ouremployee
make upin line with the Equality Act 2010
protected characteristics. We also
collect feedbackaround our colleagues’
attitudes and overall experience to
ensure everyone can feelthey can
be theirauthentic self at work.
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Making a difference

to our employees

To help us achieve our mission of leading the
future of the digitalautomotive workplace,
we have builtarelatively flat structured,
fast-paced, digital organisation. Our success
at Auto Traderis down to theinnovative,
talented and committed people who
contribute to the business. We put the
customer at the heart of everything we do,
constantly developing our site to ensure
consumers get a great user experience as
wellas developing products that willadd
value to ourretailers.

We value our people and their opinions.
Therefore we organise anannualemployee
conference andholdregular businessand
financialupdates throughout the year to
keep employeesinformed onthe Group’s
performance and operating priorities as well

as give them the opportunity to ask questions.

By promoting collaboration and transparency
we encourage our people to contribute to our
business and share their thoughts, concerns
andideas by attending Directors’ breakfast
sessions and company showcases.

Employee engagement
and recognition

Following the employee experience survey
lastyear, we set up working groups to: help
improve communication across the business;
launcharecognition scheme based on our
values; look at what makes our people
successful; and create and deliver a diversity
andinclusion strategy across the whole of
the business. We also hold regular ‘health
checks’ thatallow squads to sit down
togetherinanopenand secure environment
to discuss how they feelin the workplace.

Our ‘Incredible Benefits' platformallows our
employees toaccessall the benefits offered
atAuto Traderinone place, enabling themto
tailor their benefits package to meet their
own specific needs. As wellas our company
funded benefits, we offer awide range of
voluntary benefitsincluding childcare
vouchers, criticalillness and dental
insurance. Innextyear’sannual enrolment
Auto Trader extended to allemployees the
optionto cover the premium cost of either
Private Medical Insurance (employee level)
or Health Cash Plan (up to family level). The
Company willalso be offering asecond
Sharesave scheme for the benefit of Group
employees which not only recognises and
rewards employees butalso promotesa
culture of shared ownership.

THE SUNDAY TIMES

BEST COMPANIES
T0 WORK FOR

2017

Thisyear we participatedinthe ‘Sunday
Times Top 100 Best Companies to Work For’
and we achieved a two-star ‘outstanding’
rating and joined the listat number 69.

Training and development

Auto Trader continues toinvestinall of its
employees by offering blended learning
opportunities thatare aligned toits
collaborative andinclusive culture. All new
joiners to the business are given the best
possible start to their Auto Trader careers
with our three-day induction programme
thatallows them tounderstand the core
values of our business and help achieve a
one-team culture.

Everyindividualisresponsible for their
owndevelopmentand has quarterly
development conversations and personal
developmentplans (‘PDP’) with their people
leader. We appreciate that everyone has
unique needs and likes to learnin different
ways. PDPs covering both professional

and personal developmentare built with
amix of on-the-job learning, opportunities to
attend conferences, the support of mentors,
e-learning and professional qualifications.
The business utilisesinternal experts to
deliver workshops and bitesize sessions
focusedaround our Success Framework

and specialist subjects which enable both
individuals and teams to succeed and grow,
thus fostering an engaged workforce.

Company-wide learning initiatives including
diversity andinclusion ensure we deliver on
whatisimportant today and that we succeed
inthe future. We deliver core life-cycle
programmes for apprentices and graduates,
and we develop our future senior leaders
with our Leadership Development
Programme, both of which mean we have a
robust succession planin place to cultivate
talentas wellas empowerindividuals to
reach their full potential. All our managers
take partinthe Practical People Leadership
Programme to develop their skillsin
recruitment, performance management
and development of their people.
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40

Making a difference to

our communities e Auto Trader

Community Fund
We have a dedicated team of individuals from across sparted by Forever Mancheste
our business who areresponsible for driving our Make
aDifference strategy, which aims to maximise the
supportandimpact we provide to the communities
inwhichwe operate.

The Auto Trader Community Fund powered by the
Forever Manchester charity considers applications
andawards up to £1,000 to community groups and
grassroots projects across Greater Manchester. This
year, the fund has donated over £60,000 to various
causes thatbring people togetherand empower
themto create sustainable changesin their lives.

Donations from Auto Trader directly to other charities
totalled anadditional £55,000 through ‘Employee
Match Funding’ for charitiesand causes thatare
close totheirhearts. Our Give as You Earnscheme
participation has doubled, with almost 100 of our
colleagues donating to charities directly via our
payrollmonthly.

But making a differenceis notlimited to donating
monetary funds. Our colleagues have utilised one
of ourIncredible Benefits, two optional volunteering
days, to supportworthy causes across the UK.
Employees offered their time and expertskills to the
following: St Pancras Community Centre foryoung
childrenand the elderly; Survivors Manchester for
male survivors of sexual abuse; Coffee for Craig
helping the homeless; and Working Change assisting
womeninprison to gainvaluable job seeking and
interview skills. We have recently partnered with
Benefacto to help employees at our London office
toengageinestablished volunteering opportunities
intheirlocal communities.

Tosupporttheartsin Manchester we continue our
successful corporate partnership withHOME Arts
Centre and the Manchester International Festival;
bothbuilding ontherich cultural heritage of the city
byintroducing new artists and various art forms
throughout the year.
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Making a difference to our industry

Our Make a Difference strategy extends to
ensuring we support the wider technology
community as wellas help to shape the
future of the automotive industry.

To encourage the next generation of
technology talent, we took partin the
Manchester Digital Apprenticeship Scheme
and welcomed five Software Developer
apprentices. We also partnered with the
University of Manchester to offer the
opportunity for two students to work

with us on datascience projects over the
summer, as wellas offeringa PhD
scholarship to one of their students.

We continue our participation to promote
STEM subjectsand careers by supporting

two localschoolsand clubsinthe Manchester
area. Werun ‘Code Clubs' toteachyoung
childrenhow to code and this year we hosted
Manchester Girl Geeks BarCamp conference
which supports the talentand development
of femalesin STEM careers.

The technologyindustry, as wellas the
automotive sector, has asignificant
challenge with diversity and Auto Trader is
pleasedtosupportandactively create
initiatives that will attract women and
minorities to enter the industries, as diversity
isakey part of business success. Alison Ross,
our Customer Experience and Operations
Director, was named Woman of the Year at
the Womenin IT Awards this year, recognising
her contributionto these goals.

| :ﬁﬂbTrﬁdé

As acustomer focused business we are
committed to looking at ways toimprove
the process of buying and selling vehicles
forconsumers andretailers alike. We have
changed our sales approach, removing
commissions, and our packages; both of
which enable us to promote best practice
and equip our sales teams to create strong
business partnerships with our customers,
helping add value to their businesses.

Thisyear over 4,000 of our retailer customers
attended amasterclass, webinaror
conference designed to share best practice
advice, helpingthemtosucceedintoday’s
changing digitalautomotive marketplace.
These sessions allow us to demonstrate the
importance of using dataandinsight to drive
traffic to their digital forecourts. We alsorun
separate discovery days with our customers,
designed to gain their feedback on the value
they derive from Auto Trader as wellas the
products and services we offer.

Lastyear marked the ninth annual

Auto Trader Click Awards, established to
recognise digital excellence and reward the
most progressive and innovative retailers
intheindustry. Nearly100 customers from
franchise groups, independentsand
supermarkets attend this prestige event

to celebrate successand to hear the latest
insight from the Auto Trader team.

“4,000 of our retailer

customers attended a
masterclass, helping
them to succeedin
today’s changing
digital automotive
marketplace”
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a
difference to
our environment

Health and safety

We are committed to maintaining a safe
workforce for ouremployees, customers
and visitors and anyone affected by our
business’s activities. Itis therefore our policy
thatall of the Group's facilities, products and
services comply with applicable laws and
regulations governing safety and quality.

Ovur offices

Asadigitalbusiness, based between
our officesin Manchester, Londonand
Dublin, we believe our environmental
footprintis small. We actively
encourage our employees to consider
ourenvironmentalimpact. We operate
recycling systemsin the offices,
established with local authorities and
recycling schemes, and we have no
waste bins by desks which encourages
the amount of recycling we do.

Our UK offices are both graded highly
by the BREEAM standard; Kings Cross

During the year, there were no major injuries
reported under the Reporting of Injuries,
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences
Regulations.

inLondon achieved an ‘Outstanding’
rating and our Manchester office
an 'Excellent’ one.

We continue to use Fruitful Office to
deliver fruit to our offices each week.
Fruitful Office plantsonetreein
Malawi for every basket of fruit we
receive. Lastyear,1,742 trees were
planted on behalf of Auto Trader,
helping the organisation to mitigate
the effects of global warming,
deforestationand providing an
income to local communities.
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Greenhouse gas
emissions statement

Auto Traderisrequired to measure and
reportitsdirectandindirect greenhouse
gas ('GHG’') emissions by the Companies
Act 2006 (Strategic Reportand Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013.

The greenhouse gas reporting periodis
aligned to the financialreporting year.
The methodology used to calculate our
emissionsis based onthe financial
consolidationapproach, as definedinthe
Greenhouse Gas Protocol, A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard
(Revised Edition). Emission factors
used are from UK government (‘BEIS’)
conversion factor guidance current
fortheyearreported.

Thereportincludes the ‘Scope’
(combustion of fuel) inrelation to
company carsand ‘Scope 2’ (purchased
electricity and gas) emissions associated
with our offices. Although our company
cars are leased under operating leases,
we have chosentoinclude therelated
emissionsinScope1,asweareresponsible
forthese emissions. 2016 figures have
beenrestatedtoinclude the emissions
fromcompany cars.

We have chosen to presentarevenue
intensity ratio as thisisarelevantindicator
of our growthandis aligned with our
business strategy.

2017 2016

Scope: Fuel for

company cars (tCO,e)’ 491 565
Scope 2: Electricity

and gas for our offices

(tCO,e)' 437 445
Total carbon emissions
(tCO,e)' 928 1,010

Revenue (£m) 314 281.6
Carbonintensity? 3.0 3.6
Year-on-year change (17%)

1 Tonnesof carbondioxide equivalent.
2 Absolute carbonemissions divided
by revenuein millions.
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Doing the
right thing

Auto Trader believesin promoting
trustand fairnessin the marketplace
and thishasbecome part of the way
we workacross the organisation. We
promote a culture of compliance and
shared responsibility by providing
advice andinformation to keep our
employeesand customers smart, safe
andsecure. Eachyear, ouremployees
complete compliance training that
covers fraud, bribery and anti-money
laundering. We also provide guidance
and supportif employeesneedto
reportanythinguntoward or
experience any serious malpractice
orwrongdoingin our business.

Consumers trust Auto Trader to show
genuine,accurate adverts when

they search forvehicles, however
occasionally sellersinclude a
misleading price orinaccurate mileage
intheiradvert. We strive toimprove
the quality of ouradverts by allowing
consumers and retailers alike toreport
amisleading advert whilst they are
searching, which we theninvestigate
andif necessaryremove fromthe site.

Helping our retailer customers protect
theirdataand businessonlineisalso
animportant focus forus. Last year
we added an additional security login
toourretailer portal, two-factor
verification, which enhances security
andreduces therisk of hackers
accessing our customers’ information.

Everyone at Auto Traderowns andis
responsible for theirownrelationships,
whether that's with colleagues, friends,
customersorsuppliers. Whenworking
with externalcompanies we promote
the factthatitisimportant toreflect
the Auto Trader values, ensuring any
companies we work with enjoy a
trustedrelationship with us.

We also ensure employeesunderstand
and employ good practice when
sharinginformation or data, and they
dosoinacontrolled or protected
manner, or operating fairly under

the legal guidance.

Humanrights

Equal opportunity

The Group is committed to treating allits
employeesandjob applicants fairly and
equally. Itis our policy not to discriminate
based on their gender, sexual orientation,
marital or civil partner status, gender
reassignment, race, religion or belief,
colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin,
disability orage, pregnancy, or trade union
membership or the factthattheyare a
part-time worker or a fixed-term employee.
The equal opportunities policy operated
by the Group ensures allworkers have a
dutytoactinaccordance with this.

Modern Slavery Policy

We have a zero-tolerance approach to
modernslavery and are committed to
acting ethically and withintegrity inall our
business dealings and relationships, and
toimplementing and enforcing effective
systems and controls to ensure modern
slaveryis not taking place anywherein

our own business orinany of our supply
chains. We are committed to ensuring there
istransparencyinourown businessandin
ourapproachto tacklingmodernslavery
throughout our supply chains. We expect the
same high standards fromall our contractors,
suppliersand other business partners.

Employees with disabilities

We welcome allapplications foremployment
made by individuals with disabilities.
Ourdedicated Auto Trader Resourcing team
will make reasonable adjustmentsinthe
recruitment process according to the

needs of eachindividual to ensure that

they canperformtheir best during the
assessment stage.

We are dedicated to supporting employees
thatbecome disabled during their
employment with us. We recognise that
eachindividualis unique and we provide
supportand make reasonable adjustments
to ensure they continue realising their full
potentialat work.

We continue to offer training, career
developmentand promotion opportunities
by taking appropriate actionrelated to the
needs of theindividuals to allow them to
continue to have a fulfilling career with us.

The Company’s Strategicreportis set
outonpages?2to43. Approved by the
Board on 8 June 2017 and signed onits
behalf by:

Sean Glithero
Chief Financial Officer
8June 2017
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Governance overview

Committed to high standards
of corporate governance

The Board takes overall
responsibility for the Group’s
governance framework, its
culture andits values.”

Ed Williams
Chairman

lampleased tointroduce our corporate
governance statementwhichincorporates
reports fromthe Chairmen of each of our
Board Committees. Thesereports explain our
governance policies and proceduresin detail
anddescribe how we have applied the
principles of corporate governance contained
inthe UK Corporate Governance Code 2014
(the‘Code’).

Compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code

The Company complied with all provisions
setoutinthe Code for the period.

Directors

We continually review the composition

of the Board to ensure thatit has the skills,
experience and balance required for the
proper stewardship of the business. With
effectfrom1April 2017, we were pleased to
appoint Nathan Coe as an Executive Director,
intherole of Chief Operating Officer. Nathan
has been centralin shaping Auto Traderinto
one of the UK's leading digital businesses,
and the creation of the Board-levelrole of
Chief Operating Officer reflects our
confidenceinhis abilities and strong
leadership qualities.

We have three independent Non-Executive
Directors, who bring with them significant
commercialand financial expertise and are
wellplaced to support the Executive Teamin
implementing our strategy. With Nathan's
appointment, we now have three Executive
Directors and therefore we continue to
comply with the relevant provision of the
Code foratleast half of the Board to be

v independent, excluding myself.

All Directors will offer themselves for
electionorre-election by the shareholders
atthe forthcoming AGM.

\ |
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Report of the Nomination Committee page 54
Reportof the Audit Committee page 56
Directors’ remunerationreport page 60

Committees of the Board

The Board has established the following Committees and has delegated certain functions and tasks within their approved
Terms of Reference. This allows the Board to operate efficiently and focus onrelevant areas of its responsibilities.

The membership of each Committee and asummary of itsrole is below. The full Terms of Reference of each Committee
are published onthe Company’s website at about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Nomination
Committee

Disclosure

Committee

Members
- Ed Williams (Chairman)

- DavidKeens
- JillEasterbrook
- JeniMundy

Members
- David Keens (Chairman)

- JillEasterbrook
- Jeni Mundy

Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
Members
- JillEasterbrook (Chairman)
- DavidKeens
- Jeni Mundy

Members
- Trevor Mather

- SeanGlithero
- Nathan Coe
- Claire Baty

Role and Terms of Reference
Reviews the structure,

size and composition of the
Boardandits Committees,
and makes appropriate
recommendations to

Role and Terms of Reference
Reviews andreportstothe
Board onthe Group's financial
reporting, internal control,
whistleblowing, internal
auditandtheindependence

Role and Terms of Reference
Responsible forallelements
of theremuneration of the
Executive Directorsand

the Chairman, and senior
employees.

Role and Terms of Reference
Assists the Boardin
dischargingitsresponsibilities
relating to monitoring

the existence of Inside
Informationandits disclosure

the Board. and effectiveness of the tothe market.
externalauditors.
H Read more on page 54. H Read more on page 56. H Read more on page 60. A about-us.autotrader.co.uk/
investors
Board effectiveness Culture

Ourannual Board, Committee and Director
evaluation was carried outinternally this
year and confirmed to us that the Board and
Committees are operating smoothly and
that each Director continues to be effective.
Further details canbe found on page 52.
Nextyear,asrecommended by the Code,
we intend our Board evaluation to be
externally facilitated.

Diversity and inclusion

We are committed to achieving adiverse
Board and workforce,and believe in the
benefits that diversity of gender, ethnicity,
background and experience bring. We have
thisyear established a Diversity & Inclusion
working group and have added to our
Nomination Committee Terms of Reference
theresponsibility to oversee the progress
inthisimportant area. With two of our
Directors being female, we also continue
toachieve ourinternaltarget of at least
25%female Board representation.

Governanceisnotjustabout processes

and structure. A culture of transparency
and opennessisanessential part of arobust
governance framework,and underpins
everythingthat we doasaBoard, as
individual Directors,and in how our business
operates. More details on Auto Trader’s
values and culture,and how these are
embeddedinthe wider organisation, are
includedinthe CSR sectiononpage 37.

Annval General Meeting

Our Annual General Meeting will be held
at10.00amon 21 September 2017 at1Tony
Wilson Place, Fourth Floor, Manchester,
MI154FN. We expect thatall Directors will
beinattendance.

Ed Williams
Chairman
8June 2017
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Board of Directors

Ed Williams

Chairman

Jeni Mundy
Independent
Non-Executive Director

L 1
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Nathan Coe
Chief Operating Officer

Ed hasbeenaNon-Executive
Director of Auto Trader since
November 2010 and Chairman
since March 2014. He was the
founding Chief Executive of
Rightmove plc, servingin that
capacity fromNovember 2000
until hisretirement fromthe
businessin April 2013. Rightmove
plc was floated onthe London
Stock Exchange in February 2006.
Prior to Rightmove, Ed spentthe
majority of hiscareerasa
management consultant with
Accenture and McKinsey & Co. Ed
holdsan MAin Philosophy, Politics
and Economics from St Anne’s
College, Oxford.

Jeniwas appointedasaNon-
Executive Directoron1March 2016.
Jeniisthe Enterprise Product
Director for Vodafone Group andis
responsible for the strategy,
deliveryandlifecycle management
of the business product portfolio
worldwide. Jenistarted her career
as aRadio Engineer with BellSouth
inNew Zealand and has been

with Vodafone since1998. Herroles
haveincluded five years as Chief
Technology Officer (‘CTO’)in New
Zealand managingITand the
mobile network, five yearsas the
Vodafone UKCTO andayear
leading the Northern Europe Sales
team for multinational customers.
Jeniholdsan MScinElectronic
Engineering from the University

of Wales.

Nathanwas appointedto the Board
as Chief Operating Officer ('COQO’)in
April2017.Nathanjoined Auto Trader
in2007 to oversee the transition
fromamagazine businesstobeing
apuredigitalcompany. He was
responsible forlaunchinganumber
of newbusinessareas,andledthe
Company’'searlyentryand
subsequent growthinmobile and
online. Forthe pasttwoyears,
Nathanhasbeenthejoint
Operations Director, sharing
responsibility for the day-to-day
operations of the business. Prior to
joining Auto Trader, Nathan was at
Telstra, Australia’s leading
telecommunications company,
where he led Mergersand
Acquisitionsand Corporate
Development forits mediaand
internet businesses. He was
previouslyaconsultantat PwC,
having graduated fromthe
University of Sydneywitha

B.Com. (Hons).
November 2010. March 2016. April 2017.
Yes. Yes. N/A.
IdealistaS.A. None. None.

Nomination (Chairman).
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David Keens
Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director

SeanGlithero
Chief Financial Officer
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JillEasterbrook
Independent
Non-Executive Director

Trevor Mather
Chief Executive Officer

David was appointedasa
Non-Executive Director on

1May 2015. David was previously
Group Finance Director of NEXT plc
(1991to 2015) andits Group
Treasurer (1986 t01991). Previous
management experience includes
nineyearsinthe UKand overseas
operations of multinational food
manufacturer Nabisco (1977 to
1986) and prior to that sevenyears
inthe accountancy profession.
Davidisamember of the
Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and of

the Association of Corporate
Treasurers.

After qualifying asachartered
accountantwith Ernst & Young,
working within both the auditand
corporate finance departments,
Seanworkedinthe telecoms
industry and for the FTSE100
company BPB plc, before joining
Auto Trader as Group Financial
Controllerin2006. He has since
held various group and divisional
rolesinthe business, helping the
businessreshape through
acquisitionsand disposals as well
asaiding the transition online
throughrestructuringand
realignment programmes. Sean
was appointed Chief Financial
Officerin September 2012 and has
led two major re-financings and
also hasresponsibility for
customer security, legal services
and procurement. Sean holds a
BA (Hons)in Accountancy from
Exeter University.

Jillwas appointedasaNon-
Executive Director to the Board
on1July 2015. Jillis currently the
CEO of Boden, following her
appointmentin February 2017. Jill
was previously amember of the
executive committee at TescoPLC
where she wasmostrecently the
Group Business Transformation
Director. She joined Tescoin 2001
and heldavariety of strategicand
operationalleadershiproles. She
hasrunanumber of multichannel
businesseswithin Tescoincluding
UKandROIClothingandthe
Developing Businesses division.
Jillstarted her careerat Marks

& Spencerinbuyingand
merchandisingand also spenttime
asamanagement consultant with
Cap GeminiErnst & Young.

Trevorjoined Auto Trader as Chief
Executive Officerin June 2013.
Previously, Trevor was President
and CEO of ThoughtWorks, a
globalIT and software consulting
company. Trevor joined
ThoughtWorksin 2001, to kick-start
the UK branch of the companyand
thentookresponsibility forall
international operations before
becoming CEQin2007. He helped
oversee the business grow froma
300 personNorth American
company toa?2,200 person global
business with operationsin 29
citiesaround the world witha
particular personal focus on
helping businesses become truly
digital. Before histime at
ThoughtWorks, Trevor spent
almost10yearsat Andersen
Consulting (now Accenture)
focusing on e-business solutions.
Trevor holdsan MEngin
Aeronautics and Astronautics
from Southampton University.

May 2015. September 2012. July 2015. June 2013.
Yes. N/A. Yes. N/A.
JSainsburyplc. None. Boden Limited. None.

Audit (Chairman),
Nomination, Remuneration.

Disclosure Committee.

Remuneration (Chairman),
Nomination, Audit.

Disclosure Committee.
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The dates of appointment shown are the dates on which the Directorswerefirstapp’bihtedtotheBoaﬁd - . s N
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Corporate governance statement

This corporate governance statement explains key
features of the Company’s governance framework and
how it complies with the UK Corporate Governance Code
publishedin 2014 by the Financial Reporting Council.

Introduction

This statementalsoincludesitems
required by the Listing Rules and the
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules ('DTRs’). The UK Corporate
Governance Code (the ‘Code’) is
available onthe Financial Reporting
Councilwebsite at frc.org.uk

Compliance with
the 2014 Code

The Company has compliedin full with
all provisions of the 2014 Corporate
Governance Code during the year.

Thisreportis structured to follow each
of the sections of the Code:

Leadership

Effectiveness

@
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c
@
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Accountability

Remuneration

Relations with shareholders

Board and Committee meetings

and attendance

Board meetings are planned around the key
eventsinthe corporate calendarincluding
the half-yearly and finalresults and the
Annual General Meeting (AGM’),and a
strategy meetingis held eachyear.

Inmonths where there is no Board meeting,
afinancialupdate callisheld at which the
Board discusses results with operational
management. Thereisalso anannual day of
“dual calling” where Directorsaccompany the
sales force ontheirsite visits to customers.

During the year, the Chairmanand Non-
Executive Directors have met without
Executive Directors present. Inaddition,
the Non-Executive Directors have met
without the Chairman and the Executive
Directors present.

Board responsibilities

The Board has adopted aformal schedule

of mattersreserved foritsapprovaland has
delegated other specificresponsibilities to
itsCommittees. The schedule sets out key
aspects of the affairs of the Company which
the Board doesnotdelegate. Itisreviewed at
leastannually,andis published on our website
atabout-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Refer to page 49 forasummary
of these matters.

Insurance

The Company maintains appropriate
insurance to cover Directors’ and officers’
liability foritself andits subsidiaries and such
insurance was in force for the whole of the
financial year ending 31 March 2017.

:LETL Audit Remuneration Nomination
Number of scheduled meetings held 8 3 4 1
Director
Ed Williams 8 n/a n/a 1
Trevor Mather 8 n/a n/a n/a
SeanGlithero 8 n/a n/a n/a
David Keens 8 4 1
JillEasterbrook 8 4 1
JeniMundy 8 4 1
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Boardroles

Toensure acleardivision of responsibility at
the head of the Company, the positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officerare
separate and not held by the same person.

The division of roles and responsibilities
between the Chairmanand the Chief
Executive Officeris setoutinwritingand
has beenapproved by the Board.

David Keensis the Senior Independent
Director.

- Leadership and governance of the Board.

- Creating and managing constructive
relationships between the Executive
and Non-Executive Directors.

- Ensuring ongoing and effective
communicationbetween the Board
andits key shareholders.

- Settingthe Board's agendaand ensuring that
adequate time is available for discussions.

- Ensuring the Board receives sufficient,
pertinent, timely and clearinformation.

- Responsible for the day-to-day operations
andresults of the Group.

- Developing the Group's objectivesand
strategy and successful execution of strategy.

- Responsible for the effective and ongoing
communication with shareholders.

- Delegatesauthority forthe day-to-day
management of the business to the Operational
Leadership Team (comprising the Executive
Directorsand senior management) who have
responsibility for allareas of the business.

Non-Executive Directors Senior Independent Director Company Secretary

- Scrutinise and monitor the performance
of management.

- Constructively challenge the Executive
Directors.

- Monitor theintegrity of financialinformation,
financial controls and systems of risk
management.

Board responsibilities

Providing
leadership
for the

long-term
success of
the Group

- Actsasasounding board for the Chairman.

- Available toshareholdersif they have
concerns which the normalchannels through
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer or
other Directors have failed toresolve.

- Meetswiththe other Non-Executive Directors
without Executive Directors present.

- Leads theannualevaluation of the Chairman'’s
performance.

- Available toall Directorsto provide advice
andassistance.

- Responsible for providing governance advice.

- Ensures compliance with the Board's
procedures,and with applicable rules
andregulations.

- Actsassecretary tothe Board
andallCommittees.

Overallauthority for the management and conduct of the Group’s business,

strategy, objectives and development.

Monitoring delivery of business strategy and objectives; responsibility forany

necessary corrective action.

Oversight of operationsincluding effectiveness of systems of internal controls

and risk management.

Approval of changes to the capital, corporate and/or management structure

of the Group.

Approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements, communications
with shareholders and the wider investment community.

Approval of the dividend policy.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Board composition, balance

and independence

At the date of thisreport, the Board consists
of the Non-Executive Chairman, three
Independent Non-Executive Directors

and three Executive Directors.

All of the Non-Executive Directors (David
Keens, JillEasterbrook and Jeni Mundy) are
consideredtobeindependentincharacter
andjudgement,and free of any business or
otherrelationship which could materially
influence theirjudgement. Ed Williams

was considered to beindependenton
appointment. The Chairman’s fees and the
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are disclosed
onpages 62 and 67,and theyreceived no
additionalremuneration from the Company
during the year.

Therefore, at 31 March 2017 and to the date
of thisreport, the Companyis compliant
with the Code provision that atleast half
the Board, excluding the Chairman, should
comprise Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

The Boardandits Committees have an
appropriate balance of skills, experience
and knowledge of the Group to enable them
todischarge theirrespective dutiesand
responsibilities effectivelyinaccordance
withmain principle B.1of the Code.
Biographies of allmembers of the Board
appearonpages46and47.

Appointments to the Board

The Board has established a Nomination
Committee, chaired by Ed Williams with all
othermembers comprising Independent
Non-Executive Directors,and one of the
main responsibilities of this Committeeis
toidentifyand nominate candidates for
appointmentas Directors to the Board.
The work of the Committeeis described
onpages54and55.

Non-Executive appointments to the Board
are foraninitial termof up to three years.
Non-Executive Directors are typically
expectedtoserve two three-yearterms,
although the Board may invite the Director
to serve foranadditional period.

Letters of appointment

The Chairmanand the Non-Executive
Directors have letters of appointment which
are available forinspectionat theregistered
office of the Company during normalbusiness
hoursandatthe place of the AGM from at
least15minutes before and untilthe end of the
meeting. These letters set out the expected
time commitment from each Director.

External directorships

Any externalappointments or other
significant commitments of the Directors
require the priorapproval of the Board. None
of the Executive Directors have any external
directorships as at the date of thisreport.
The Boardis comfortable that external
appointments of the Chairmanand the
Non-Executive Directorsdo notimpact
onthetime thatany Director devotes

tothe Company.

Inaccordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association, the Board has a formal
systemin place for Directorstodeclare
conflicts of interests and for such conflicts
tobe considered forauthorisation.

Induction and development

Allnewly appointed Directorsreceive an
induction briefing on their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of a publicly
quoted company. Thereisaformalinduction
programme to ensure that newly appointed
Directors familiarise themselves with the
Group anditsactivities, either through
reading, meetings with the relevantmember
of senior managementor through sessions
inthe Board meetings.

Each Board meeting contains a presentation
from senior managementonone of the
operating priorities for the year. Specific
business-related presentations are given

to the Board by senior managementand
externaladvisors whenappropriate - refer
tothe table of activities on page 51.

All Directors are offered the opportunity to
meet with customers and take partinsales
callstounderstand the business froma
customer’s perspective. Thereisaformal
day of “dual calling” where Board members
accompany the sales force on their visits to
customers. All Directors now receive a
weekly newsletter from our sales and service
teamtoensure theyare keptinformed of the
latest customer dialogue and sentiment.
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The Boardasawholeisupdated, asnecessary,
inlight of any governance developments as
and whenthey occur,and thereisanannual
Legaland Regulatory Update provided as

part of the Board meeting. All Directors are
required to complete ourannualcompliance
training modules covering anti-bribery,
anti-money laundering, data protection
andinformation security.

As part of the Board evaluation, the Chairman
meets with each Director to discuss any
individual training and development needs.

Information and support available

to Directors

Fulland timely access toallrelevant
informationis givento the Board. For Board
meetings, this consists of aformalagenda,
minutes of previous meetingsand a
comprehensive set of papersincluding
regular operationaland financialreports,
provided to Directorsinatimely manner
inadvance of meetings.

Allof the Directors have therightto have
their oppositionto, orconcerns over,

any Board decision noted in the minutes.
Directors are entitled to take independent
professionaladvice atthe Company’s
expenseinthe furtherance of their duties,
where considered necessary.

All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary,
Claire Baty.

Election of Directors

The Board canappointany personto be
aDirector, eithertofillavacancyorasan
addition to the existing Board. Any Director
so appointed by the Board shall hold office
only untilthe next AGM and shallthen be
eligible for election by the shareholders.
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Board and Committee activities in 2017

Strateg Operational

Finan

Shareholders

and governance

Regularreportsreceived

2016
September

2017

April

June

July

October

November

February

March

Monthly operational Monthly financial Monthly report Regular feedback from Approval of material
report with key reportwithresults, of people changes, investor meetings. contracts.
achievements and KPIs, outturnand recruitment, Quarterly shareholder Governance and
issuesinthe month, externalview. resourcing needs analysis. regulatory updates.
view of the industry, Quarterly share and employee
competitorsand buyback programme. engagement.
customers.
2017 operating priority: Annualreview of
Increase consumer governance
audience, advertviews framework.
and ugeofour Business continuity
valuations tools. planning and disaster
recovery.
2017 operating priority: Approval of Approval targets for Approval of Group's Review and approval

Extend the penetration
of products outside of
our core classified
proposition.

AnnualReportand
Preliminary Results
Announcement.

female representation
onBoard.

Bonusapproval
for2016 PSP targets
and grants.

capitalstructure and
the dividend policy.
Approval of final
dividend.

of Groupriskregister.

Review and approval
of viability statement.

2017 operating priority:
Promote trustand
fairnessinthe
marketplace.

Review of ourselling
pillar productsand
upcoming changes.

Reviewed feedback
fromanalystsand
investors fromresults
roadshow.

Market Abuse
Regulationand
implementation.

2017 operating priority:
Enhanceourrelevance
andvalue to
manufacturers.

Singleview sales
system project.

IT strategy, systems
and cyberrisks.

Reviewed feedback
frominvestorsand
proxy advisory
agenciesinadvance
of Annual General
Meeting.

Review and approval
of Modern Slavery
Statement.

Strategy off-site
including customer
visits.

Pricing and product
strategy for 2018.

2017 operating priority:
Operateasimpler,
leanerand more
data-oriented
business.

Diversityandinclusion.
Succession planning.

Appointment of
Company Secretary.

Review of new car
opportunities.

Approval of half-yearly
report.

Approval of interim
dividend.

Review and approval
of Groupriskregister.

2018 Operating plan.

Review of tax
compliance.

Legalandregulatory
update.

Review of internal
control framework.

2018 operating priority:
Grow ARPRina
balanced, sustainable
way by creating value
forour customers.

Acquisition of Motor
Trade Delivery Limited

2018 Financial plan.

Salaryreviews and
bonustargets for2018.

Launch of SAYE plan
for2018.

Appointment of

Nathan Coe as Director.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Board evaluation and effectiveness
Aformalinternal evaluation of the Board, Committees and individual Directors has taken place during the year.

Thisincluded the completion of a detailed questionnaire by each of the Board Directors, covering the Board's role, knowledge and skills,
Board meetings and information flows, Board composition, succession planning, risk management, relations with shareholders and each
of the Board Committees.

Theresults were reviewed by the Chairman and the principal findings were fed back to the Boardin March 2017. The review also covered
the progress made onthe pointsraisedin the previous year’s evaluation.

Actions arising from the 2016 review

Reviewing the level of information The format of the monthly operational and financial Board report has been changed to make it
presentedinBoard papers. clearerand more concise. Board papers are reviewed to ensure that they are free fromjargon
andfocusonthekeyissues.

Increasing exposure between Board Pre-meetings are arranged before Board meetings for the Non-Executive Directors to meet with
members and operationalmanagement members of senior management, either as part of ongoinginduction and education, or to focus
outside Board meetings. onaparticular project or product launch.

Formalising theinductionprocessand  Aformalinduction programme has been designed, comprising reading of materials

settingin place formal Board training and meetings with various Key Management. Where areas are not already covered as part

anddevelopment plans. of the Board meetings, separate sessions are arranged. Regular updates have been provided
tothe Board whererelevant (e.g. Market Abuse Directive, Modern Slavery Act, Gender Pay Gap)
and thereisannual face-to-face training with our corporate lawyers. All Directors are required
tocomplete ourannualcompliance training programme. In addition, a wealth of informationis
made available onthe Board Portaland through our online Learning and Knowledge Hubs.

Continuing toincrease the Board's Updatesare provided to the Board after each key investor eventincluding conferences
understanding of the views of major and theinvestorroadshows at half-year and year end. The Chairman has attended meetings
shareholders. withinvestorsand at Group conferences.

Actions arising from the 2017 review

Reviewing the format of Board papers Astandard formathas beenagreed for presentations from senior management so that the

and meetings to ensure therightbalance sessions canfocus more ondiscussionand debate.
between presentation and discussion.

Increasinginformal contact between More opportunities forinformal contact have beenarranged between Board members, and also
Board members outside of Board the Non-Executive Directors continue to meet regularly with members of senior management.
meetings.

Deepening the Board’s understanding The Board already takes partinanannual day of dual calling, visiting some of our customers with

of the views and perspective of our amember of the sales team. This year, the Board will also be offered the opportunity to take part

customers. incalllistening, and now receive a weekly roundup of customer views and issues from our sales
andservice team.

Continuing to enhance the Board’s Updates will continue to be provided to the Board after each key investor event.
understanding of the views of major All Directors will be invited to the analyst presentations and group sales meetings.
shareholders.

Inaddition, anassessment of the Chairman’s performance was carried out, led by the Senior Independent Director, and feedback
was provided to himindividually.

Overall, theresults showed that the Board and its Committees continue to operate well,and that each individual Director continues
to make an effective contribution.

Inthe next financialyear, we intend our Board evaluation to be externally facilitated.
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(&

The Board has established an Audit
Committee, chaired by David Keens and
comprised entirely of Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Committee
has defined Terms of Reference which
include assisting the Board in discharging
many of itsresponsibilities withrespect
to financialand businessreporting, risk
managementand internalcontrol. The
work of the Committeeis described on
pages 56to59.

Financial and business reporting

Assisted by the Audit Committee, the Board
has carried out areview of the 2017 Annual
Reportand considers that, inits opinion, the
reportis fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary
forshareholderstoassess the Company’s
performance, business modeland strategy.
Refer to the Audit Committee Reporton
page 58 for details of the review process.

See pagesi10to13inthe Strategicreport
foradescription of our business model,
strategy and operating priorities.

See page 32 for the Board’s statement on
going concernand the viability statement.

Risk management and internal control
The Company does not have a separate
Risk Committee; the Boardis collectively
responsible for determining the nature
and extent of the principalrisksitis willing
totakeinachievingits strategic objectives.
The processesinplace forassessment,
management and monitoring of risks are
describedinaseparate sectionon

pages 30to 31.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility
for establishing and maintaining the Group's
system of risk managementandinternal
controlsanditreceivesregularreports from
managementidentifying, evaluating and
managing the risks within the business.

The system of internal controlsis designed
tomanage, rather than eliminate, the risk

of failure to achieve business objectives
and can provide only reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material
misstatementor loss. The Audit Committee
reviews the system of internal controls
throughreportsreceived from management,
along with others frominternaland external
auditors. Management continues to focus
onhow internal controls andrisk
management can be furtherembedded

into the operations of the businessand on
how to deal with areas of improvement
which come to the attention of
managementand the Board.

The Board, assisted by the Audit Committee,
has carried outareview of the effectiveness
of the system of risk managementand
internalcontrols during the year ended

31 March 2017 and for the period up to

the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements containedin the
AnnualReport. The review covered all
material controls, including financial,
operationaland compliance controls and
risk management systems. The Board
considered the weaknesses identified and
reviewed the developing actions, plans and
programmes thatit considered necessary.
The Board confirms that no significant
weaknesses or failings were identified
asaresult of thereview of effectiveness.

D

The Board has established aRemuneration
Committee, chaired by Jill Easterbrookand
comprised entirely of Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The work of the
Committeeis described on pages 60 to 68.

meetings or calls withinvestors
and analysts during the year.

The Board hasacomprehensive investor
relations programme to ensure that existing
and potentialinvestorsunderstand the
Company'’s strategy and performance.

As part of this programme, the Executive
Directors give formal presentations to
investorsandanalysts onthe half-yearand
full-yearresultsin Novemberand June
respectively. These updates are posted on
the Group's website and are available to all
shareholders. Inresponse to feedback from
analysts andinvestors, the half-yearresults
inNovember 2016 were audiocastand the
full-yearresultsin June 2017 were webcast
for the firsttime.

Theresults presentations are followed
by formalinvestorroadshowsinthe UK
andoverseas.

Allannouncements, investor presentations
and the Annual Reportare onthe Company's
website about-us.autotrader.co.uk/
investors

Thereisalsoanongoing programme of
attendance at conferences, one-to-one
meetings and group meetings with
institutionalinvestors, fund managersand
analysts. These meetings cover awiderange
ofissues, including strategy, performance
and governance, but careis exercised to
ensure thatany price-sensitive information
isreleased toallshareholders, institutional
and private, atthe same time. Meetings
whichrelate to governance are attended by
the Chairman oranother Non-Executive
Directoras appropriate. Private shareholders
are encouragedto give feedbackand
communicate with the Board through
ir@autotrader.co.uk

The Boardreceivesregularreportsonissues
relating to share price, trading activity and
movementsininstitutionalinvestor
shareholdings. The Boardis also provided
with currentanalyst opinions, forecastsand
feedback fromitsjoint corporate brokers,
Bank of America, Merrill Lynch and Numis,
ontheviews of institutionalinvestors on
anon-attributed and attributed basis, and
ontheviews of analysts fromits Finance

PR agency, Powerscourt. Any major
shareholders’ concerns are communicated
to the Board by the Executive Directors.

The Chairman, the Senior Independent
Directorand other Non-Executive Directors
are available to meet with shareholders and
arrangements can be made throughthe
Company Secretary.

Annval General Meeting

The AGM of the Company will take place
at10.00 amon Thursday 21 September 2017
atthe Company'sregistered office at1

Tony Wilson Place, Fourth Floor, Manchester,
MI54FN. Allshareholders have the
opportunity to attend and vote, in person

or by proxy,atthe AGM.

Allproxyvotesreceivedinrespect of each
resolutionatthe AGM are counted and the
balance forand against,and any votes
withheld, areindicated. At the meetingitself,
voting onallthe proposedresolutionsis
conductedona pollratherthanashow of
hands, inline withrecommended best
practice. The Chairman, the Chair of each of
the Committees and the Executive Directors
are presentat the AGM and available to
answer shareholders’ questions.

The Notice of the AGM canbe foundina
booklet whichis being mailed outatthe
same time as thisReport. The Notice of the
AGM sets out the business of the meeting
and an explanatory note onallresolutions.
Separate resolutionsare proposedin
respect of each substantive issue. Results
of resolutions proposed at the AGM will
be published onthe Company’s website
about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors
following the AGM.
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Report of the Nomination Committee

Ed Williams

- Composed of the Chairman and three Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

- Atleast one meeting held peryear.

- Meetings are attended by the Chief Executive Officer
and otherrelevant attendees by invitation.

- Formoreinformation onthe Committee’s Terms of Reference
visit about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors

One meeting was held during the year:

Meetings attended/ Percentage of
totalmeetingsheld meetingsattended

Ed Williams (Chairman) 11 100%

David Keens 11 100%

JillEasterbrook 11 100%

Jeni Mundy 1/1 100%
Our progress in 2017

- Successionplanning review.
- Focus ondiversity andinclusion.
- Appointment of Nathan Coe as Chief Operating Officer.

In 2018 we will

- Continue to monitor Board and senior management succession
inthe context of the Company’s long-term strategy.

- Support management and the Board in promoting diversity
insenior management and across the workforce.
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Dear shareholders,

lam pleased to present the Report of the Nomination Committee
for 2017, which has been ayear of consolidation following the
appointment of three new Independent Non-Executive
Directorsinthe previousyear.

Role of the Committee

The Committee reviews the structure, size and composition

of the Boardandits Committees, and makes appropriate
recommendations to the Board for appointments to the Board.

How the Committee operates

Allmembers of the Committee areindependent Non-Executive
Directors. The Chairman of the Board chairs all meetings of the
Committee unlesstheyrelate to the appointment of his
successor; forthese meetings, the Senior Independent Director
(‘SID")isinvited to take the Chair unless the SID isin contention
fortherole.

The Committee meets atleastannually,and onanad hoc basis as
required throughout the year. Only members of the Committee
have theright to attend meetings, however, the Chief Executive
Officerattendsforallor part of meetings so that the Committee
canunderstand hisviews, particularly on key talent within

the business.

Succession planning

Effective succession planningis critical to the long-term success
of the Company. The continual review of succession plans
continuedintheyeartoensure thatarrangementsareinplace
fororderly successioninthe context of the Group's strategy

for the Board and senior management.

The Boardrecognises the importance of developing our
employeesinrelation to succession planning for senior
positions. The succession planning review included areview
of the developmentplans for the senior management team
inordertorecognise and grow our internal talent.

Appointment of Executive Director

During the year, the Committee recommended the appointment
of Nathan Coe as an Executive Director. Allmembers of the
Board met with Nathanand were pleased to welcome himto

the Board with effect from1April 2017.

Policy on appointments to the Board

The mostimportant priority of the Committee has been,and
will continue to be, ensuring that members of the Board should
collectively possess the broad range of skills, expertise and
industry knowledge, and business and other experience
necessary for the effective oversight of the Group.

Appointments are made on merit, against objective criteria
and withdueregard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The Committee takes account of avariety of factors before
recommending any new appointments to the Board, including
relevant skills to performthe role, experience, knowledge
anddiversity, including gender diversity.

In 2016, we adopted a target of female representation on our
Board of 25%,and we continue to meet this target, as two of
ourseven Board members are female.
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Diversity and inclusion

The Committee has always had aresponsibility to take account of
diversity when considering the size, structure and composition of the
Board and the senior management team. However, recognising the
importance of thisissue, the Committee’s Terms of Reference now
include the responsibility to oversee diversity and inclusion across
the whole Group.

We acknowledge the recommendations of the Hampton-Alexander
Review. The Boardis committed to strengthening female
representation atsenior management level but formal targets have
not beenset-instead, through our Diversity & Inclusion Working
Group, we have sought to take positive steps to address the
underlying challenges facing allunder-represented groups within
ourworkforce and senior management teams, including differences
of gender, race, ethnic origin, age, disability and sexual orientation.
We are proud of the progress made during the year by our Diversity &
Inclusion Working Group, whichis covered in more detail on page 38.

Independence and re-election to the Board

Inaccordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all
Directorswillretire and offer themselves for election orre-election
tothe Board.

The Directors who have beenin post throughout the year have been
subject to aformal evaluation process,and both the Committee and
the Board are satisfied thatall Directors continue to be effectivein,
and demonstrate commitment to, their respective roles on the Board
and that each makes a valuable contribution to the leadership of

the Company.

The Board therefore recommends that shareholders approve the
resolutions to be proposed at the 2017 AGM relating to the election
andre-election of the Directors.

I will be available at the AGM to answer any questions on the work
of the Committee.

Ed Williams
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
8June 2017

Board composition’
As at 31 March 2017

@ Chairman
Independent Non-Executive Directors
® Executive Directors

Board diversity'
As at 31 March 2017

® Male
Female

Board tenure'
As at 31 March 2017

® Over5years
2-5years
® Upto2years

1 Nathan Coe was appointed, as an Executive Director,
with effect from 1 April 2017.
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Report of the Audit Committee

David Keens

Chairman of the

- Composed of three Independent Non-Executive Directors.

- David Keensis considered by the Board to have recentand
relevant experience. Other members have a wide range of
business experience.

- At least three meetings held peryear.

- Meetings are attended by the Chief Financial Officer,
Chief Executive Officer, internal auditors and external auditors
byinvitation.

- Formoreinformation onthe Committee’s Terms of Reference
visit about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Three meetings were held during the year:

Meetings attended/ Percentage of
totalmeetingsheld meetingsattended

David Keens (Chairman) /5 100%
JillEasterbrook 3/3 100%
Jeni Mundy 3/3 100%

Our progress in 2017
- Transition from PwC to KPMG as new external auditor.

- Review of change from 52 week to annual accounting,
andthe prospective change from Underlying operating profit
to Operating profit measure.

- Continued focus on key areas of judgement, risk and controls.
- Review of effectiveness of internal audit function.

In 2018 we will
- Agree with KPMG any changes for their 2018 audit.

- Review theintegration and performance of Motor Trade
Delivery,acquiredin April 2017.

- Consider theimpact on the Company of political and
regulatory changes.
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Dear shareholders,
lam pleased tointroduce the Audit Committee Report for 2017.

The Committee operatesunder defined Terms of Reference
andassists the Board in discharging many of its responsibilities
over monitoring the integrity of the Group's financial reporting;
the effectiveness of theinternal controland risk management
framework; the internalaudit function; and theindependence
and effectiveness of the externalauditors. The Committeeis
comprised entirely of Independent Non-Executive Directors,
allof whom have significant commercialand operating
experienceinconsumeranddigital businesses; and | fulfil the
requirement foraCommittee member to have recentand
relevant financial experience.

The Committee met three times during the year, arranged around
our externalreporting and audit cycle, and with attendance

by the CFO and other members of managementand with
representation from KPMG and Deloitte. The Committee
reviewed significantaccounting matters withanappropriate
level of challenge and debate. We believe that the information
inthis AnnualReport clearly explains progress against our
strategic and operating objectives andis fair, balanced

and understandable.

The Committee plays akeyrolein ensuring that we continue

to have arobustinternal controland risk management process.
Ourinternalaudit functionis outsourced to Deloitte LLP, who
continue to provide us with specialist expertise in delivering
arisk-basedrolling review programme.

During the year, the Audit Quality Review team of the Financial
Reporting Council ('FRC’) reviewed PwC's (our outgoing auditors)
audit of the Group’s March 2016 financial statements. The FRC
have given us a copy of theirreport, which has beenreviewed by
the Committee and discussed with PwC. The report does not
give the Committee any concerns over the quality, objectivity
orindependence of the audit.

Atthe 2016 AGM, shareholders approved the Board's
recommendation to appoint KPMG LLP as our new external
auditors. The transition has gone smoothly and we have already
developed an effective working relationship with the KPMG
team, which we look forward to continuingin future years.

David Keens
Chairman of the Audit Committee
8 June 2017
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Financialreporting

The primary role of the Committee inrelation to financialreportingis to review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements, including
annualand half-yearreports, resultannouncements, dividend proposals and any other formalannouncement relating to the Group's financial

performance.

The Committee assessed the quality and appropriateness of the accounting principles and policies adopted, and whether management had
made appropriate underlying estimates and judgements. In doing so, the Committee reviewed managementreportsinrespect of the main

financialreportingissues and judgements made, together with reports prepared by the external auditor on the 2017 half-year statementand

2017 AnnualReport.

The Committee, with assistance frommanagement and KPMG, identified areas of financial statementriskand judgement as described below.

Description of focus area

Audit Committee action

Revenue recognition

Revenuerecognition for the Group’srevenue streamsisnotcomplex. The Committee was satisfied with the explanations provided

However, this was anarea of focus for KPMG due to the large volume

of transactions and asrevenueis the most material figure in the
financial statements.

KPMG carried out areview of our revenue recognition policies;
performed detailed analytical procedures; tested completeness
and existence of revenue by matching salesinformation fromsales
systems to the financial systems and to cash receipts; reviewed
customer contracts; tested revenue cut-off and assessment of
deferredand accrued revenue; and carried out other computer
assisted audittechniques.

and conclusionsreached.

Adjusted profit measure

The Group uses an Adjusted Profit Measure, Underlying operating
profit, to allow betterinterpretation of the underlying performance
of the business. Underlying operating profitis defined as Operating
profit before exceptionalitems and share-based payments
(including nationalinsurance). Also, due to the additional five days
of tradingin the currentyear (arising from the change from 52-week
toannualaccounting) the Group has published adjusted growth
figuresinorderto presentalike-for-like measure, for the reasons
notedinthe Financialreview, on page 26.

The Committee considered the appropriateness of including
alternative profitand growth measuresin the light of the ESMA
guidelines, and was satisfied that the items were appropriately
adjusted for; that the non-GAAP measures were not givenundue
prominence; and the disclosures, reconciliations and definitions
provided were presentedinaclear manner. The Committee also
reviewed and concurred with the proposalto move toan
unadjusted Operating profit measure commencingin 2018.

Share-based payments

The Company hasanumber of share-based paymentarrangements,
accounted forunder IFRS 2, which requires the use of valuation
models and certainassumptionsin determining their fair value at
grantandintherecognition of chargesandassuchisanarea of
judgement for management.

The Committee reviewed the assumptions made by management,
particularlyinrelation to profit forecasts that determine the
proportion of shares granted under the PSP and DABP. The
Committee reviewed the comments within KPMG's reportinto the
adequacy of the charge and satisfied itself that the share-based
paymentaccountingisappropriate andinaccordance with
accounting standards.

Going concern and viability statement

The Directors must satisfy themselves as to the Group's viability
and confirm that they have areasonable expectation that it will
continue to operate and meetits liabilities as they falldue. The
period over which the Directors have determinedis appropriate to
assessthe prospects of the Group has been defined as three years.
Inaddition, the Directors must consider if the going concern
assumptionis appropriate.

The Committee reviewed management'’s schedules supporting
the going concernassessmentand viability statements. These
included the Group medium-term planand cash flow forecasts
forthe period to March 2020. The Committee discussed with
management the appropriateness of the three-year period,and
discussedthe correlation with the Group's principal risks and
uncertainties asdisclosed on pages 33to 35. The feasibility of
mitigating actions and the potential speed of implementationto
achieve any flexibility required was discussed. The Committee
evaluated the conclusions over going concernand viability and the
proposed disclosuresin the financial statements and satisfieditself
that the financial statements appropriately reflect the conclusions.
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Report of the Audit Committee continued

Fair, balanced and understandable

At therequest of the Board, the Committee has reviewed the content of the 2017 Annual Report and considered whether, takenas awhole, in
itsopinionitis fair,balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position,
performance, business modeland strategy. The Committee was provided with an early draft of the Annual Report, and provided feedbackon
areas where further clarity orinformation was required in order to provide a complete picture of the Group’s performance. The final draft was
then presented to the Audit Committee for review before being recommended for approval by the Board. When formingits opinion, the
Committeereflected on the discussion held during the year and reports received from the external auditor and considered the following
main areas:

Isthereport fair? - Isacomplete picture presented and has any sensitive material been omitted that should have beenincluded?
- Are key messages in the narrative aligned with the KPIs and are they reflected in the financial reporting?

- Aretherevenue streams describedin the narrative consistent with those used for financialreportingin the
financial statements?

Isthereport - Isthereagood level of consistency betweenthe reportsin the frontand the reportingin the back of the AnnualReport?
balanced?

- Doyou getthe same messages whenreading the front end and the backendindependently?

- Isthereanappropriate balance between statutory and adjusted measures and are any adjustments explained clearly
with appropriate prominence?

- Are the key judgementsreferred tointhe narrative reporting and significantissues reportedin the Report of the
Audit Committee consistent with disclosures of key estimation uncertainties and critical judgements set outin
the financial statements?

- How do these compare with the risks that KPMG are planning to include in theirreport?

Isthereport - Isthere a clearand cohesive framework for the Annual Report?

?
understandable? - Aretheimportant messages highlighted and appropriately themed throughout the document?

- Isthereportwritteninaccessible language and are the messages clearly drawn out?

Following the Committee’s review, the Directors confirm that, in their opinion, the 2017 Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
andunderstandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance,
business modeland strategy.

Risk management and internal control
The Committee’s responsibilitiesinclude areview of the risk management systems and internal controls to ensure that they remain effective
and thatanyidentified weaknesses are properly dealt with. The Committee:

- reviews annually the effectiveness of the Group’sinternal control framework;

- receivesreports fromthe Group's outsourcedinternalaudit functionand ensures recommendations are implemented where appropriate; and

- reviewsreports from the externalauditors on anyissuesidentified in the course of their work, including any internal controlreports received
oncontrolweaknesses, and ensures that thereisanappropriate response from management.

The Group hasinternal controls andrisk management systemsinplace inrelation toits financialreporting processes and preparation of
consolidated accounts. These systemsinclude policies and procedures to ensure that adequate accounting records are maintained and
transactions are recorded accurately and fairly to permit the preparation of financial statementsinaccordance with IFRS. The internal control
systemsinclude the elements described below.

Element Approach and basis for assurance
Risk Whilstrisk managementis amatter for the Board asawhole, the day to day management of the Group's key risks resides
management with the Operational Leadership Team (‘OLT’) and isdocumented in arisk register. Areview and update of the risk

registerisundertaken twice ayearandreviewed by the Board. The management of identified risks is delegated to the
OLT,andregular updates are given to Executive Management at quarterly Governance meetings.

Financ.ial Group consolidationis performed onamonthly basis withamonth end pack produced thatincludes anincome

reporting statement, Balance sheet, Cash flow statement and detailed analysis. The month end packalsoincludes KPIs and these
arereviewed eachmonth by the OLT and the Board. Results are compared against the Plan or Reforecast and narrative
provided by management to explain significant variances.

Budgeting?nd AnannualPlanis produced and monthly results are reported against this. A half-year Reforecastis produced. The Plan

reforecasting and the Reforecastare prepared using abottomup approach,informed by a high-level assessment of market and
economic conditions. Reviews are performed by the OLT and the Board whilst the Planis also compared to the top
down Medium Term Plan (‘MTP’) as asense check. The Planis approved by the OLT and Board, and the Reforecast is
approved by the OLT and reported to the Board.

Delega'tion of Adocumented structure of delegated authorities and approval for transactionsis maintained beyond the Board Terms
authority and of Reference. Thisisreviewed regularly by management to ensure it remains appropriate for the business.
approvallimits

Segregation Procedures are defined to segregate duties over significant transactions, including procurement, payments to

of duties suppliers, payrolland discounts/refunds. Key reconciliations are prepared and reviewed on a monthly basis to ensure

accuratereporting.
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Internal audit

Deloitte has beenappointed as the Group’s outsourced internal audit function. They are accountable to the Audit Committee anduse a
risk-based approach to provide independent assurance over the adequacy and effectiveness of the control environment. The internal audit
work plan for 2017 was approved by the Audit Committee and covers a broad range of core financialand operational processes and controls,
focusing onspecificrisk areas, including:

- Businessrules and leakage. - System provisioning.

- ITresilience, disasterrecovery and scalability. - Dataprotectionand leakage review.

- New businessand churn. - Internal fraud risk.

Managementactions thatare recommended following the audits are tracked to completion and reviewed by the Committee to ensure that
identified risks are mitigated appropriately.

The Committee met withrepresentatives from Deloitte without management presentand with management without representatives of
Deloitte present. There were noissues of note raised during these meetings.

Whistleblowing

Awhistleblowing policy has beenadopted whichincludes access to a whistleblowing telephone service run by anindependent organisation,
allowing employees toraise concerns on an entirely confidential basis. The Committee receivesregularreports onthe use of the service,

any significantreports that have beenreceived, the investigations carried out and any actions arising as aresult.

External auditors

One of the Committee’srolesis to oversee the relationship with the externalauditor, KPMG, and to evaluate the effectiveness of the service
provided. KPMG was appointed as the Group's external auditor at the 2016 AGM, and this has beenayear of transition. The Committee has
concludedthat the external auditoris effective, based onreview and discussion of audit scope and plans, materiality assessments, review
of auditor'sreports and feedback from management on the effectiveness of the audit process.

During the year the Committee reviewed KPMG's findings of the external auditorinrespect of theirreview of the half-yearly report for the
six-month period ending 25 September 2016, and inrespect of the audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017. The
Committee met with representatives from KPMG without management presentand with management without representatives of KPMG present,
toensure thatthere were noissuesintherelationship between managementand the externalauditor whichit should address. There were none.

The Committee hasreviewed, and is satisfied with, the independence of KPMG as the external auditor.

Non-audit services provided by the external auditors

The externalauditors are primarily engaged to carry out statutory audit work. There may be other services where the external auditors are
consideredto be the most suitable supplier by reference to their skills and experience. Itis the Group's practice thatit will seek quotes from
several firms, which mayinclude KPMG, before engagements for non-audit projects are awarded. Contracts are awarded based onindividual
merits. Apolicyisin place for the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor, to ensure that the provision of such services does not
impair the external auditor’'sindependence or objectivity. This policy has beenreviewed effective 1 April 2017 and changes have been made in
accordance with the EU Audit Reform.

Non-audit service

Policy

Audit-related services directly related to the audit
Forexample, the review of interim financial statements,
compliance certificatesandreports toregulators.

Acceptable non-audit services

Including but not limited to: work related to mergers, acquisitions,
disposals, joint ventures or circulars; benchmarking services; and
corporate governance advice.

Consideredto be approved by the Committee up to alevel of
£100,000 for eachindividualengagement,and to amaximum
aggregateinany financial year of the higher of £200,000and 70%
of the average audit fees paid to the audit firminthe last three
consecutiveyears.

Any engagement of the externalauditor to provide permitted
services over theselimitsis subject to the specificapprovalin
advance by the Audit Committee.

Prohibited services

Inline with the EU Audit Reform, services where the auditor’s
objectivity and independence may be compromised by the threat
of self-interest, self-review, management, advocacy, familiarity or
intimidation - for example, tax services,accounting services, internal
auditservices, valuation services and financial systems consultancy.

Prohibited, with the exception of certain services which are subject
to derogationif certain conditions are met,inaccordance with the
EU Audit Reform.

Referto about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors for full details of the policy. During the year, KPMG charged the Group £30,000 for audit-related

assurance services.

The Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies Market Investigation (Mandatory Use of Competitive Tender Processes and Audit

Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014 — statement of compliance

Asacompetitive tender was carried outin 2016, and KPMG LLP appointed as statutory auditorsin the current financial year, we have complied
with therequirement that the externalaudit contractis tendered withinthe 10 years prescribed by EU and UK legislation and the Code's
recommendation. The Company confirms that it complied with the provisions of the Competition and Markets Authority's Order for the

financial year under review.

David Keens
Chairman of the Audit Committee
8 June 2017
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Directors’ remuneration report

Annval statement by the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee

Jill Easterbroc
Chaitn ofi

- Composed of three Independent Non-Executive Directors.
- Atleast two meetings held peryear.

- Meetings are attended by the Chief Executive Officerand other
relevant attendees by invitation - nopersonis presentduring
any discussion relating to their own remuneration.

- Formoreinformation onthe Committee’s Terms of Reference
visit about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Four meetings were held during the year:

Meetings attended/ Percentage of
totalmeetingsheld meetingsattended

JillEasterbrook (Chairman) 4/4 100%
David Keens 4/4 100%
Jeni Mundy 4/4 100%

Our progress in 2017

- Confirming the performance targets to apply to the 2016
Performance Share Plan ('PSP’) awards and granting the awards.

- Considering the executive pay environment and confirming
the currentremuneration policy remains appropriate for 2018.

- Reviewing the choice of performance metrics for 2018
variable pay schemes.

- Assessing the achievement of targets for the 2016 annual
bonus, setting the targets for the 2017 annual bonus and
reviewing progress against these targets.

- Consideration of the approach to equity participation across
the workforce and approving the launch of a SAYE in 2018.

- Considering the impact of changes to pension taxrules.

- Approving the 2016 Directors’ remunerationreportand
considering the approach toreporting on the current
financial year.

In 2018 we will

- Review executive pay arrangements and, if changes
are deemed necessary, consult with major shareholders
ontheremuneration policy.

- Confirmtargets forand grant the 2017 PSP awards.

- Continue to monitor the executive pay environment,
governance developments and market practice.
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Dear shareholders,

lampleased to present, onbehalf of the Board, the Report
of the Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) inrespect
of theyearended 31 March 2017.

Ourremunerationarrangements are governed by our
remuneration policy. This policy received binding shareholder
approval, for thefirsttime, at the AGM on17 September 2015 and
cameinto effectonthatdate. The Committee remains satisfied
thatthe policy continues to support the Company’s strategy:
toretainand motivate our management team, to drive strong
returns for our shareholders and to promote the long-term
success of the Company. Shareholders will not therefore be
asked toapprove any revisions to the policy at the 2017 AGM.
However, itis the Committee’'sintention toundertake athorough
review of the policy during the course of 2018, including
consultation with our major shareholders, ahead of seeking
approvalforpolicy renewalat the 2018 AGM.

Objectives of the remuneration policy and link to strategy
The policy approved by shareholdersin September 2015 has
the following aims:

- toattract, retain and motivate high calibre senior management,
structured so as to focus onthe delivery of the Company’s
strategic and business objectivesinorderto promoteits
long-termsuccess;

- the targets for performance related pay to be closely linked
tothe Company’s main strategic objectives;

- tobesimpleindesign, transparentand understandable both
to participants and shareholders;

- toachieve adegree of consistencyinterms of approach across
the senior management populationto the extentappropriate;

- base paytobesethaving had dueregard to appropriate
mid-market benchmarks with incentive pay structured so as to
provide the opportunity to earn above mid-market benchmarks
forthe delivery of challenging performance targets; and

- topromote an ownership culture, via the encouragement of
widespread equity ownership across the workforce.

The policy supports our strategy through using performance
conditions for our variable pay schemes that targetimprovements
inourkey performance indicatorsand growthin shareholder value
(i.e. Operating profit, audience growth, new productinitiatives and
totalshareholderreturns). Incentive payis subject to withholding
andrecovery provisions, the annualbonus arrangementsinclude
anelement of compulsory bonus deferral,and robust share
ownership guidelines apply. The Committee considers thatthese
features promote significantalignment with shareholders and
provide anappropriate level of risk mitigation.

Performance and reward in 2017

As describedinthe Strategicreportonpages 2to 43,2017 has
beenanotherstrong year, with revenue growth of 9% and
Underlying operating profit growth of 19%. Good progress has
beenmade acrossall of the Group’s operating priorities. The
level of performance achievedresultedinapay-outinrespect
of the financial element of the annual bonus of c.64% of the
maximum, and an overall pay-out of 51.8% of the maximum.
Furtherinformation onthe actual targets set,and our
performance against themis provided on pages 62 and 63.

Asthe firstawards were granted under the Company'’s
Performance Share Planin June 2015, there were no outstanding
awards eligible to vestinrespect of long-term performancein
theyearunderreview.
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Approach for2018

The Committee will continue to operate within the remuneration
policy approved by shareholdersin September 2015. The key
highlights of how we intend to apply this for 2018 are:

- with effect from1April 2017, the salaries of the Executive Directors
wereincreased by 2% whichis below the average increase across
the wider workforce;

- theannualbonus plan will operate similarly to last year, with a
maximum of 150% of salary for the Chief Executive Officerand130%
of salary for the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operating
Officer. 75% of the maximum bonus opportunity willbe based ona
financial metric with the remaining 25% being based on two strategic
metrics. As explainedin the Financial review on page 28, from 2018
and beyond, the business will report against the statutory measure
of Operating profit rather than the previous measure of Underlying
operating profit,and so this willbe adopted as the measure for the
financial element of the bonus targets. Half of any bonus awarded
willbe deferredinto shares fora period of twoyears;

awards willbe madein June 2017 under the PSP at 200% of salary

for Trevor Matherand150% for Sean Glithero and Nathan Coe.
Awards will also be made to other senior colleagues at this time.

The performance conditions applying to these awards will be based
onthe Company’s Cumulative Operating profit (relevant to 75%

of awards) and Total Shareholder Return (‘'TSR’) (relevant to 25% of
awards) measured over a period of three years. Atwo-year
post-vesting holding period will also apply; and

- share ownership guidelines of 200% of salary for the CEO and 150%
of salary forthe CFO and the COO will continue to operate.

Changes to the Board

Nathan Coe was promoted to the Board as Chief Operating Officer
on1April 2017. His salary onjoining the Board was set at £350,000
and hisremuneration arrangements are fully consistent with our
remuneration policy. Details of hisremuneration arrangements can
be found onpages 65and 66.

Feedback from shareholders

The Remuneration Committee is committed to ensuring that we are
responsive to developmentsinbest practice,and will proactively
consider theimplementation of our policy in the light of this. Should
you have any feedbackin thisregard, | shall be available at the AGM
toanswer any specific questions that you may have.

Ihope thatyou will be supportive of the AGM resolution to approve
our Annual Reporton Remuneration.

JillEasterbrook
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
8 June 2017

Thisreportsets outdetails of the remuneration policy for Executive
and Non-Executive Directors, describes how the remuneration
policyisimplemented and discloses the amounts paidinthe year
ended 31 March 2017.

Thisremunerationreportisin three parts. The Annual Statement
by the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee setsoutan
overview of the year just ended. Thisis followed by the Annual
ReportonRemuneration (set out on pages 62 to 68), which provides
greater detailon the amounts paid and the implementation of the
policyin2017andalsoincludes a highlevelsummary of how the
remuneration policyisintended to be implementedin the 2018
financialyear. Finally,as an Appendix,a summary version of the
remuneration policy, which was approved by shareholders at

the AGM on17 September 2015, is set out on pages 69 to 72.

The full policy can be viewed on our website at
about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors

The Annual Statement by the Chairman, together with the
AnnualReporton Remuneration, will be subjecttoanadvisory
vote atthe AGM on 21 September 2017.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Annvual Report on Remuneration

Single figure of remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2017 (Audited)
The table below shows the aggregate emoluments earned by the Directors of the Company in the year ended 31 March 2017.

Salary Long-term

£'000 andfees Benefits'  Annualbonus incentives? Pension® Total
Executive

Trevor Mather 536 1 416 - 27 980
Sean Glithero 296 1 199 - 15 511
Non-Executive

Ed Williams 173 - - - - 173
David Keens* 72 - - - - 72
JillEasterbrook® 63 - - - - 63
Jeni Mundy? 54 - - - - 54

The following table shows the aggregate emoluments earnedin the year ended 27 March 2016.

Salary Long-term

£'000 andfees Benefits’ Annual bonus incentives? Pension? Total
Executive

Trevor Mather 525 1 787 - 26 1,339
Sean Glithero 290 1 377 - 14 682
Non-Executive

Ed Williams 170 - - - - 170
David Keens* 65 - - - - 65
JillEasterbrook® 46 - - - - 46
JeniMundy® 4 - - - - 4
Victor A. Perry Il 49 - - - - 49
Tom Hall"® - - - - - -

Nick Hartman”® - - - - - -

Benefitsinclude: private healthcare, life assurance and income protectioninsurance.

There were no long-termincentives eligible to vestinthe yearunderreview.

Employer’s pension contributions of 5% of salary were paidin respect of Executive Directors. No Directors have a beneficialinterestin a defined benefit scheme.
Appointed1May 2015.

Appointed1July 2015.

Appointed1March 2016.

Resigned 7 March 2016.

Waived entitlementtoreceive a fee.

0N N

Annval bonus for the year ended 31 March 2017
The targets applying to the annualbonus for the year ended 31 March 2017 were as follows:

@ Underlying operating profit
Level of audience share
® Penetration of Managing products

The bonustargets for the financial year, as set by the Committee at the start of the year, together with performance against these, and
resulting pay-outs are set outindetail opposite. The level of performance achieved resultedin an overall pay-out of 51.8% of the maximum,
being £416,184 (77.7% out of amaximum 150%) for Trevor Mather and £199,240 (67.34% out of a maximum of 130% ) for Sean Glithero.

Furtherinformation onthe actual targets set,and our performance against themis provided opposite.
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Underlying operating profit (75% of total bonus)

Required/ Pay-outunderthat
actualresult element
£m %

195 20% (of the 75%)

205 50% (of the 75%)

213 100% (of the 75%)

207.2  63.7%of the 75%

Level of achievement

Threshold requirement
Targetrequirement
Stretchrequirement
Actual achieved

Level of audience share (12.5% of total bonus)
Audience share targets were based onthe number of monthsinthe year that the Company’s audience share (based on the share of minutes

comparedto competitors’ websites) wasin excess of 78% (representing the Company’s targeted level). Targets were set as follows, with a
graduated scale operating between the threshold and stretch requirements:

Pay-out of audience
share element

0% (of the 12.5%)
100% (of the 12.5%)
0% of the 12.5%

Number of months where average audience share of minutes
is more than 78% for that month

Threshold requirement: Less than 6 months
Stretchrequirement: 10 months orabove
Actual achieved: Less than 6 out of 12 months more than78%

The level of audience share was determined by reference to comScore MMX. Due to changesin the comScore methodology and updates
to the configuration of competitors’ websites, the threshold target was not achieved and no bonus will be paid to the Executive Directors

inrespectof thiselement of the bonus.

Penetration of Managing products (12.5% of total bonus)
This part of the bonusrelated to the number of retailer forecourts adopting Managing products.

Targets were setas follows, with a graduated scale operating between the threshold and stretch requirements:

Pay-out of
Managing element

0% (of the 12.5%)

Number of retailer forecourts introducing Managing Pillar

Threshold requirement: Less than 2,400

Stretchrequirement: 3,000 or more 100% (of the 12.5%)
32% of the 12.5%

Actual achieved - 2,490

Inlight of the Company's performance during the year under review, the Committee was comfortable with the overall level of annualbonus
pay-out.

Half of the bonus earned will be payable in shares, deferred for two years under the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan ('DABP’). The deferred shares
will vest subject to continued employment, but there are no further performance targets.

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (Audited)
Awardsunder the DABP were granted as nilcost options on17 June 2016 inrespect of the annual bonus for the year to 27 March 2016.
The awards willnormally be eligible to vest two years from grant based on continuous employment. The awards were as follows:

Number of Face value

DABP shares Proportion of of awards at

Executive Director awarded annval bonus grantdate'
Trevor Mather 101,221 50% £393,750
48 457 50% £188,500

SeanGlithero

1 Facevalue calculated based on the closing mid-market price on the day before grant date.

Performance Share Plan (Audited)
Awardsunder the PSP were granted as nil cost options on17 June 2016 and will normally be eligible to vest three years from grant based
onperformance over the three years to 31 March 2019 and continuous employment. The awards were as follows:

Number Face/maximum % award vesting
of DABP shares Multiple  value of awards atthreshold Performance
Executive Director awarded of salary atgrant date’ (% maximum) period?
Trevor Mather 275,321 200% £1,071,000 25% Concludes
Sean Glithero 114,061 150% £443,700 25%  31March 2019

1 Face/maximum value was calculated based on the closing mid-market price on the day before grant date.
2 Theperformance period for the Cumulative Underlying operating profit targetand for the TSR targetruns for three years from1April 2016.
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The performance conditions applying to the 2016 PSP awards are set out below. Each element will be assessed independently of the other:

Percentage

of total

Metric PSP awards
Cumulative Underlying operating profit 75%
Relative Total Shareholder Return 25%

Cumulative Underlying operating profit

Cumulative Underlying operating profitis defined as the sum of the Group’s Underlying operating profit result over the three consecutive
financial years ending on 31 March 2019. The actual range of Cumulative Underlying operating profit targets for the three years ended
31March 2019 thatare applicable to the awards are as follows:

Cumulative Underlying operating Proportion of awards subject to Cumulative
profit performance achieved Underlying operating profit that vest
Below £660m 0%
Equalto £660m (threshold target) 25%
Equaltoorabove £710m (stretch target) 100%

Pro-ratabetweenthe threshold and stretch performance targets

Relative Total Shareholder Return
Performanceis measured over the three financial years ending 31 March 2019. The TSR of the Company willbe compared to that of the
FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts) over the performance period,and will vest according to the following schedule:

TSR performance relative to the FTSE 250 Index Proportion of awards
(excluding investment trusts) subject to TSR that vest
Below Index TSR 0%
EqualtoIndex TSR (threshold target) 25%
EqualtoIndex TSR plus 25% orabove (stretchtarget) 100%

Pro-rata between the threshold and stretch performance targets

Performance graph and CEO remuneration table

The graph belowillustrates the Company’s TSR performance relative to the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts)
of whichthe Companyisaconstituent, from the start of conditional share dealing on18 March 2015. The graph shows performance of a
hypothetical £100 invested andits performance over that period.

Total Shareholder Return
180
160
140

oA O DO D
O O O O O O

Total Shareholder Return (£)
(rebased)

o

18 March 2015 27 March 2016 31 March 2017
® Auto Trader Group plc FTSE 250 (excluding Investment Trusts)
Source: Datastream (Thomson Reuters).

CEO remuneration
The table below sets out the CEQ's single figure of total remuneration together with the percentage of maximum annualbonus awarded
overthe same period.

2017 2016 2015
CEO totalremuneration (£'000) 980 1,339 20
Annualbonus (% of maximum) 51.8% 100% n/a?
Share award vesting (% of maximum) n/a® n/a® n/a®

1 Fromthe date of Admissionin March 2015.
2 Private Companywhenbonus planimplementedin 2015.
3 Noawardswereeligible tovestinrespect of long-term performance endingin 2015,2016 or 2017.
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Percentage increase in the remuneration of the CEO
The table below shows the averageincrease ineach component between the CEO and the average employee inthe Company from
2016 to 2017.

Change inremuneration levels

Average
Component CEO employee
Salary 2% 3%
Benefits 0% 0%
Bonus (47%) (42%)

Relative importance of the spend on pay

The following table shows the Group's actual spend on pay for allemployees compared to distributions to shareholders. The average number
of employees hasalso beenincluded for context. Revenue and Underlying operating profit have also been disclosed as these are two key
measures of Group performance.

2017 2016 %
£m £m change

Employee costs
(seenote 5to the consolidated financial statements) 53.6 53.6 (1)%'
Average number of employees
(seenote 5to the consolidated financial statements) 820 854 (4)%
Revenue
(see Consolidatedincome statement) 311.4 281.6 9%
Underlying operating profit
(see page 28 for definitionand reconciliation) 207.2 171.3 19%'
Dividends paid and proposed
(seenote 24 to the consolidated financial statements) 50.8 15.0 239%

1 Adjusted fortheimpact of the additional daysin 2017 - refer to the Financial review on page 26 for more detail.

Implementation of the remuneration policy for the year ending 31 March 2018
This section sets out how the Committee intends toimplement the remuneration policy in the year ending 31t March 2018.

Base salary

The Executive Directors’ salaries were reviewed in early 2017 with the changes becoming effective from1April 2017, and will next be reviewed
inearly 2018, with any changes becoming effective from1April 2018. The following table sets out the new salaries effective 1 April 2017
(financial year 2018) compared to those which appliedin financial year 2017:

Percentage

2018 2017 change

Trevor Mather £546,210 £535,500 +2%
SeanGlithero £301,716 £295,800 +2%
Nathan Coe? £350,000 - n/a

2 Appointedtothe Boardon1April2017.

For context, theincreaseinthe salary budget for 2018 for the overallemployee group was set at 4% (inclusive of meritand promotionalincreases).

Pension and benefits

Executive Directors will continue to receive a pension contribution at the rate of 5% of base salary (in line with pensions offered to other
employees), payable into the Company pension scheme or as a cash alternative. Ancillary benefits are provided in the form of private medical
cover, lifeassurance andincome protectioninsurance.
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Annualbonus
Asdescribedin the Policy Report, Trevor Mather’s maximum bonus opportunity is capped at150% of base salary whilst Sean Glithero's
and Nathan Coe’'sis capped at130% of base salary. Half of any bonus earned will be payable in shares, deferred for two years under the DABP.

The metrics and their weightings for the year ending 31 March 2018 are:

Metric Percentage of total bonus
Operating profit 75%
Strategic objectives 25%

As explainedin the Financialreview on page 28, from 2018 and beyond, the business will report against the statutory measure of Operating
profitrather than the previous measure of Underlying operating profit. Inrelation to the financial target, a challenging graduated scale will
operate setaround the 2018 business plan. For achievement of the threshold target, 20% of this part of the bonus opportunity becomes
payable with the maximum becoming payable for outperforming the 2018 business plan.

The strategic targetsrelate to two key performance objectives for 2018. These are growthin full page advert views during the year which will
determine up to12.5% of the total bonus opportunity,and new productinitiatives (the adoption of Managing products) which will determine up
t012.5% of the totalbonus opportunity. A financialunderpin willapply to the strategic targets, such that no bonus will be payable if Operating
profitdoes not exceed the £203.im achievedin 2017.

The specific targets themselves are commercially sensitive, but the Committee intends to disclose themin the next Annual Reporton
Remuneration provided they are no longer considered to be commercially sensitive at that time.

Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’)

The Committee’s policyis to award Executive Directors annual PSP awards. The Committee intends to grantawards in the current financial
yearto Trevor Mather at a level of 200% of salary and to Sean Glithero and Nathan Coe at alevel of 150% of salary. The performance metrics
and their weightings for the award remain unchanged (save from the change of financial metric to Operating profit) and are set out below:

Metric Percentage of total PSP awards
Cumulative Operating profit 75%
Relative Total Shareholder Return 25%

Eachelement willbe assessed independently of the other as detailed below.

Cumulative operating profit
Cumulative operating profit will be defined as the sum of the Group’s Operating profit result over the three consecutive financial years ending
on 31 March 2020.

The Committee considered anumber of factors when setting the range of targetsincludinginternal planning, market expectations for the
future performance of the Company and market practice in terms of target setting across the constituents of the FTSE 250 Index. The actual
range of targetsis commercially sensitive, but the Committee intends to disclose themin the next Annual Report on Remuneration provided
theyare nolonger considered to be commercially sensitive at that time. The awards will vest according to the following schedule:

Cumulative operating profit Proportion of awards subject to
performance achieved Cumulative operating profit that vest
Below threshold 0%
Equalto threshold 25%
Stretchorabove 100%

Pro-ratabetweenthe threshold and stretch performance targets

Relative TSR
The performance condition applying to one quarter of PSP awards willbe based on TSR performance over the three financial years ending
31March 2020.

The TSR of the Company will be compared to that of the FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment trusts) over the performance period,
and will vest according to the following schedule:

TSR performance relative to the FTSE 250 Index Proportion of awards
(excluding investment trusts) subject to TSR that vest
Below Index TSR 0%
EqualtoIndex TSR (threshold target) 25%
EqualtoIndex TSR plus 25% or above (stretch target) 100%

Pro-rata between threshold and stretch performance targets

Consistent with market practice, athree-month averaging period will normally apply for the purposes of calculating the startand end values
forthe purposes of measuring TSR.

Executive Directors will ordinarily be required to retain their net of tax number of vested shares delivered under the PSP for at least two years
fromthe point of vesting.
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Fees for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The fees werereviewed in early 2017 and were increased by 2% with effect from1April 2017. The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ fees
willnext bereviewedin early 2018, with any increase becoming effective from1April 2018.

Asummary of current feesis shown below:

Percentage
2018 2017 change
Base fees
Chairman £176,868 £173,400 +2%
Non-Executive Director £54,621 £53,550 +2%
Additional fees
SeniorIndependent Director £9364 £9180 +2%
Audit Committee Chairman £9,364 £9180 +2%
Remuneration Committee Chairman £9,364 £9180 +2%

Thereis no additional fee payable to the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

AllNon-Executive Directors have letters of appointment with the Company foraninitial period of three years, subject to annual re-appointment
atthe AGM. Appointmentis terminable on sixmonths’ written notice. The appointment letters for the Non-Executive Directors provide that no
compensationis payable upon termination of employment. Letters of appointment are available forinspection at the Company’sregistered
office. Details of the appointment terms of the Non-Executive Directors are as follows:

Start of current term Expiry of current term

Ed Williams 6 March 2015 5 March 2018
David Keens 1May 2015 30 April 2018
JillEasterbrook 1July 2015 30 June 2018
Jeni Mundy 1March 2016 28 February 2019

Directors’ shareholding and share interests (Audited)

The Group has adopted shareholding guidelinesin order to encourage Executive Directors to maintain a shareholdingin the Company
equivalentinvalue to 200% of salary for Trevor Mather and 150% of salary for Sean Glithero and Nathan Coe. If an Executive does not meet the
guideline, they willbe expected toretain atleast half of the net shares vesting under the Company’s discretionary share-based employee
incentive schemes until the guideline is met. All Executive Directors currently hold wellin excess of this limit.

The table below sets out the number of shares held or potentially held by Directors (including their connected persons where relevant)
asat 31 March 2017.

Numberof Numberof awards

awards held held under the Target Percentage of

underthe PSP DABP conditional shareholding salary heldin

Benefically conditionalon oncontinued guideline(asa  sharesasat31

Director owned shares’ performance employment % of salary) March 20172

Executive Directors

Trevor Mather 12,000,000 722129 101,221 200% 8,791%

SeanGlithero 2,997,581 299167 48457 150% 3.975%
Non-Executive Directors

Ed Williams 6,875,444 - - N/A N/A

JillEasterbrook - - - N/A N/A

David Keens 25,000 - - N/A N/A

JeniMundy - - - N/A N/A

1 Includes shares owned by connected persons. Only beneficially owned shares count towards the shareholding guideline.
2 Basedonmid-market price at close of business on 31 March 2017.

Trevor Mather

No. of shares/ Shares/ Shares/ No. of shares/ Market
options at options options Options optionsat Date priceon
28 March grantedin lapsedin exercisedin 31March Date of fromwhich Exercise exercise
Scheme 2016 theyear theyear theyear 2017 grant exercisable Expirydate price date
PSP 446,808 - - - 446,808 19/6/2015 19/6/2018 19/6/2025 Nil n/a
PSP - 275,321 - - 275,321 17/6/2016 17/6/2019  17/6/2026 Nil n/a
DABP - 101,221 - - 101,221 17/6/2016 17/6/2018  17/6/2026 Nil n/a

Total 446,808 376,542 - - 823,350
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Sean Glithero

No. of shares/ Shares/ Shares/ No. of shares/ Market
options at options options Options options at Date priceon
28 March grantedin lapsedin exercisedin 31March Date of fromwhich Exercise exercise
Scheme 2016 theyear theyear theyear 2017 grant exercisable Expirydate price date
PSP 185,106 - - - 185106 19/6/2015 19/6/2018  19/6/2025 Nil n/a
PSP - 114,061 - - 114,061 17/6/2016 17/6/2019  17/6/2026 Nil n/a
DABP - 48457 - - 48457 17/6/2016 17/6/2018  17/6/2026 Nil n/a

Total 185,106 162,518 - - 347,624

External directorships
None of the Executive Directors hold any external directorships.

Membership of the Committee

JillEasterbrookis the Committee Chairman, andits other members are David Keens and Jeni Mundy. Refer to page 60 for further details
of the membership of the Committee, the Terms of Reference, the meetings held and activities during the year.

External advisors

New Bridge Street (‘NBS’), part of Aon plc, providesindependent advice to,and was appointed by, the Committee. NBS was selected by the
Committee due toits extensive experience of advising listed companies with respect toremuneration. The Committee seeks advice relating
totheremuneration of Executive Directors, the wider senior management population and Non-Executive Directors’ fees from NBS. NBS does
not provide any other services to the Company. Aon currently provides actuarial, valuation and administration servicesinrelationto the
defined benefit pension scheme of the Company.

The Committeeis satisfied that the advice received by NBSinrelation to remuneration matters during the year was objective and
independent. Terms of engagement are available onrequest from the Company Secretary. NBSisamember of the Remuneration Consultants
Group and abides by the Remuneration Consultants Group Code of Conduct, whichrequiresits advice to be objective andimpartial. The fees
payable to NBS for providing advice inrelation to executive remuneration over the financial year under review were approximately £41,500,
charged onatime-spent basis.

Statement of shareholder voting
Atthe AGMin 2015 we sought binding shareholder approval for the Remuneration Policy Report. At the AGM in September 2016, we sought
advisory shareholder approval for the AnnualReport on Remuneration.

The voting outcomes were as follows:

2015 AGM: Remuneration policy (binding)

Number of votes cast % of votes cast
Votes for 797281130 98.20
Votes against 14,637,737 1.80
Total votes cast (excluding abstentions) 811,918,867
Abstentions 7139,212

2016 AGM: Annual Report on Remuneration (advisory)

Number of votes cast % of votes cast
Votes for 779,343,590 98.66
Votes against 10,617,266 1.34
Total votes cast (excluding abstentions) 789960,856
Abstentions 53,529

Approval
This Directors’ remunerationreport has been approved by the Board of Directors.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

JillEasterbrook
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
8June 2017
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Appendix: Summary remuneration policy

This part of the Directors’ remunerationreport sets out asummary of the fullremuneration policy report that was approved by shareholders

inSeptember 2015.

Forthe fullreport, pleaserefer to the 2015 Directors’ remuneration report available on our website at about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors

Policy overview

On Admissionin March 2015,anew remuneration policy was adopted by the Committee. This policyis structured so as to ensure that the main
elements of remuneration are linked to Company strategy, in line with best practice and aligned with shareholders’ interests.

The policyis designed to reward Executive Directors by offering competitive remuneration packages, which are prudently constructed,
sufficiently stretching and linked to long-term profitability. In promoting these objectives, the policy aims to be simple in design, transparent

andstructured so as toadhere to the principles of good corporate governance and appropriate risk management.

Afurtheraim of the remuneration policyis to encourage a culture of share ownership by colleagues throughout the Company, and in support
of this we have putin place botha SIP,under which anaward of free shares to commemorate the Listing was granted, and an SAYE scheme.

The remuneration policy for Executive Directors
Our policyisdesigned to offer competitive, but not excessive, remuneration structured so that there is a significant weighting towards
performance-based elements. Asignificant proportion of our variable pay is deliveredin shares with deferraland holding periods being
mandatory,and with appropriate recovery and withholding provisionsin place to safeguard against overpaymentsin the event of certain
negative events occurring. The table below provides a full summary of the policy elements for the Executive Directors.

Purpose and Operationand Maximum Performance
Element link to strategy performance conditions opportunity assessment
Salary Torecruit Salaries are normally reviewed annually Thereisno prescribed The Committee reviews
andreward with changes effective from1April. maximum. However, the the salaries of Executive
executives of sal . il ider: Committeeis guided by Directors eachyear taking
high calibre. alaryreviews witconsiqer: the average annualincrease dueaccountofallthe
= [RErRnE DR TR e, f the workforce. Higher factors describedinhow
Recognises - Company performance; .O ) Hig .
AR L ) . increases (in percentage the salary policy operates.
individual's - individual's experience; and
- . - of salary terms) may be
experience, -increases elsewhereinthe Company. R .
ibility o e awarded atthe discretion
;ensdporm Perlodlc'acgount ofpragtlceln Compara'ble ofthe Commltteeffqr
performance companiesinterms of size and complexity _examp_le(butnotllmlted.to):
* willbetaken (e.g. the constituents of the inrelationto the changein
FTSE 250 Index). size,scale orscope of an
. . . individual'srole, following
The Cqmmlttee considerstheimpact Qf any the appointment of anew
salaryincrease onthe totalremuneration executive to bring that
package. executive's packageinline
withmarketoveranumber
of years.
Benefits To provide Executive Directors are entitled to Thevalue of benefitsisnot  N/A
competitive the following benefits: cappedasitisdetermined
benefitsto - lifeassurance; by theinsurance costtothe
ensure the -income protectioninsurance;and Company which may vary.
wellbeing of - private medicalinsurance. However, the nature of the
employees. Executive Directorsarealso eligible to beneﬂtmsexpected to
. ; remainunchanged.
participateinall-employee share schemes
onthe same basis as other staff.
Pension To provide Directors are eligible to receive employer 5%of salaryp.a. N/A
retirement contributions to the Company’s pension plan
benefits for (whichisadefined contribution plan) ora
employees. salary supplementinlieu of pension benefits.
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Purpose and Operationand Maximum Performance
Element link to strategy performance conditions opportunity assessment
Annual Toincentivise  Theannualbonusisbased predominantly The CEQ'sbonusiscapped Financialmeasures
bonus'** andrewardthe onstretchingfinancialand operational at150% of salaryand the willnormally represent
achievementof objectivesassetatthe beginningoftheyear CFO'siscappedati130% the majority of bonus,
annualfinancial andassessed by the Committee following of salaryannually. with clearly defined
andoperational theyearend. non-financial targets
objectives . . representing the balance
jectiv Half of any bonus earnedis subject to deferral e g
whichare . (if any).
closely linked insharesunder the Deferred Annual Bonus
tothe Plan (‘DABP’), typically foraperiod of two With regards to financial
years. The deferred shares will vest subject targets,notmore than 20%
corporate . ” 8
strateg to continued employment, but there are no of this part of the bonus will
Y- further performance targets. be payable forachieving the
.. . . relevant threshold hurdle.
Adividend equivalent provision allows
the Committee to pay dividends, at the Where non-financial targets
Committee’sdiscretion, onvested shares operate, it may not always
(incashorshares) at the time of vesting and be practicable to settargets
may assume the reinvestment of dividends onagraduated scale, where
onacumulative basis. these operate not more than
. . " 33%willbe payable for
Recovery and withholding provisions apply A
k ) o achieving the threshold
asdescribedinfootnote 1. These provisions target
applyinthe event of material misstatement ’
of results, an errorin the calculation of bonus Measures and weightings
outcome orininstances of individual may change eachyear to
gross misconduct. reflectanyyear-on-year
T changestobusiness
Participationin the bonus plan,andallbonus . g vs!
. . priorities.
payments, are at the discretion of the
Committee.
Performance Toincentivise  Awards will normally be made annuallyunder ~ Normal maximum of 200% Ablend of performance
SharePlan andrecognise  the PSP, and will take the form of nil-cost of salary. metrics, including financial
(‘PSP’)*24 successful options or conditional share awards. andtotal shareholderreturn,

execution of
the business
strategy over
the longer
term.

Toalignthe
long-term
interests of
Executives
with those of
shareholders.

Participationandindividual award levels
will be determined at the discretion of the
Committee within the policy.

Awards normally vest after three years
subjecttothe extent to which the
performance conditions specified for the
awards are satisfied,and continued service.

Recovery and withholding provisions apply
asdescribedinfootnote 1. These provisions
applyinthe event of material misstatement
of results,anerrorinthe calculationof a
vesting result orininstances of individual
gross misconduct.

As aminimum, Executive Directors will
ordinarily be required to retain their net of
taxnumber of vested shares delivered under
the PSP foratleast twoyears from the point
of vesting®.

Adividend equivalent provision allows

the Committee to pay dividends, atthe
Committee’s discretion, onvested shares
(incashorshares) at the time of vesting and
may assume the reinvestment of dividends
onacumulative basis.

Exceptional circumstances
maximum of 300% of salary.

willbe used. Financial
metrics willcomprise a
majority of the awards.

The metrics and weightings
foreachaward willbe set
outinthe AnnualReporton
Remuneration. The actual
targets willbe set outunless
they are consideredtobe
commercially sensitive.

No more than 25% of the
award vests forachieving
threshold performance.

100% of the award vests
forachieving maximum
performance.

All-employee

Toencourage

The Company has adopted two all-employee

Maximum permitted savings N/A

SharePlans:  Group-wide taxadvantaged plans, namely a savings based on HMRC limits from
SIP & SAYE® equity related share option scheme (‘SAYE')and a time totime.
ownership Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’) for the benefit of

acrossall Group employees.
employees . .
ployees, The operation of these plans will be at the
andcreatea 3 - X .
discretion of the Committee and Executive
culture of . . s .
. Directors will be eligible to participate on
ownership. . R
aconsistent basis to otheremployees.
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Purpose and Operationand Maximum Performance
Element link to strategy performance conditions opportunity assessment
Share Toincrease Executive Directorsarerequiredtobuildand  Atleast200% of salary for N/A
ownership alignment maintain a holding of sharesinthe Company.  the CEO and atleast150% of
guidelines between Thisisto be built throughretainingaminimum  salary forthe CFO, or such

executivesand of 50%of the net of taxvested PSPand DABP  higherlevelasthe

shareholders.  shares,untilthe guideline levelis met. Committee may determine

fromtimetotime.

1 Recoveryandwithholding provisions apply to variable pay, to enable the Company to recover amounts paid under the annual bonus and PSP in the event of the
following negative events occurring within three years of the payment date: a material misstatement or restatement to the audited financial statements or other
data;anerrorinthe calculation leading to over-payment of bonus; orindividual gross misconduct. Should such an event be suspected, there willbe a further
twoyearsinwhich the Committee may investigate the event. The amount to be recovered would generally be the excess payment over the amount which would
otherwise be paid,and recovery may be satisfied inavariety of ways, including through the reduction of outstanding deferred awards, reduction of the next bonus
or PSPvesting and seeking acashrepayment.

2 Inordertoensurethattheremuneration policyis capable of achievingitsintended aims, the Committee retains certain discretions over the operation of the
variable pay policy. These include the ability to vary the operation of the plansin certain circumstances (such as achange of control, rightsissue, corporate
restructuring events or special dividend) including the timing and determination of pay-outs/vesting, and making appropriate adjustments to performance targets
asnecessary to ensure that performance conditions remain appropriate. However, it should be noted thatin the event that the measures or targets are varied for
outstanding awardsinthe light of acorporate event, the revised targets may not be materially less difficult to satisfy. Should these discretions be used, they would
be explainedinthe Annual Report on Remuneration and may be subject to consultation with shareholders as appropriate.

3 Annualbonus performance measures are selected annually to reflect the Group's key strategic initiatives for the year and reflect both financial and non-financial
objectives. Amajority weightingis placed on financial performance, including a significant element being based on profit-based metrics, ensuring that pay-outs
are closely linked to Company growth.

4 Theuse of acombination of internal financial performance and totalshareholderreturn measures within the PSP is designed to ensure that rewards are linked
tolong-termshareholdervalue creation. The financial metrics chosen will be the measure or measures considered by the Committee at the time of each grant
tobe mostlikely to support the Company's long-term growth strategy. The use of TSR aligns with the Company’s focus onshareholder value creation and rewards
management for outperformance of sector peers.

5 Inexceptionalcircumstances,the Committee mayinits discretion allow participants to sell, transfer, assign or dispose of some or all of these shares before
the end of the holding period.

6 Althougheligible, the Executive Directors opted out of the offer of Free Shares made to allemployees in April 2015.

7 Adescription of how the Companyintends toimplementthe policy setoutin this table for 2018is set outin the AnnualReport on Remuneration.

Service contracts and policy for payments on loss of office
The service contracts for the Executive Directors are terminable by either the Company or the Executive Director on12 months’ notice
and make provision for early termination by way of payment of a cash sum equalto12 months’ salary,and pension.

Paymentinlieu of notice can be paid eitheras alump sum or in equal monthly instalments over the notice period, with mitigation.
The Committee will consider the particular circumstances of each leaver on anindividual basis and retains flexibility as to at what point,
and the extent to which, payments are reduced.

At the discretion of the Committee, a contribution toreasonable outplacement costsin the event of termination of employmentdue to
redundancy may alsobe made. Apayment to the value of 12 months’ contractual benefits may also be made. The Committee alsoretains the
ability toreimburse reasonable legal costsincurred in connection with a termination of employment and may make a payment for any statutory
entitlements or to settle orcompromise claims in connection with a termination of any existing or future Executive Director as necessary.

Relevant details will be provided in the Annual Report on Remuneration should such circumstances apply.

Insummary, the contractual provisions on termination where the Company elects to make a paymentin lieu of notice are as follows:

Provision Detailed terms

Notice period 12 months by either party.

Termination payments -100% of salary.

over the notice period - 5%inrespectof pension contributions.

Change of control There are no enhanced provisions onachange of control.

The Executive Directors are subject to annualreappointment atthe AGM.
Service contracts are available forinspection at the Company’s registered office.

Annual bonus on termination

Thereis noautomatic or contractual right to bonus payment. At the discretion of the Committee, for certain leavers, a pro-rata bonus may
become payable at the normal payment date for the period of employment and based on full-year performance. Should the Committee
decide to make a paymentinsuch circumstances, the rationale would be fully disclosed in the Annual Report on Remuneration.
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PSP on termination
Share-based awards are outside of service contracts.

Normally, PSP awards will lapse upon a participant ceasing to hold employment. However, under the Rules of the PSP, in certain prescribed
circumstances (namely, death, sale of employing company from the business or otherwise at the discretion of the Committee), ‘good leaver’
status canbe applied. Inexercisingits discretion as to whether an Executive Director should be treated as a good leaver the Committee will
takeintoaccount the performance of the individualand the reasons for their departure and, in the event of this determination being made,
will setoutitsrationaleinthe following AnnualReport on Remuneration.

The extent to which PSP awards will vestin good leaver circumstances willdepend on:
- the extent to which the performance conditions have been satisfied at the relevant time; and
- the pro-rating of the award determined by the period of time served inemployment during the vesting period.

Insuch circumstances, PSP awards will usually vest on the normal vesting date. The Committee retains the discretion toreduce or eliminate
time pro-rating, ifitregardsit to be appropriate in particular circumstances. However, if the time pro-rating is varied from the default position
under the PSP Rules, an explanation will be set outin the following Annual Report on Remuneration. For the avoidance of doubt, the application
of the performance condition may not be waived, although the Committee may atits discretion alter the date to which performance is
measured (e.g. to the date of cessation of employmentas opposed to over the full performance period).

Approach to recruitment and promotions

Therecruitment package foranew Director would be setinaccordance with the terms of the Company’s approved remuneration policy.
Currently, thiswould include an annual bonus opportunity of up to150% of salary and policy PSP award of up to 200% of salary (other thanin
exceptional circumstances where up to 300% of salary may be made).

Onrecruitment, salary may (but need not necessarily) be setatalevel below the normal market rate, with phasedincreases greater than those
received by others as the executive gains experience. The rate of salary should be set so as to reflect the individual's experience and skills.

The Committee recognises thatit may be necessaryinsome circumstances to compensate foramounts foregone froma previous employer
(using Listing Rule 9.4.2). Any such compensatory award would be limited to what s felt to be a fair estimate of the value of remuneration foregone
takingintoaccount the value of the award, the extent to which performance conditions apply, the form of award and the time left to vesting.

Foraninternalappointment, any variable pay elementawarded in respect of their prior role would normally be allowed to pay out according
toits outstanding terms. Inaddition, any other ongoing remuneration obligations existing prior to appointment may continue, provided that,
if they are outside the approved policy, they are put to shareholders for approval at the earliest opportunity.

Forallappointments, the Committee may agree that the Company will meet certain appropriate relocation costs.

Policy on external appointments

Subjectto Board approval, Executive Directors are permitted to take on one non-executive position with another company and to retain their
feesinrespectof such position. Details of outside directorships held by the Executive Directors and any fees that they received are provided
inthe Annual Report on Remuneration.

The remuneration policy for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts with the Company, butinstead have letters of appointment.

Purpose and Maximum

Element link to strategy Operation opportunity

Fees To attract Feesarereviewed periodically and approved by the Board (or,inthe case Thereisnoprescribed
andretain of the Chairman, by the Remuneration Committee), with Non-Executive maximum annualincrease
ahigh-calibre  Directorsabstaining fromany discussioninrelationto their fees. Both the noristhereacaponfees.

Chairmanand
Non-Executive

Chairmanand the Non-Executive Directors are paid annual feesand do not
participate inany of the Company’sincentive arrangements, or receive

The fee levels arereviewed
ona periodic basis, with

Directors any pension provision or other benefits. .

by offering reference tothetime

amarket The Chairmanreceivesasingle fee covering all of his duties. commitment of therole and
- . . . . . . market levelsincompanies

competitive The Non-Executive Directorsreceive a basic Board fee, with additional fees of comparable size a?wd

feelevel. payable for chairing the Audit and Remuneration Committees and for

performing the Senior Independent Director role.

The Chairmanand Non-Executive Directors shall be entitled to have
reimbursed all expenses that they reasonablyincurinthe performance
of theirduties.

complexity.

Letters of appointment

AllNon-Executive Directors have letters of appointment with the Company for aninitial period of three years, subject to annualre-appointment
atthe AGM. Appointmentis terminable onsixmonths’ written notice. The appointment letters for the Non-Executive Directors provide that no
compensationis payable upon termination of employment.

Letters of appointmentare available forinspection at the Company’s registered office.

Approach to recruitment

Forthe appointment of anew Chairman or Non-Executive Director, the fee arrangement would be setinaccordance with the approved
remuneration policyin force at that time.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting
their Report and the audited financial
statements of Auto Trader Group plc (the
‘Company’) andits subsidiaries (together the
‘Group’) for the financial year to 31 March 2017.

Statutory information

Information required to be partof the Directors’' report can be found
elsewhereinthisdocument, asindicatedin the table belowandis
incorporatedinto thisReport by reference:

Section of Annual Report Page reference

Employeeinvolvement Strategicreport; corporate

socialresponsibility (page 39)

Employees with disabilities Strategicreport; corporate

socialresponsibility (page 43)

Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements

Financialinstruments

Future developments
of the business

Strategicreport
(pages2to43)

Greenhouse gas emissions Strategicreport; corporate

socialresponsibility (page 42)

Informationrequired by LR9.8
Informationrequired to beincludedinthe Annual Financial Report by
LR 9.8 canbe foundinthisdocumentasindicatedinthe table below:

Section of Annual Report Page reference

Note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements

Allotment of shares
during the year

Directors’ interests Remunerationreport (page 67)

Significant shareholders Directors’ report (page 74)

Goingconcern Risk management (page 32)

Long-termincentive
schemes

Directors’' remunerationreport
(pages 6210 68)

Powers forthe Company
tobuy backits shares

Directors' report(page 73)

Significant contracts Directors' report(page 74)

Significantrelated party Directors' report (page 74)

agreements

Statement of corporate Corporate governance
governance statement (pages44to72)
Management report

This Directors’ report,on pages73to 75, together with the Strategic
reportonpages?2to43,formthe Management Report forthe
purposes of DTR4.1.5R.

The Strategic report

The Strategicreport, which canbe found onpages 2to 43, sets
outthe Group's strategy, objectives and business model; the
development, performance and position of the Group’s business
(including financial and operating key performance indicators);
adescription of the principalrisks and uncertainties; and the
main trends and factors likely to affect the future development,
performance and position of the Group’s business.

UK Corporate Governance Code

The Company’s statement on corporate governance can be foundin
the Corporate governance statement, the Report of the Nomination
Committee, the Report of the Audit Committee and the Directors’
remunerationreporton pages 44to 72, all of which form part of this
Directors' reportandareincorporatedintoitbyreference.

2017 Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting ((AGM’) willbe held at10.00amon
21September 2017 at the Company'sregistered office at 4th Floor, 1
Tony Wilson Place, Manchester, M154FN. The Notice of Meeting sets
outtheresolutions to be proposed and specifies the deadlines for
exercising votingrights and appointing a proxy or proxies to votein
relationtoresolutions to be passedatthe AGM. All proxy votes will
be counted and the numbers for, against or withheld in relation to
eachresolutionwillbe announced at the AGM and published on

the Company’s website.

Board of Directors

The followingindividuals were Directors of the Company for the
whole of the financial year ending 31 March 2017,and to the date
of approving thisreportunless otherwise stated:

- Ed Williams

- Trevor Mather
- SeanGlithero
- DavidKeens

- JillEasterbrook
- Jeni Mundy

Nathan Coe was appointed asaDirector on1April 2017. All Directors
will stand for election orre-electionat the 2017 AGMin line with the
recommendations of the Code.

Appointment and replacement of Directors

Ateach Annual General Meeting each Director thenin office shall
retire from office with effect from the conclusion of the meeting.
When a Director retires at an Annual General Meetinginaccordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may,
by ordinary resolution at the meeting, fill the office being vacated by
re-electing theretiring Director. Inthe absence of such aresolution,
the retiring Director shall nevertheless be deemed to have been
re-elected, exceptinthe casesidentified by the Articles.

Results and dividends
The Group’sand Company’s audited financial statements for the year
aresetoutonpages79toi122.

The Company declared aninterim dividend on10 November 2016
of 1.7 pence per share which was paid on 27 January 2017.

The Directors recommend payment of a final dividend of 3.5 pence
pershare (2016:1.0 pence per share) to be paid on 29 September 2017
toshareholdersontheregister of membersati1September 2017,
subjecttoapproval at the 2017 AGM.

Amendment of the Articles

The Company’'s Articles of Association may only be amended
by aspecialresolution at a general meeting of shareholders.
Noamendments are proposed to be made to the existing Articles
of Association at the forthcoming AGM.

Authority to allot shares

Under the 2006 Act, the Directors may only allot shares if authorised
todosobyshareholdersinageneral meeting. The authority
conferred onthe Directors at the 2016 AGM under section 551 of the
2006 Act expires onthe date of the forthcoming AGM, and ordinary
resolution13 seeksanew authority to allow the Directors to allot
ordinary shares up to a maximum nominalamount of £6,498,786
(649,878,622 shares, representing approximately two thirds of the
Company’s existing share capital at 8 June 2017), of which 324,890,572
shares (representing approximately one third of the Company’s
issued ordinary share capital) can only be allotted pursuant to arights
issue. The Directors have no presentintention of exercising this
authority which will expire at the conclusion of the AGM in 2018

or20 December 2018 if earlier.

Authority to purchase own shares

The Company commenced a share buyback programme during
theyear. By resolutions passed at the 2016 AGM the Company was
authorised to make market purchases of up t0 99,905,974 of its
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ordinary shares, subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions.
Atotal of 26,292,510 ordinary shares of £0.01each were purchasedin
the yearto 31 March 2017, being 2.63% of the shares inissue at the time
the authority was granted. The average price paid per share was
387.9p with atotal consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of

£102.6 million. 4,211,957 shares were purchased to be heldin treasury
with the remainder having been cancelled. The Directors will seek
authority fromshareholders at the forthcoming AGM for the
Company to purchase, in the market, up to a maximum of 10% of its
own ordinary shares (excluding shares held in treasury) either to be
cancelled orretained as treasury shares.

Share capital and control

The Company’sissued share capital comprises ordinary shares
of £0.01each whichare listed on the London Stock Exchange
(LSE: AUTO.L). The ISIN of the sharesis GBOOBVYVFW23.

Theissued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2017 and
8June 2017, comprises 978,971,146 of £0.01each. 4,203,277 shares are
heldintreasury. Furtherinformation regarding the Company’sissued
share capitaland details of the movementsinissued share capital
during the year are providedin note 22 to the Group's financial
statements. Allthe information detailedin note 22 forms part of

this Directors’ reportandisincorporatedintoit by reference.

Details of employee share schemesare providedinnote 26 to the
Group financial statements.

Rights attaching to shares

Allshares have the samerights (including voting and dividendrights
andrightsonareturn of capital) andrestrictions as set outinthe
Articles, described below. Exceptinrelation to dividends which
have beendeclared andrights onaliquidation of the Company, the
shareholders have norights to share in the profits of the Company.
The Company’s shares are notredeemable. However, following any
grant of authority from shareholders, the Company may purchase or
contract to purchase any of the shares on or off market, subject to
the Companies Act 2006 and the requirements of the Listing Rules.

No shareholder holds sharesinthe Company which carry special
rights withregard to control of the Company. There are no shares
relating to anemployee share scheme which have rights with regard
to control of the Company that are not exercisable directly and solely
by the employees, other thaninthe case of the Auto Trader Group
Share Incentive Plan, where share interests of a participantin such
scheme can be exercised by the personalrepresentatives of a
deceased participantinaccordance with the Scheme rules.

Voting rights

Eachordinary share entitles the holder to vote at general meetings

of the Company. Aresolution put to the vote of the meeting shallbe
decided onashow of hands unless apollisdemanded. Onashow

of hands, every memberwhois presentin person or by proxy ata
generalmeeting of the Company shall have one vote. Onapoll,every
memberwhois presentinperson or by proxy shall have one vote for
every share of which they are aholder. The Articles provide adeadline
for submission of proxy forms of not than less than 48 hours before
the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or adjourned
meeting. Nomember shall be entitled to vote atany general meeting
eitherinperson or by proxy, inrespect of any share held by him,unless
allamounts presently payable by himinrespect of that share have
beenpaid. Save as noted, there are norestrictions onvotingrights
norany agreement that may resultin suchrestrictions.

Restrictions on transfer of securities

The Articles do not containany restrictions on the transfer of ordinary
sharesinthe Company other than the usualrestrictions applicable
where any amountisunpaid onashare. Certainrestrictions are also
imposed by laws and regulations (such asinsider trading and
marketing requirements relating to close periods) and requirements
of the Company’s share dealing code whereby Directors and certain
employees of the Company require approvaltodealinthe
Company’s securities.
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Change of control

Saveinrespect of aprovision of the Company’s share schemes which
may cause options and awards granted to employees under such
schemestovestontakeover, thereare noagreements between the
Companyandits Directors oremployees providing for compensation
forloss of office oremployment (whether through resignation,
purported redundancy or otherwise) because of a takeover bid.

Significant contracts

The only significant agreements to which the Companyis a party that
take effect, alter or terminate uponachange of control of the Company
following atakeover bid, and the effect thereof, are the Term Loanand
Revolving Credit Facility agreements, which contain customary
prepayment, cancellation and default provisionsincluding, if required
by alender,mandatory prepayment of all utilisations provided by that
lenderuponthe sale of all or substantially all of the business and assets
of the Group orachange of control.

Interestsin voting rights

At the yearendthe Company had been notified,inaccordance

with Chapter 5 of the Financial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure and
Transparency Rules, of the following significantinterestsin theissued
ordinary share capital of the Company:

At31March2017 At 8 June 2017
Percentage Percentage
of voting of voting
Number rightsover Number rightsover
of ordinary ordinary of ordinary ordinary
shares/voting sharesof shares/voting shares of
Shareholder rightsnotified £0.01each rightsnotified £0.01each
BlackrockInc. 107192,743 10.99% 107,294,221 1.00%
Clinvestments
Inc. 39,159,255 4.02% 38,505,377 3.93%

Transactions with related parties

There were norelated party transactionsin the year, other than
compensation paid to Directors and Key Management as disclosed
innote 6 to the Group financial statements.

Research and development

Innovation, specifically in software, is a critical element of

Auto Trader’s strategy and therefore of the future success of

the Group. Accordingly, the majority of the Group's research and
developmentexpenditureis predominantly related to this area.
Since 30 September 2013, the Group has changedits approach to
technology development such thatthe Group now developsits core
infrastructure through small-scale, maintenance-like incremental
improvements,and as aresult the amount of capitalised
development costs has decreased as less expenditure meets
therequirements of IAS 38 Intangible assets.

Indemnities and insurance

The Company maintains appropriate insurance to cover Directors’
and officers’ liability foritself andits subsidiaries and suchinsurance
was in force for the whole of the financial year ending 31 March 2017.
The Company alsoindemnifies the Directors under a qualifying
indemnity for the purposes of section 236 of the Companies Act
2006:inthe case of the Non-Executive Directorsin their respective
letters of appointmentandin the case of the Executive Directorsina
separate deed of indemnity. Suchindemnities contain provisions that
are permitted by the Director Liability provisions of the Companies
Actandthe Company's Articles.

Environmental

Information onthe Group’s greenhouse gas emissionsis setoutin
the Corporate Social Responsibility section on page 42 and forms
part of thisreport by reference.

Political donations
There were no political donations made during the year or the
previousyear.
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Post balance sheet events

On 25 April 2017, Auto Trader Limited, a subsidiary of the Group,
acquired100% of the share capital of Motor Trade Delivery Limited
(‘MTD’) foranundisclosed sum. MTD revenues and profits for their last
financialyearend were less than1% of the revenue and profits of the
Group. The acquisitionaccounting has not yet been concluded as of
the date of thisreport.

Externalbranches
The Group had no active registered external branches during the
reporting period.

Financialinstruments

Details of the financial risk management objectives and policies

of the Group, including hedging policies and exposure of the entity
to pricerisk, creditrisk, liquidity riskand cash flow risk, are givenin
note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the Directors has confirmed that:

- sofarasthe Directorisaware, thereisnorelevantauditinformation
of whichthe Company’s auditors are unaware; and

- the Director has takenall the steps that he/she ought to have taken
as aDirector to make him/herself aware of any relevant audit
informationand to establish that the Company’s auditoris aware
of thatinformation.

This confirmationis given and should be interpretedinaccordance
with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual
Report and the Financial Statements

The Directors areresponsible for preparing the Annual Reportand
the Group and parent company financial statementsinaccordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company
financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directorsarerequired to prepare the Group financial statementsin
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRSs’)
asadopted by the European Union ('EU’),and have elected to prepare
the parentcompany financial statementsin accordance with UK
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102
The Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UKand Republic
of Ireland (FRS102).

Undercompany law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and parent company and of the
profitorloss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and
parentcompany financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and thenapply them
consistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates thatarereasonable
and prudent;

- forthe Group financial statements, state whether they have been
preparedinaccordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

- forthe parentcompany financial statements, state whether
applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject
toany materialdepartures disclosed and explainedin the parent
company financial statements; and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless
itisinappropriate to presume that the Group and the parent
company willcontinue in business.

The Directors areresponsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent company’s
transactions and disclose withreasonable accuracy atany time the
financial position of the parent company and enable themto ensure
thatits financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They have generalresponsibility for taking such stepsasare
reasonably opentothem to safeguard the assets of the Group and

to preventand detect fraud and otherirregularities.

Underapplicable law andregulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,
Directors’' Remuneration Reportand Corporate Governance
Statement that complies with that law and those regulations

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the corporate and financialinformationincluded on the Company’s
website. Legislationinthe UK governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
inotherjurisdictions.

Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect of the annual
financial report
The Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge:

- the financial statements, preparedinaccordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the
Company andthe undertakingsincludedin the consolidation
takenasawhole; and

- the Strategicreportincludes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position of the issuerand
the undertakingsincludedinthe consolidation takenasawhole,
togetherwith adescription of the principal risks and uncertainties
thatthey face.

The Directors consider that the Annual Reportand Financial
Statements, takenasawhole, is fair, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Group's positionand performance, business modeland strategy.

Approval of Annual Report
The Strategicreportand the Corporate governance report were
approved by the Board on 8 June 2017.

Approved by the Board and signed onits behalf.

Claire Baty
Company Secretary
8June 2017
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc only

Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit

1 Ouropiniononthe financial statements is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc
for the year ended 31 March 2017 set out on pages 79 to 122.

Inour opinion:

Overview

Materiality: £8.0m
Group financial

statementsasawhole 4.1% of Group profit before tax

100% of Group profit before tax

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2017
and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

Coverage

Risks of material misstatement

Recurring risks Revenue recognition

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared
inaccordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union;

- the parent company financial statements have been properly
preparedinaccordance with UK Accounting Standards, including
FRS102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland’; and

- the financial statements have been preparedinaccordance with
therequirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, asregards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

2 Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
Inarriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements, the risk of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit
was as follows:

Therisk Ourresponse
Revenue recoghnition Accounting application Our proceduresincluded:
(£311.4 million; Revenue primarily consists of fees foradvertising - Control design: Assessing the design andimplementation

2016: £281.6 million) onthe Group’s website and web-related of therevenue recognition process;
activities, along with retailer website build
and hosting subscription fees, maintenance

contractsand other subscription fees.

— Test of details: Matching salesinformation fromthe
Singleview and OLA systems to the nominal ledger to obtain
evidence over completeness of revenue. Agreeing revenue
recognised by transaction for the entire population to cash
receipts toobtain evidence over existence and accuracy
of revenue;

Refertopage 57
(Audit Committee
Report), page 86
(accounting policy)
and page 94 (financial
disclosures).

There are alarge variety of packages available and
customers are able to tailor the combination of
products theyreceive. Given the large volume of

non-homogenous transactions, we consider
there tobe asignificantriskinrelationto the
application of the revenue recognition policy.

— Expectationvs actual: For customers with bespoke
contracts, obtaining contracts and forming an expectation
of therevenue to be recognisedinthe period. We assessed

whether the actualrevenue wasin line with our expectation;

— Testof details: Assessing whetherrevenue has been
recognisedinthe correct period by selectingasample of
transactions within two weeks either side of the yearend and
assessing whether the revenue has beenrecorded correctly
withreference to the timing of the service being received; and

— Test of details: Assessing the existence of revenue by
inspectingasample of credit notesraisedintheyearand
postyearend.
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3 Our application of materiality and an overview

of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set

at £8.0m, determined withreference toabenchmark of Group profit
before tax of £193.4m, of whichitrepresents 4.1%.

We reported to the Audit Committee any corrected oruncorrected
identified misstatements exceeding £0.4m, in addition to other
identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative
grounds.

Of the Group’s 4 reporting components, we subjected 4 to full scope
audits for Group purposes, all of which were performed by the Group
auditteam.

The components withinthe scope of our work accounted for the
percentagesillustrated below.

Profit before tax
£193.4m (2016: £155.0m)

Materiality
£8.0m

£8.0m

Whole financial

statements materiality
£7.5m

Range of materiality at

4 components (£0.1m-£7.5m)

£0.4m
Misstatements reported

@ profit before tax to the Audit Committee

Group materiality

Group revenue Group profit before tax
% %

100%
Group total assets

%

100%

@ Fullscope for Group audit purposes 2017.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members
of Auto Trader Group plc only continued

4. Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006 is unmodified
Inour opinion:

- the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has
beenproperly preparedinaccordance with the Companies Act
2006; and

- theinformation givenin the Strategic Reportand the Directors’
Report for the financial yearis consistent with the financial
statements.

Based solely onthe work required to be undertakenin the course of
the audit of the financial statements and fromreading the Strategic
Reportand the Directors’ Report:

- we have not identified material misstatementsin those reports; and

-inouropinion, thosereports have been preparedinaccordance
with the Companies Act 2006.

5. We have nothing to report on the disclosures of principal risks
Based onthe knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have
nothing material to add or draw attention toinrelation to:

- the Directors’ statement of viability on page 32, concerning the
principalrisks, theirmanagement,and, based on that, the Directors’
assessmentand expectations of the Group’s continuingin
operationover the three years to 31 March 2020; or

- thedisclosuresinnote1of the financial statements concerning
the use of the going concern basis of accounting.

6. We have nothing toreportinrespect of the matters on which

we are required to report by exception

UnderISAs (UK and Ireland) we are required toreport toyouif, based
onthe knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have identified
otherinformationin the AnnualReport that contains a material
inconsistency with either that knowledge or the financial statements,
amaterial misstatement of fact, or thatis otherwise misleading.

Inparticular, we are required to report to youif:

- we have identified materialinconsistencies between the
knowledge we acquired during our auditand the Directors’
statement that they consider that the Annual Reportand financial
statements taken asawholeis fair,balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess
the Group's positionand performance, business modeland
strategy; or

- the Audit Committee Report does notappropriately address
matters communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to youif,
inour opinion:

- adequate accounting records have notbeen kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not beenreceived
frombranches notvisited by us; or

- the parentcompany financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ remunerationreportto be audited are notin agreement
with the accounting records andreturns; or

- certaindisclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law
arenotmade; or

- we have notreceived all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.
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Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

- the Directors’ statements, set out on page 32,inrelation to going
concernand longer-termviability; and

- the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on page 44
relating to the Company’s compliance with the eleven provisions of
the 2014 UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review.

We have nothing toreportinrespect of the above responsibilities.

Scope and responsibilities

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set
outonpage75,the Directorsareresponsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give atrue and
fairview. Adescription of the scope of anaudit of financial statements
isprovided onthe Financial Reporting Council's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. Thisreportis made solely
tothe Company’s membersasabodyandis subjecttoimportant
explanations and disclaimers regarding our responsibilities, published
onourwebsite at www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeukco2014a, which
areincorporatedintothisreportasif setoutinfulland should beread
to provide anunderstanding of the purpose of thisreport, the work
we have undertaken and the basis of our opinions.

Mick Davies (Senior Statutory Auditor)

forand on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1St. Peter’'s Square

Manchester

M2 3AE

8 June 2017



Strategicreport / Governance / Financial statements

Consolidated income statement

For the yearended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Note £m £m
Revenue 3 3.4 281.6
Administrative expenses (108.3) (112.0)
Operating profit before share-based payments and associated NI,
and exceptionalitems 207.2 171.3
Share-based paymentsand associated NI 26 (4.5) (2.5)
Exceptionalitems 4 0.4 0.8
Operating profit 4 203.1 169.6
Finance costs 7 (9.7) (14.6)
Profit before taxation 193.4 155.0
Taxation 8 (38.7) (28.3)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 154.7 126.7
Basic earnings per share 9
From profit for the year (pence per share) 15.64 12.67
Diluted earnings per share 9
From profit for the year (pence per share) 15.60 12.65

Asoutlinedinthe basis of preparation on page 84, the current periodis for the 369 days ended 31 March 2017 and the comparative period
is forthe 52 weeks (364 days) ended 27 March 2016.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Forthe year ended 31 March 2017

2017 2016

£m £m

Profit forthe year 154.7 126.7
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Currency translation differences 0.5 0.5

Other comprehensiveincome for the year, net of tax 0.5 0.5

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 155.2 127.2

Currency translation differences arise on the consolidation of the Group’s subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than sterling.

Asoutlinedinthe basis of preparation on page 84, the current periodis for the 369 days ended 31 March 2017 and the comparative period
is for the 52 weeks (364 days) ended 27 March 2016.
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Consolidated balance sheet

At 31 March 2017
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 320.4 323.4
Property,plantand equipment 11 6.7 74
Deferred taxationassets 20 4.7 4.3
331.8 3351
Current assets
Trade and otherreceivables 14 50.7 51.7
Cashandcashequivalents 16 8.0 10.4
58.7 621
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 15 - 0.3
58.7 62.4
Total assets 390.5 397.5
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Ordinary shares 22 9.8 10.0
Retained earnings 1,015.9 970.9
Capitalreorganisationreserve (1,060.8) (1,060.8)
Ownsharesheld 23 (16.9) (1.5)
Capitalredemptionreserve 0.2 -
Otherreserves 30.4 299
Total equity (21.4) (51.5)
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 357.8 395.6
Deferred taxation liabilities 20 0.2 0.3
Retirement benefit obligations 21 - -
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 19 11 11
3591 397.0
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 33.3 36.6
Currentincome taxliabilities 19.2 14.9
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 19 0.3 0.5
52.8 52.0
Total liabilities 41.9 4490
Total equity and liabilities 390.5 397.5

The financial statements from pages 79 to 115 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised forissue.

Sean Glithero
Chief Financial Officer
8June 2017

Auto Trader Group plc Registered number 09439967
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Forthe year ended 31 March 2017

Share own Capital Capital
Share premium Retained shares reorganisation redemption Other Total
capital account  earnings held reserve reserve reserves equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at March 2015 1,500.0 144.4 (789.1) - (1,060.8) - 29.4 (176.1)
Profit forthe year - - 126.7 - - - - 126.7
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - - - - 0.5 0.5
Totalcomprehensive income, net of tax - - 126.7 - - - 0.5 127.2
Transactions with owners
IFRS 2 - share-based payments 26 - - 2.3 - - - - 2.3
Deferred taxonshare-based payments 20 - - 01 - - - - 0.1
Issue of share capital 22 1.6 - (1.6) - - - - -
Capitalreduction 22 (1,491.6) (144.4) 1,636.0 - - - - -
Dividends paid 24 - - (5.0) - - - - (5.0)
Acquisition of shares by ESOT 23 - - 1.6 (1.6) - - - -
Transfer of shares from ESOT 23 - - (0.1) 01 - - - -
Total transactions with owners,
recogniseddirectly inequity (1,490.0) (144.4) 1,633.3 (1.5) - - - (2.6)
Balance at March 2016 10.0 - 970.9 (1.5) (1,060.8) - 29.9 (51.5)
Profit forthe year - - 154.7 - - - - 154.7
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences - - - - - - 0.5 0.5
Totalcomprehensiveincome, net of tax - - 154.7 - - - 0.5 155.2
Transactions with owners
IFRS 2 - share-based payments 26 - - 4.0 - - - - 4.0
Deferredtaxonshare-based payments 20 - - 01 N - - N 0.1
Repurchase of ownshares for treasury 23 - - - (15.5) - - - (15.5)
Cancellation of shares 22 (0.2) - (871) - - 0.2 - (871)
Dividends paid 24 - - (26.6) - - - - (26.6)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 23 - - (04) 01 - - - -
Total transactions with owners,
recogniseddirectly in equity (0.2) - (109.7) (15.4) - 0.2 - (125.1)
Balance at March 2017 9.8 - 1,015.9 (16.9) (1,060.8) 0.2 30.4 (21.4)
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the yearended 31 March 2017

2017 2016
Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations before exceptional operatingitems 212.9 184.4
Cash flows from exceptional operating items (excluding IPO fees) - (4.3)
Cash generated from operations 25 212.9 18011
Tax paid (34.8) (16.0)
Net cash generated from operating activities 1781 1641
Cash flows frominvesting activities
Purchases of intangible assets - financial systems (0.7) (0.5)
Purchases of intangible assets - other (0.5) (0.3)
Purchases of property, plantand equipment (2.5) (2.3)
Proceeds from sale of property, plantand equipment - 01
Bank depositand otherinterestreceived - 01
Net cashused ininvesting activities (3.7) (2.9)
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders 24 (26.6) (5.0)
Repayment of Syndicated Term Loan 18 (40.0) (147.0)
Payment of IPO costs - (8.3)
Payment of interest on borrowings (7.6) (12.6)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation (86.7) -
Purchase of own shares for treasury (15.4) -
Payment of fees onrepurchase of ownshares (0.5) -
Net cashused in financing activities (176.8) (172.9)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2.4) (1.7)
Cashand cash equivalents at beginning of year 16 10.4 221
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 8.0 104

Asoutlinedinthe basis of preparation on page 84, the current periodis for the 369 days ended 31 March 2017 and the comparative period
is for the 52 weeks (364 days) ended 27 March 2016.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Generalinformation

Auto Trader Group plcisapublic limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporated
inthe United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is given on the inside back cover.

1. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The principalaccounting policies appliedin the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently appliedtoallthe periods presented, unless otherwise stated. The financialinformation presentedis atand for the 364 day
(52 week) period ended 27 March 2016 and for the 369 day period ended 31 March 2017. Due to the publishing heritage of the business, results
have historically beenreported ona 52 week basis, with the accounting period ending on the closest Sunday to 31 March. The Board made the
decisionto change the period end date to be 31 March every year, starting in 2017, to better align with our customers’ needs and to the products
and services we offer. As aconsequence of this change, the 2017 financial year was five days longer than the previous year.

Financialyear ends have beenreferred to as 31 March throughout these consolidated financial statements as per the Company’s accounting
reference date. Financialyearsarereferred toas 2016 and 2017 in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been preparedinaccordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as adopted
by the European Union (‘EU’), IFRS Interpretation Committee ('IFRSIC’), certaininterpretations as adopted by the EU, and the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companiesreportingunder IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis
andunder the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

Going concern

The Directors, after making enquiries and on the basis of current financial projections and facilities available, believe that the Group has
adequate financial resources to continue in operation for a period not less than12 months from the date of thisreport. For this reason,
they continue to adopt the going concernbasisin preparing the financial statements.

Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain accounting estimates and assumptions. Italso
requires management to exerciseitsjudgementin the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
tobereasonable under the circumstances.

There are noaccounting estimates or judgements which are critical to the reporting of results of operations and financial position.

The accounting estimates believed to require the most difficult, subjective or complexjudgements are as follows:

- carrying values of goodwill; and

- share-based payments.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairmentinaccordance with the accounting policy stated. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations, which require the use of estimates, see note 10.

Share-based paymentarrangementsin which the Group receives goods or services as consideration forits own equity instruments are
accounted foras equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The fair value of servicesreceivedinreturn for share optionsis
calculated withreference to the fair value of the award on the date of grant. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have beenused where
appropriate to calculate the fair value and the Directors have therefore made estimates with regards to the inputs to that modeland the
period over which the share awardis expected to vest (note 26).
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New accounting standards and IFRS IC interpretations
The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRSs in 2017 in the consolidated financial statements with no significantimpact
onits consolidated results or financial position:

- Annualimprovements to IFRSs 2012-2014

- Amendmentto IFRS11, ‘Jointarrangements onacquisition of aninterestinajoint operation’

- AmendmenttolAS16, ‘Property, plantand equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible assets’, on depreciation and amortisation
- Amendments to IAS 27, 'Separate financial statements’ on equity accounting

- Amendments toIFRS 10, ‘Consolidated financial statements’ and IAS 28, 'Investments in associates and joint ventures’ on applying the
consolidation exemption

- Amendments tolAS1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ disclosure initiative

The following standards and interpretations were issued by the IASB but have not been adopted either because they were not endorsed
by the EU at 31 March 2017 or they are not yet mandatory and the Group has not chosen to early-adopt them:

- IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ (effective 1 January 2018). This will simplify the classification of financial assets formeasurement purposes,
butisnotanticipated to have asignificantimpact on the financial statements.

- IFRS15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with customers'’ (effective 1January 2018) and Clarifications to IFRS 15 (not yet EU endorsed). The Group
intends toadopt IFRS15inits financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2019. Under IFRS 15, revenue will be recognised when
performance obligations are satisfied. The Group does not anticipate that this change will have a materialimpact on the Group consolidated
results or financial position.

- IFRS16, 'Leases’ (effective1January 2019, notyet EU endorsed). The Group intends to adoptIFRS16inits financial statements for the year ending
31March 2020. This standard will significantly affect the presentation of the Group financial statements, with all leases apart from short-term
leases beingrecognised as on-balance sheet finance leases with a corresponding liability being the present value of lease payments.

- Amendments to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-Based payments transactions (notyet EU endorsed). This standardis not
anticipated to have a significantimpact on the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The Group's consolidated financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc and all of its subsidiary
undertakings.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Groupis
exposedto,orhasrightsto, variable returns fromitsinvolvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which controlis transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date thatcontrolceases.

The purchase method of accountingis used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of anacquisitionis
measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instrumentsissued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Costsdirectly attributable to the acquisition are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumedin
abusiness combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest. The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interestin the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interestin the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquiredis recorded as goodwill. If the
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interestrecognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the
netassets of the subsidiary acquiredin the case of abargain purchase, the differenceisrecognised directlyin theincome statement.

Intercompany transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significantinfluence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between
20%and 50% of the votingrights. Where significantinfluence is not demonstrated but the shareholding is between 20% and 50% the Group would
account foritsinterestasaninvestment. Allinvestments are initially recognised at cost and the carrying value is reviewed forimpairment.
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1. Accounting policies continued

Segmentreporting

Operating segmentsarereportedinamanner consistent with the internalreporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker,whoisresponsible forallocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has beenidentified as the Operational Leadership Team that makes strategic decisions (note 3).

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the considerationreceived or receivable for the sale of goods and servicesin the ordinary course
of the Group's activities. Revenueis stated net of discounts, rebates, refunds and value-added tax.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, itis probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities as described below. The Group basesits estimates
on historicalresults, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transactions and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenueisrecognisedas follows:

- Traderevenue: fees fromretailerand home trader customers for advertising on the Group’s websites and web-related activities are
recognised onastraight-line basis as the service is provided. Retailer website build and hosting subscription fees, maintenance contracts
and other subscription feesare recognised on a straight-line basis over the period to which they relate.

- Consumer services revenue: fees from private sellers foradvertising on the Group's websites are recognised on a straight-line basis as
the serviceis provided. Revenues from third-party partners who provide services to consumers relating to their motoring needs, such as
insurance and loan finance, are recognised as the serviceis provided.

- Display advertising : revenue from manufacturers and their advertising agencies for placing display advertising on the Group’s websites
isrecognised onastraight-line basis as the serviceis provided.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholdersis recognised as aliability in the Group's financial statementsin the period in which
the dividendis approved by the Company’s shareholdersin the case of final dividends, or the date at which they are paidin the case of
interimdividends.
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Employee benefits
The Group operates several pension schemes and all except one are defined contribution schemes. Within the UK all pension schemes
setup priorto 2001 have been closed tonew members and only one defined contribution scheme is now open to new employees.

a) Defined contribution scheme
The assets of the defined contribution scheme are held separately from those of the Group inindependently administered funds. The costs
inrespect of thisscheme are charged to theincome statementasincurred.

b) Defined benefit scheme

The Group operates one defined benefit pension scheme thatis closed to new members. The asset or liability recognisedin the balance sheet
inrespect of the defined benefit schemeis the presentvalue of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of
the scheme’s assets. The defined benefit obligationis calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The presentvalue of the defined benefit obligationis determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows usinginterest rates of
high-quality corporate bonds thatare denominatedin the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating those of the related pension liability. Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
inactuarialassumptions are charged or credited to equity in ‘other comprehensive income’ in the period in which they arise. Any scheme
surplus (to the extentitcan berecovered) or deficitisrecognisedin fullonthe balance sheet.

c) Share-based payments

Equity-settled awards are valued at grant date, and the difference between the grant date fair value and the consideration paid by the
employeeischargedasanexpenseintheincome statement spread over the vesting period. Fair value of the awards are measured using
Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo pricing models. The credit side of the entryisrecorded in equity. Cash-settled awards are revalued at each
reporting date with the fair value of the award charged to the profitandloss account over the vesting period and the credit side of the entry
recognised as aliability.

Non-underlying items
Significantitems of income and expense that do not relate to the trading of the Group are disclosed as ‘'non-underlying’. Examples of such
items are exceptionalitems and share-based payments and associated NI.

Exceptionalitems

Significant non-recurringitems of income and expense are disclosed as ‘exceptionalitems’. Examples of items that may give rise to disclosure
as exceptionalitemsinclude costs of major restructuring and reorganisation of the business, corporate refinancing and restructuring costs,
gainsonthe early extinguishment of borrowings orimpairments of intangible assets, property, plantand equipment, as well as the reversal of
such writedowns orimpairments, material disposals of property, plantand equipment and litigation settlements. A full analysis of exceptional
itemsis providedinnote 4.

Foreign currency translation

a) Functionaland presentation currency

Iltemsincludedinthe financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
inwhich the entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling (£), whichis the Group’s presentation currency,
androundedto the nearesthundred thousand (£0.1m) except when otherwise indicated.

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at the period end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognisedin the income statement within administrative expenses.

c) Group companies
Theresults and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency other than sterling are translated into sterling as follows:

- assetsand liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; and
-income and expenses foreachincome statementare translated at average exchange rates.
Onthedisposal of aforeign operation, the cumulative exchange differences that were recordedin equity are recognisedin theincome

statementas part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assetsand liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
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Intangible assets

a) Goodwill

Goodwillrepresents the excess cost of anacquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the netidentifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition.

Goodwillis tested annually forimpairmentandis carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses are charged to
theincome statementand are notreversed. The gain orloss on the disposal of an entity includes the carrying amount of goodwill relating
to the entity sold.

Goodwillis allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocationis made to those cash-generating units
thatare expected to benefit from the business combinationin which the goodwill arose.

b) Trademarks, trade names, technology and customer relationships

Separately acquired trademarks, trade names, technology and customer relationships are recognised at historical cost. They have a finite
usefullife and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
overtheir estimated usefullives of between one and 15 years. Trademarks, trade names, technology and customer relationships acquiredin
abusiness combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and subsequently amortised.

c) Software
Acquired computer software is capitalised at cost, including any costs to bringitinto use,andis carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisationis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the estimated useful life of three to five years.

d) Software and website development costs and financial systems
Development costs thatare directly attributable to the designand testing of identifiable and unique software products, websites and systems
controlled by the Group are recognised asintangible assets when the following criteriaare met:

- itistechnically feasible to complete the software product or website so that it will be available for use;

- managementintends to complete the software product or website and use or sellit;

-thereisanability touse or sell the software product or website;

- itcanbe demonstrated how the software product or website will generate probable future economic benefits;

- adequate technical, financialand otherresources to complete the development and to use or sell the software product or website
are available; and

- the expenditure attributable to the software product or website during its development can be reliably measured.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product, website or systeminclude employee and contractor costs.

Otherdevelopment expenditures that do not meet these criteria as well as ongoing maintenance and costs associated with routine upgrades
and enhancementsare recognised as an expense asincurred.

Development costs for software, websites and systems are carried at cost lessaccumulated amortisation and are amortised over their useful
lives (not exceeding five years) at the pointin which they come into use.

Property, plant and equipment
Allproperty, plantand equipmentis stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost comprises
the purchase price of the asset and expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of theitem.

Freeholdlandis not depreciated. Depreciation on other assetsis calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost less their
estimated residual values over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Land, buildings and leasehold improvements:

- Freehold buildings 50vyears

- Leasehold land and buildings life of lease
- Leasehold improvements life of lease
- Plantand equipment 3-10years
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Assetsinthe course of construction are recorded separately within property, plantand equipmentand are transferred to the appropriate
classification when complete and depreciated from the date they are broughtinto use.

The assets’ residual values and usefullives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The carrying value of assets
isreviewed forimpairmentif events or changesin circumstances suggest that the carrying value may notbe recoverable. Assets will be
written down to theirrecoverable amountif lower than the carrying value, and any impairmentis charged to the income statement.

Gains and lossesondisposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amountand are recognised in theincome
statement within ‘administrative expenses'.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have anindefinite usefullife, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually forimpairment. Assets
thatare subjecttoamortisation and depreciation are reviewed forimpairment whenever events or changesin circumstancesindicate that
the carryingamount may not be recoverable. Animpairment lossis recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carryingamount exceeds
itsrecoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to selland value in use. For the purposes of
assessingimpairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered animpairmentare reviewed for possible reversal of the impairmentat each
reporting date.

Inassessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate thatreflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Foran asset that does not generate largely
independentcash flows, the recoverable amountis determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment losses recognised inrespect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assetsin the unit (or group of units)ona
pro-ratabasis.

Assets and liabilities (or disposal groups) held for sale

Assets and liabilities (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale when their carrying amountis to be recovered principally through a sale
transactionand a saleis considered highly probable. On classification as held for sale, they are stated at the lower of carryingamount and fair
value less costs to sell. Impairmentlosses areincludedin the income statement, as are any gains and losses on subsequentre-measurement.

Financial assets

The Group classifiesits financial assetsin the categories of loans and receivables and at fair value through profit or loss. The classification
dependsonthe purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

Loansandreceivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted inan active market. They
areincludedincurrentassets, except for maturities greater than12 months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current

assets. The Group'sloans andreceivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalentsin the balance sheet. Loans

andreceivablesareinitially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financialassets measured at fair value are those held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. Derivatives are categorised
as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assetsin this category are classified as current assets. Financial assets carried at fair
value through the profit orloss account are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. They
are subsequently re-measured to fair value and gains or losses arising from changesin the fair value are recognised in the income statementin
the periodinwhichtheyarise.

Financialassetsand liabilities are offsetand the netamountreportedin the balance sheet when thereisalegally enforceable right to of fset
therecognisedamountsand thereisanintention to settle onanetbasis, orrealise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group assesses atthe end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets
isimpaired. Afinancialassetisimpaired only if thereis objective evidence of impairmentas aresult of one or more events that occurred after
theinitialrecognition of the assetand that this event has animpact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be
reliably estimated. The amount of the lossis measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the assetisreduced
and the amount of the lossisrecognisedin the income statement.

If,inasubsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreased and the decrease can be related objectively toan event occurring
aftertheimpairment was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised impairment lossis credited to the income statement.
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Derivative financialinstruments and hedging
The Group does not currently use derivative financialinstruments for hedging or for speculative purposes.

Tradereceivables

Tradereceivables are recognisedinitially at fair value and subsequently measured atamortised cost using the effective interest method,
less provision forimpairment. A provision forimpairment of trade receivablesis established when there is objective evidence that the Group
willnotbe able to collectallamounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cashand cashequivalentsinclude cashinhand, short-term deposits held on call with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowingsin ‘current liabilities’ on the balance sheet.

Trade payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured atamortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costsincurred, and are subsequently carried atamortised cost, with any
difference betweenthe proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemptionvalue being recognised in theincome statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Finance andissue costs associated with the borrowings are charged to the income statementusing the effective interest rate method from
the date of issue over the estimated life of the borrowings to which the costsrelate.

Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. Where an existing financial liability is
replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modificationis treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the difference
inrespective carryingamounts together with any costs or feesincurred are recognised in the income statement.

The buyback of bank borrowings represents the discharge of the obligation torepay the debt. The difference between the carryingamount of
the financial liability extinguished and the consideration paidis recognised as an exceptional gainin the income statement, asitis a significant
non-recurringitem.

Preference shares are treated as borrowings where in substance they have the features of debtinstruments; otherwise they are classified
as equity. Therelated dividends are recognised as aninterest expense for debtinstruments and as dividends for equity instruments.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the balance sheet date.
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Provisions

Aprovisionisrecognised whenapresent legal or constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date asaresult of apastevent, itis
probable thatan outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and areliable estimate of that obligation can be made. Where
there are anumber of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlementis determined by considering the class
of obligationsasawhole. If the effectis material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-taxrate
thatreflects current market assessments of the time value of money and where appropriate the risks specific to the obligation.

Contingent liabilities are notrecognised but are disclosed unless an outflow of resources isremote. Contingentassets are not recognised
butare disclosed where aninflow of economic benefitsis probable.

Leases

Leasesinwhichasignificant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of anyincentivesreceived from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis overthe period of the lease.

Taxation

The tax expense for the period comprises currentand deferred taxation. Taxis recognised in the income statement, except to the extent
thatitrelatestoitemsrecognisedin ‘other comprehensive income’ or directly in equity. Inthis case the taxis also recognisedin ‘other
comprehensiveincome’ or directly in equity, respectively. Management periodically evaluates positions takenin taxreturns with respect to
situationsin which applicable taxregulationis subject tointerpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expectedto be paidto the tax authorities.

Currenttaxationis provided atamounts expected to be paid (or recovered) calculated using the rates of taxand laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Deferred taxationis providedin full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities
andtheir carryingamountsin the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxationis determined using taxrates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheetdate and are
expectedtoapply whentherelated deferred tax assetisrealised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferredtaxationassetsarerecognised only to the extent thatitis probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred taxationis provided ontemporary differences arising oninvestments in subsidiaries except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differenceis controlled by the Group anditis probable that the temporary difference willnotreverseinthe foreseeable future.

Deferredtaxation assetsand liabilities are offset when thereis alegally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilitiesand when the deferred taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity
ordifferent taxable entities where thereisanintention to settle the balance onanet basis.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shownin equity asadeduction
fromthe proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Group's
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominalvalue of the shares repurchased is deducted from share capital
and transferred to a capitalredemptionreserve.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital to hold in Treasury, the consideration paid for the sharesis shown as own shares
held within equity.

Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust

The Employee Share Option Trust ('ESOT’) provides for the issue of shares to Group employees principally under share option schemes. The
Group has controlof the ESOT and therefore consolidates the ESOT in the Group financial statements. Accordingly, sharesinthe Company
held by the ESOT areincludedin the balance sheetat costas adeduction from equity.
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Share premium and other reserves
The amount subscribed for the ordinary shares in excess of the nominal value of these new sharesisrecordedin ‘share premium’. Costs that
directly relate to theissue of ordinary shares are deducted from share premium net of corporation tax.

The capitalreorganisationreserve arose on consolidation as aresult of the share-for-share exchange on 24 March 2015. Itrepresents the
difference betweenthe nominalvalue of sharesissued by Auto Trader Group plcin this transaction and the share capitaland reserves of
Auto Trader Holding Limited.

The capitalredemptionreserve arises from the purchase and subsequent cancellation of the Group’s own equity share capital.
Otherreserves comprise the currency translation reserve on the consolidation of entities whose functional currency is other than sterling.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (‘EPS’) forits ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. For diluted EPS,
the weighted average number of ordinary sharesis adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2. Financial risk management

a) Financialrisk factors

Inthe course of its business the Group is exposed to market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk
and technologyrisk. The Group's overallrisk management strategy is to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance and
netassets of the Group. These policies are set and reviewed by senior finance managementand all significant financing transactions are
authorised by the Board of Directors.

Market risk

i. Foreignexchange risk

The Group has no significant foreign exchange risk as 98% of the Group’s revenue and 97% of costs are sterling-denominated. As the amounts
are notsignificant, no sensitivity analysis has been presented.

The Group operatesinlreland. Foreign-currency-denominated net assets of overseas operations are not hedged as they represent arelatively
small proportion of the Group’s net assets. The Group operates a dividend policy ensuring any surplus cashis remitted to the UK and
translatedinto sterling thereby minimising the impact of exchange volatility.

ii. Interestraterisk
The Group'sinterestrateriskarises from long-term borrowings under the Syndicated Term Loan subject to floating rates of interest linked
to LIBOR. The Group monitorsinterestrates onanongoing basis but does not currently hedge interestrate risk.

iii. Creditrisk

Creditriskis therisk that financial loss arises from the failure of a customer or counterparty to meetits obligations under a contract. The Group
has dedicated standards, policies and procedures to controland monitor all suchrisks. Although the Group is potentially exposed to credit
lossin the event of non-performance by counterparties, such creditriskis controlled through creditrating reviews of the counterparties and
by limiting the totalamount of exposure to any one party. The Group does not believe itis exposed to any material concentrations of credit
risk. Asan example, the Group’s borrowings are arranged with a syndicate of major banks and are committed until 2020.

Creditriskrelating to trade receivablesis managed centrally and the creditrisk for new customersis analysed before standard payment terms
and conditions are offered. Policies and procedures exist to ensure that existing customers have an appropriate credit historyand a
significantnumber of balances are prepaid or collected via direct debit. Sales to private customers are primarily settled using major debit or
credit cards whichreduces theriskin this area. Overall, the Group considers thatitis not exposed to a significantamount of either customer
creditor bad debtrisk, due to the diversified and fragmented nature of the customer base.

The cost of bad debts for the year ended 31 March 2017 was 0.6% of revenue (for the year ended 31 March 2016: 0.8%).
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iv. Liquidity risk
Cash flow forecastingis performed centrally by the Group treasury manager. Rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements

are monitored to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. Such forecasting takesinto consideration the Group's debt
financing plans.

Surplus cash held by operating entities over and above the balance required for working capital managementisinvested centrally ininterest-
bearing currentaccounts and money market deposits with appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity as required by the above-mentioned
forecasts.

The tables below analyse the Group's financial liabilities and undrawn commitmentsinto relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
periodat the balance sheet date to contractual maturity date. Derivative financialinstruments are includedin the analysis if their contractual
maturities are essential foranunderstanding of the timing of the cash flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. As disclosed in note 18 of these consolidated financial statements, the borrowings are currently drawn down under
asyndicated debtarrangementandrepayments can be made atany time without penalty. As such thereisno contractualinterest cost.
Interest paidintheyearinrelationto borrowings amountedto £7.6m.

Between Between
Less than 1and2 2and5 Over
1year years years Syears
At 31 March 2017 £m £m £m £m
Borrowings = = 363.0 =
Trade and other payables 71 - - -
Undrawnrevolving creditand other facilities - - 30.0 -
Total 71 = 393.0 =
Between Between
Lessthan 1and2 2and5 Over
1year years years S5years
At 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Borrowings - - 403.0 -
Trade and other payables 8.5 - - -
Undrawnrevolving creditand other facilities - - 30.0 -
Total 8.5 - 433.0 -

b) Capital risk management
The Group considers capitaltobe netdebt plus total equity. Net debtis defined as borrowings excluding debtissue costs less cash
and short-term deposits. Total equityis as shownin the consolidated balance sheet.

The calculation of total capitalis showninthe table below:

2017 2016
£m £m

Loans due within one year - -
Loans and overdrafts greater than one year 363.0 403.0
Less: Cashand cashequivalents (8.0) (10.4)
Totalnetdebt 355.0 392.6
Total equity (21.4) (51.5)
Total capital 333.6 3411

The objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an efficient capital structure to optimise the cost of capital. Inorder to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or take other steps toincrease share capitaland reduce orincrease debt facilities.

The margin payable onthe Syndicated Term Loaninterestis dependent onthe consolidated leverage ratio of Auto Trader Group plcandits
subsidiaries and thisis calculated and reviewed on a semi-annual basis. Repayments can be made without penalty under the Syndicated
Term Loan Agreementand thereisnorequirementto settle all or part of the Syndicated Term Loan earlier thanits termination date of 2020.
The Group remains in compliance withits banking covenants.

c) Fair value estimation
At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Group had no financialinstruments held at fair value through profitand loss.
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3. Segmental information

IFRS 8 Operating segments requires the Group to determineits operating segments based oninformation whichis providedinternally. Based
ontheinternalreportinginformation and management structures withinthe Group, it has been determined that thereis only one operating
segment, being the Group, as the informationreportedincludes operating results at a consolidated Group level only. This reflects the nature
of the business, where the major costis to support the IT platforms upon which all of the Group’s customers are serviced. These costs are
borne centrally and are not attributable to any specific customer type orrevenue stream. Thereis also considered to be only one reporting
segment, whichis the Group, the results of whichare showninthe consolidated income statement.

Management has determined that thereis one operating and reporting segmentbased on the reportsreviewed by the Operational Leadership
Team (‘OLT’) whichis the chief operating decision-maker (‘{CODM'’). The OLT is made up of the Executive Directors and Key Managementandis
responsible for the strategic decision-making of the Group.

Toassistinthe analysis of the Group’srevenue-generating trends, the OLT reviews revenue from three customer types as detailed below:

- Trade: revenue fromretailerand home trader customers advertising their vehicles and utilising the Group's products;

- Consumer services: revenue from private sellers for vehicle advertisements on the Group's websites. This category alsoincludes revenue
from third-party partners who provide services to consumers relating to their motoring needs, such asinsurance and loan finance; and

- Display advertising: revenue from manufacturers and their advertising agencies for placing display advertising on the Group's websites.

Thereportinginformation provided to the OLT, which presents revenue by customer type, has beenvoluntarily disclosed below:

2017 2016
Revenue £m £m
Trade 2621 236.4
Consumerservices 31.8 30.3
Display advertising 17.5 14.9
Totalrevenue 3.4 281.6

Therevenue from external parties reported to the OLT is measured inamanner consistent with thatintheincome statement.

Underlying operating profit

Operating costs, comprising administrative expenses, are managed ona Group basis. The OLT measures the overall performance of the
Group by reference toanon-GAAP measure, Underlying operating profit, which is Operating profit before share-based payments and
associated Nland exceptionalitems. This adjusted profit measure was applied by the OLT to understand the earnings trend of the Group
and was considered the most meaningful measure by which to assess the true operating performance of the Group, asit allowed better
interpretation of the underlying performance of the business. From nextyear,i.e. for 2018 and beyond, the business willreportagainst the
statutory measure of Operating profit, asitis expected that going forward the year-on-year change in share-based payments charges will
belessdistorting thanin the past.

2017 2016

£m £m

Operating profit 203.1 169.6

- Share-based paymentsand associated NI 4.5 2.5

- Exceptionalitems (0.4) (0.8)

Underlying operating profit 207.2 171.3
Areconciliation of the total segment Operating profit to the profit before taxis provided as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Totalsegment Operating profit 203.1 169.6

Finance costs - net (9.7) (14.6)

Profit before tax 193.4 155.0

The OLT reviews the balance sheetinformation for the one operating segment. The segment’s assets and liabilities are presented inamanner
consistent with that of these consolidated financial statements.
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The Groupisdomiciledinthe UKand the following table details external sales by location of customers and non-current assets (excluding
deferredtax) by geographic area:

2017 2016
£m £m
Revenve:
UK 306.1 277.0
Ireland 5.3 4.6
Totalrevenue 314 281.6
Non-current assets:
UK 321.0 326.5
Ireland 61 4.3
Total non-current assets (excluding deferred tax) 3271 330.8

Due tothelarge number of customers the Group serves, there are noindividual customers whose revenue is greater than10% of the Group's
totalrevenueinall periods presentedin these financial statements.

4. Operating profit

Operating profitis stated after charging:

2017 2016

Note £m £m

Staff costs 5 53.6 53.6

Contractor costs 0.4 04

Depreciation of property, plantand equipment 11 3.2 2.8

Amortisation of intangible assets 10 4.8 78

Operating lease payments 2.7 2.8
Exceptionalitems:

2017 2016

£m £m

Restructuring of Group operations (0.4) (0.8)

Total exceptionalitems (0.4) (0.8)

Exceptionalincome for the year ended 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 relates to the reversal of provisions previously made for restructuring
coststhatarenolongerrequired.

Services provided by the Company’s auditors
During the year, the Group (including overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the operating company’s auditors:

2017 2016

£m £m

Fees payable for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 0.1 01
Fees payable forotherservices:

-theaudit of the subsidiary undertakings pursuant to legislation o.1 0.2

-taxadvisory services - 01

Total 0.2 04
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5. Employees and Directors

2017 2016

£m £m

Wages and salaries 42.5 444
Social security costs 4.7 4.8
Other pension costs (note 21) 1.9 1.9
491 511

Share-based payments and associated NI (note 26) 4.5 2.5
Total 53.6 53.6

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors but excluding third-party contractors) employed by the Group
was as follows:

2017 2016

Number Number

Customer operations 339 395

Productandtechnology 3n 295

Display 46 41

Corporate 124 123

Total 820 854
6. Directors’ and Key Management remuneration

Theremuneration of Directors was as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Aggregate Directors’ emoluments 1.5 1.7

Share-based payments charge 1.3 0.8

Total 2.8 2.5

During the year ended 31 March 2017 two Directors (2016: two Directors) were members of the Group’s defined pension contribution scheme.

The remuneration of the highest paid Director was as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Aggregate emoluments 0.7 0.9
Share-based payments charge 0.9 0.5
Total 1.6 1.4

During the year to 31 March 2017, Trevor Mather and Sean Glithero (2016: Trevor Mather and Sean Glithero) received remunerationinrespect of
theirservices as Directors of the Company and subsidiary undertakings. Ed Williams received remunerationin respect of his services as a Director
of the Companyand, to 8 January 2016, Auto Trader Holding Limited, a subsidiary undertaking. Chip Perry received remunerationin respect of his
services asaDirector of the Company up to 7 March 2016 and, to 8 January 2016, Auto Trader Holding Limited, a subsidiary undertaking. During the
year to 31 March 2016, Tom Halland Nick Hartman received no remunerationin respect of their services as Directors of the Company and

Auto Trader Holding Limited, a subsidiary undertaking.

Referto the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 62 to 68 for further detail.

Key Management compensation
During the year to 31 March 2017, Key Management comprised the members of the OLT (2016: OLT). The remuneration of all Key Management

(including Directors) was as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 5.0 5.7
Share-based payments 2.6 14
Compensation for loss of office - 0.2
Pension contributions 0.2 0.2
Total 7.8 75
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7. Finance costs

2017 2016
£m £m
Finance costs
Onbankloansand overdrafts 7.5 12.7
Amortisation of debtissue costs 2.2 1.9
Total 9.7 14.6
8. Taxation
2017 2016
£m £m
Current taxation
UK corporation taxation 39.3 28.6
Foreign taxation 0.2 0.3
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (0.4) (0.7)
Total current taxation 39.1 28.2
Deferred taxation
Originationandreversal of temporary differences (0.3) (0.3)
Effect of rate changes on deferred taxation - 04
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (0.) -
Total deferred taxation (0.4) 01
Total taxation charge 38.7 28.3

The differences between the total taxation shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard UK corporation taxation rate
to the profit before taxation on continuing operations are set out below. The Group earnsits profits primarily in the UK, therefore the rate used
for taxationis the standard rate for UK corporation tax.

2017 2016

£m £m

Profitbefore taxation 193.4 155.0
Taxon profiton ordinary activities at the standard UK corporation tax rate of 20% (2016: 20%) 38.7 31.0
Expenses notdeductible for taxation purposes 0.6 0.3
Adjustmentsinrespect of foreigntaxrates (0.) (0.)
Other permanent differences - (2.6)
Effect of rate changes on deferred taxation - 04
Adjustmentsinrespectof prioryears (0.5) (0.7)
Total taxation charge 38.7 28.3

Taxation onitems takendirectly to equity was a credit of £0.1m (2016: £0.1m) relating to deferred tax on share-based payments.

The taxcharge forthe yearisbased onthe standardrate of UK corporation tax for the period of 20% (2016: 20%). The March 2016 budget
announced a furtherreductioninthe UK corporation taxrate to17% from1April 2020. Finance Act 2016 was ‘substantively enacted’ and ‘fully
enacted’ on 6and15September 2016 respectively. Deferred tax has been calculated based on the rate of 17% whichis the rate at which the
majority of items are expected toreverse.
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9. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the
parent by the weighted average number of sharesinissue.

Weighted average Total
number of ordinary earnings Pence
shares £m per share
Year ended 31 March 2017
Basic EPS 989,278,991 154.7 15.64
Diluted EPS 991,812,212 154.7 15.60
Year ended 31 March 2016
BasicEPS 1,000,002,803 126.7 12.67
Diluted EPS 1,001,394,111 126.7 12.65

The difference between the basic and diluted weighted average number of sharesrepresents the dilutive effect of the Share Incentive Plan,
Performance Share Plan, Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and the Sharesave scheme. Sharesissued to satisfy the Share Incentive Plan were
subsequently purchased by the Employee Share Option Trust (‘ESOT’) and are entitled to dividends under the scheme rules. The number of
sharesinissue at the start of the yearisreconciled to the basic and diluted weighted average number of shares below:

Weighted average
Year ended 31 March 2017 number of shares
Issued ordinary shares at 31 March 2016 1,001,051,699
Weighted effect of ordinary shares purchased for cancellation (7,621,111)
Weighted effect of ordinary shares purchased for treasury (3,173,244)
Weighted effect of shares held by the ESOT (978,353)
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS 989,278,991
Dilutive impact of share options outstanding 2,533,221
Weighted average number of shares for diluted EPS 991,812,212

The average market value of the Group’s shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share-based incentives was based on
quoted market prices for the period during which the share-based incentives were outstanding.
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10. Intangible assets
Software and
website Trade
develop t Fii ial Customer names and
Goodwill costs systems relationships Technology trademarks Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2015 433.2 53.7 11 5.8 5.6 19 511.3
Additions - 0.3 0.5 - - - 0.8
Exchange differences 04 - - - - - 0.4
At31March 2016 433.6 54.0 1.6 5.8 56 1.9 512.5
Additions - 0.5 0.7 - - - 1.2
Exchange differences 0.5 0.1 - - - - 0.6
At31March2017 43441 54.6 12.3 5.8 5.6 1.9 514.3
Accumulated amortisation
and impairments
At 31 March 2015 120.8 48.3 17 53 4.0 1.2 181.3
Amortisation charge - 4.0 2.5 04 0.7 0.2 7.8
At 31 March 2016 120.8 52.3 4.2 57 4.7 1.4 189.1
Amortisation charge - 1.5 2.3 0. 0.7 0.2 4.8
At31March2017 120.8 53.8 6.5 5.8 5.4 1.6 193.9
Netbook value at 31 March 2017 313.3 0.8 5.8 - 0.2 0.3 320.4
Netbook value at 31 March 2016 312.8 1.7 74 0.1 0.9 0.5 323.4
Net book value at 31 March 2015 312.4 5.4 9.4 0.5 1.6 0.7 330.0

At 31 March 2017,£0.1m (2016: £0.1m) of software and website development costs represented assets under construction. Amortisation
of these assets willcommence when they are broughtinto use.

For the year to 31 March 2017, the amortisation charge of £4.8m (2016: £7.8m) has been charged to administrative expensesin theincome
statement.

Goodwill, whichhas anindefinite usefullife, is subject to annualimpairment testing, or more frequent testing if there are indicators of impairment.

Goodwillisallocated to the appropriate cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) based on the smallestidentifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflowsindependentlyinrelation to the specific goodwill.

Therecoverable amount of the CGUis determined from value-in-use calculations that use cash flow projections from the latest three-year
planapproved by the Directors. Assets have beenallocated between the Auto Trader Digital CGU and the Webzone CGU. At 31 March 2017,
the carrying value of goodwill allocated to the Auto Trader Digital CGU was £307.6m and to the Webzone CGU was £5.7m.

Keyassumptionsin the budgetsand plansinclude future revenue growthrates, associated future levels of marketing supportand directly
associated overheads. These assumptions are based on historical trends and future market expectations. Cash flows beyond the three-year
period are extrapolated using the estimated long-term growth rate of 2.0% (2016: 2.0%). The pre-tax discount rate which has beenappliedin
determining value inuse forindividual CGUs for potentialimpairmentsis 8.0% (2016: 8.0%).

Significant headroom existsin the CGUs that have not been fully impaired. There are noreasonably possible changes to the assumptions
presented above that would resultinanyimpairmentrecordedin each of the years presentedin these financial statements.

Intangible assets have afinite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation of these intangible assetsis
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives (three to 15 years). The longest
estimated usefullife remaining at 31 March 2017 is five years.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Land, buildings and

Assetsunder leasehold Plantand
construction improvements equipment Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At 31 March 2015 0.2 4.2 15.8 20.2
Additions - - 2.0 2.0
Reclassification (0.2) - 0.2 -
Transfer todisposal group held for sale (note 15) - (0.3) - (0.3)
Disposals - - (0.) (0.)
At 31 March 2016 - 3.9 179 21.8
Additions - - 2.5 2.5
At 31March 2017 - 3.9 20.4 24.3
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2015 - 0.8 10.9 1n7
Charge fortheyear - 0.3 2.5 2.8
Disposals - - (om (0.1)
At 31 March 2016 - 1.1 13.3 14.4
Charge fortheyear - 0.3 29 3.2
At 31 March 2017 - 14 16.2 17.6
Netbook value at 31 March 2017 - 2.5 4.2 6.7
Net book value at 31 March 2016 - 2.8 4.6 7.4
Netbook value at 31 March 2015 0.2 3.4 4.9 8.5

The depreciation expense of £3.2m for the year to 31 March 2017 (2016: £2.8m) has been recorded in administrative expenses.
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12. Investments

Sharesin otherundertakings

£m
Cost
At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 3.2
Provision forimpairment
At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 3.2

Netbook value at 31 March 2017
Netbookvalue at 31 March 2016

At the balance sheet date the Group holds a19.4% (2016:19.4%) interest in the preferred share capital of IAUTOS Company Limited. IAUTOS
Company Limitedisanintermediate holding company through which are held trading companiesincorporated in the People’s Republic of
China. Itisnotconsidered anassociate as the Group does not have significantinfluence over this entity. This investment was fully impaired

inthe year to 31 March 2014 as the Chinese trading companies are loss-making with forecast future cash outflows.

Subsidiary undertakings

At 31 March 2017 the Group'srelated undertakings were:

Percentage Percentage

Country of registration or Class of shares owned by the owned by the

Subsidiary undertakings incorporation Principal activity held parent Group
Auto Trader Holding Limited? England and Wales Financing company Ordinary 100% 100%
Auto Trader Limited? England and Wales Classified listings Ordinary - 100%
Trader Licensing Limited? England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 100%
Trader Media Holdings Ireland Limited® Republic of Ireland Holding company Ordinary - 100%
Trader Medialreland Unlimited'® Republic of Ireland Holding company Ordinary - 100%
Webzone Limited?® Republic of Ireland Classified listings Ordinary - 100%

1 Asat31March 2017 the denoted companies were in the process of members’ voluntary liquidation as part of a Group structuring project. As such they are not
required toundertake a statutory audit or prepare individual company financial statements.

2 Registeredoffice address for UK companiesis shown ontheinside back cover.
3 Registered office address for the Republic of Ireland companiesis Paramount Court, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin18, D18 R9C7.

Aguarantee existsinrespect of the three wholly owned subsidiaries thatareincorporatedin the Republic of Ireland and consolidated within
these financial statements. They have availed themselves of an exemption from filing their individual financial statementsinaccordance with
Section 357 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 2014, Ireland.
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13. Financial instruments by category

The accounting policies for financialinstruments have been applied to the loans and receivables and financial liabilities as detailed

inthe table below:

Non-financial

Loans and receivables assets Total
31March 2017 £m £m £m
Financialassets as perbalance sheet:

Trade and otherreceivables 214 29.3 50.7
Cashand cash equivalents 8.0 - 8.0
Total 294 29.3 58.7
Financial liabilities
measured at Non-financial
amortised cost liabilities Total
31March 2017 £m £m £m
Financial liabilities as per balance sheet:
Borrowings (357.8) - (357.8)
Trade and other payables (71) (26.2) (33.3)
Total (364.9) (26.2) (391.1)
Loans and Non-financial
receivables assets Total
31March 2016 £m £m £m
Financialassets as perbalance sheet:
Trade and otherreceivables 294 22.3 51.7
Cashand cashequivalents 10.4 - 10.4
Total 39.8 22.3 62.1
Financial liabilities
measured at Non-financial
amortised cost liabilities Total
31March 2016 £m £m £m
Financial liabilities as per balance sheet:
Borrowings (395.6) - (395.6)
Trade and other payables (8.5) (28.1) (36.6)
Total (404.) (28.1) (432.2)

Non-financialassetsinclude prepayments and accruedincome. Non-financialliabilities include other taxes and social security and accruals

and deferredincome.

The carrying amounts of financialassets and liabilities approximate their fair values.
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14. Trade and other receivables

2017 2016
£m £m
Tradereceivables 24.4 32.5
Less: provision forimpairment of trade receivables (3.1) (3.2)
Tradereceivables - net 21.3 29.3
Otherreceivables 0.1 01
Accruedincome 26.1 18.5
Prepayments 3.2 3.8
Total 50.7 51.7
The ageing analysis of trade receivablesis as follows:
2017 2016
£m £m
Fully performing 17.8 21.3
Pastdue but notimpaired:
Up to three months 2.8 74
Impaired 3.8 3.8
Total 24.4 32.5
It was assessed thata portion of theimpaired receivablesis expectedto berecovered.
Movements on the provision forimpairment of trade receivables are as follows:
2017 2016
£m £m
Atbeginning of year 3.2 2.9
Provision for receivablesimpairment 1.7 1.9
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (1.8) (1.6)
Total 341 3.2

The creationandrelease of the provision forimpaired trade receivablesisincludedinadministrative expensesin theincome statement.

The other classes within ‘trade and otherreceivables’ do not containimpaired assets.

The maximum exposure to creditriskat the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable included within ‘trade and other
receivables’. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. Due to the large number of customers the Group services, the credit quality

of tradereceivablesis notdeemed asignificantrisk.

The carryingamount of the Group’s trade receivablesis denominatedin the following currencies:

2017 2016
£m £m
Sterling 23.6 31.6
Euro 0.8 0.9
Total 24.4 32.5
At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016 all other financial receivables are primarily denominated in sterling.
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15. Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale

Unoccupied properties no longer required by the Group have been placed for sale and are held at cost less accumulated depreciation
and anyimpairmentloss.

2017 2016
£m £m

Non-currentassets held for sale:
Property, plantand equipment - 0.3

16. Cash and cash equivalents

2017 2016
£m £m
Cashatbankandinhand 8.0 10.4

The Group’s creditrisk on cash and cash equivalentsis limited as the counterparties are well-established banks with high credit ratings.

At 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the cash and cash equivalents are primarily denominatedin sterling.

17. Trade and other payables

2017 2016

£m £m

Trade payables 6.1 7.8
Othertaxesandsocial security 10.0 10.9
Other payables 0.5 0.2
Accruals 14.3 15.4
Deferredincome 1.9 1.8
Accruedinterest payable 0.5 0.5
Total 33.3 36.6
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18. Borrowings

2017 2016
Non-current £m £m
Syndicated Term Loan gross of unamortised debtissue costs 363.0 403.0
Unamortised debtissue costs (5.2) (7.4)
Total 357.8 395.6

The Syndicated Term Loanis repayable as follows:
2017 2016
£m £m
Withintwo to five years 363.0 403.0
Total 363.0 403.0

The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values.

Syndicated Term Loan (the debt under the terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement)
On 24 March 2015, the Company and a subsidiary undertaking, Auto Trader Holding Limited, enteredinto a £550.0m Senior Facilities
Agreement. The associated debt transaction costs were £9.4m. The first utilisation was made on 24 March 2015 when £550.0m was drawn.

Interestonthe Syndicated Term Loanis charged at LIBOR plus a margin of between1.5% and 3.25% depending on the consolidated leverage
ratio of the Group. Thereis norequirementto settle all or part of the debt earlier than the termination date in March 2020.

Under the Senior Facilities Agreement, the lenders also made available to the Company and Auto Trader Holding Limited a £30.0m revolving
credit facility (the 'RCF’). The RCF was undrawn at 31 March 2017 (2016: undrawn). Cash drawings under the RCF would incur interest at LIBOR,
plusamargin of between1.25%and 3.0% depending on the consolidated leverage of the Group (31 March 2016:1.25% and 3.0%). Acommitment
fee of 35% of the margin applicable to the RCF from time to time is payable quarterly inarrears on the unutilised amounts of the RCF.

During the year to 31 March 2017 the Group repaid £40.0m of the Syndicated Term Loan (2016: £147.0m).

The exposure of the Group's borrowings (excluding debtissue costs) to LIBOR rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the balance
sheetdate are as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Onemonthorless 363.0 403.0
Total 363.0 403.0
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19. Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Onerous lease
and
dilapidations  Restructuring Holiday pay

provision provision provision Total
£m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2016 11 0.2 0.3 1.6
Charged/(released)to theincome statement (0.4) - 0.3 (0.)
Received/(utilised) inthe year 0.4 (0.2) (0.3) (om
At31March2017 11 - 0.3 1.4
2017 2016
£m £m
Current 0.3 0.5
Non-current 11 11
Total 1.4 1.6

The onerous lease provision was provided for future payments under property leasesinrespect of unoccupied properties no longer suitable

forthe Group'suse. During the year, the Group disposed of the last remaining property and as aresult, an exceptional credit of £0.4m was

recognised.

Dilapidations have been provided forall UKand Ireland properties based on the estimate of costs upon exit of the leases, which expire

between April 2025 and February 2029.

Therestructuring provisionrelated to redundancy and other costs concerning key relocations and reorganisationsin the UK.

The holiday pay provision relates to liabilities for holiday pay inrelation to the UK and Ireland operations for leave days accrued and not yet
takenatthe end of the financial year,and is expected to be fully utilised in the year to 31 March 2018.

106 Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017



Strategicreport / Governance / Financial statements

20. Deferred taxation

The movementin deferred taxation assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the of fsetting of balances within
the same taxjurisdiction, is as follows:

Accelerated Other

Share-based capital temporary
payments allowances differences Total
Deferred taxation assets £m £m £m £m
At 31 March 2015 - 4.6 - 4.6
Credited/(charged)to theincome statement 0.3 (0.2) - 0.1
Credited directly to equity 0.1 - - 0.1
Effect of rate changes on deferred taxation - (0.5) - (0.5)
At 31 March 2016 0.4 3.9 - 4.3
Credited/(charged)totheincome statement 0.4 (o) - 0.3
Credited directly to equity 01 - - 0.1
At 31 March 2017 0.9 3.8 - 4.7

Deferred taxation liabilities

At 31 March 2015 - - 0.6 0.6
Credited to theincome statement - - (0.2) (0.2)
Effect of rate changes on deferred taxation - - (01) (0.1)
At 31 March 2016 - - 0.3 0.3
Credited to theincome statement - - (01) (0.1)
At 31March2017 - - 0.2 0.2

The Group has estimated that £Nil of the Group’s net deferredincome tax asset will be realised in the next12 months. Thisis management's
current best estimate and may notreflect the actual outcome in the next12 months.

21. Retirement benefit obligations

Across the UKand Ireland the Group operates several pension schemes. Allexcept one are defined contribution schemes. Within the UK,
allpensionschemes set up prior to 2001 have been closed to new members and only one defined contribution scheme is now open to
new employees.

Inthe year to 31 March 2017 the pension contributions to the Group defined contribution scheme amounted to £1.9m (2016: £1.9m). At 31 March
2017, there were £0.3m (31 March 2016: £0.3m) of pension contributions outstanding relating to the Group's defined contribution scheme.

The defined benefit pension scheme provides benefits based on final pensionable pay and this scheme was closed to new joiners with effect
from May 2002. New employees after that date have been offered membership of the Group’s defined contribution scheme.

The mostrecentactuarial valuation of the defined benefit obligations was performed as at 31 March 2017 by a qualified independent actuary.

The amountsrecognisedin the balance sheetare determined as follows:

2017 2016

£m £m

Presentvalue of funded obligations 21.0 17.5
Fair value of plan assets (21.4) (18.4)
Effect of surplus cap 0.4 0.9

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet = -

The surplus of £0.4m (2016: £0.9m) has not beenrecognised asanassetasitisnotdeemed to be recoverable by the Group.
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21. Retirement benefit obligations continued

The netretirement benefitincome before taxationrecognisedin theincome statementin respect of the defined benefit schemes
issummarised as follows:

2017 2016
£m £m
Interestincome on netdefined benefit obligation - -
Administration expenses paid by the scheme = -
Net retirement benefitincome before taxation - -
Theamountsrecognisedinthe statement of other comprehensive income are as follows:
2017 2016
£m £m
Remeasurement (losses)/gains recognisedin the year (before tax) (0.5) 04
Effect of surplus cap 0.5 (0.4)
Total - -
The movementin the defined benefit obligations over the yearis as follows:
Presentvalue Fairvalue
of obligation  of planassets Total
£m £m £m
At 31 March 2015 191 (191) -
Interest expense/(income) 0.6 (0.6) -
Remeasurements:
Gainfromchangesin financialassumptions (1.2) - (1.2)
Gainsarising from experience (0.4) - (0.4)
Returnon planassets, excludingamountsincludedininterestincome - 1.2 1.2
Benefits paid (0.6) 0.6 -
Effect of surplus cap - 04 0.4
At 31 March 2016 17.5 (17.5) -
Interest expense/(income) 0.6 (0.6) -
Remeasurements:
Loss from changesin financialassumptions 3.9 - 3.9
Gains arising from experience (0.2) - (0.2)
Returnon planassets, excludingamountsincludedininterestincome - (3.2) (3.2)
Benefits paid (0.8) 0.8 -
Effect of surplus cap - (0.5) (0.5)
At 31 March2017 21.0 (21.0) =

The Company has agreed to contribute £70,000 per annum to the scheme with effect from10October 2016 for a period of three years.
During the year to 31 March 2017, the Group contributed £29,165 to the scheme (2016: £Nil).

As at 31 March 2017, approximately 65% of the liabilities (2016: 65%) are attributable to former employees who have yet toreach retirement
and 35%to current pensioners (2016: 35%).
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The significant actuarialassumptions were as follows:

2017 2016

% %

Discountrate 2.60 3.55
Pension growthrate 2.35 215
Inflationrate ('‘RPI') 3.45 3.25

Sensitivity to key assumptions has not been disclosed as any reasonable possible changes would not resultinasignificant change to the
amountsrecorded inthe financial statements.

The Group has assumed that mortality will be in line with nationally published mortality table S2NA with CMI 2015 projections related to
members' years of birth with long-termrate of improvement of 1.5% perannum. These tables translate into an average life expectancy for
apensionerretiring atage 65as follows:

2017 2016
Male Female Male Female
Years Years Years Years
Memberaged 65 (current life expectancy) 88 90 88 90
Member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 90 92 90 92
Planassets are comprised as follows:
2017 2016
£m % £m %
Equities 12.0 5641 101 54.9
Corporate bonds 8.3 38.8 74 40.2
Real estate 11 51 0.9 49
Total 214 100.0 18.4 100.0

This defined benefit pension scheme exposes the Group to anumber of risks, the most significant of which are:

Asset volatility

The scheme liabilities are calculated using adiscount rate set with reference to corporate bondyields; if assets underperform thisyield, this
will create a deficit. The scheme holds a significant proportion of equities, which are expected to outperform corporate bondsinthe long
term while creating volatility andriskin the short term. The allocation to equities is monitored to ensure it remains appropriate given the
scheme’slong-term objectives.

Changesinbondyields
Adecreaseincorporate bondyields willincrease the scheme liabilities, although this will be partially of fset by anincrease in the value of the
scheme’sbondholdings.

Inflationrisk

Aproportion of the scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation and higherinflation will lead to higher liabilities (although in most cases
capsonthelevelofinflationaryincreasesarein place to protectagainst extreme inflation). The majority of the assets are either unaffected by
oronlyloosely correlated with inflation, meaning that anincrease ininflation willalso increase the deficit.

Life expectancy
The majority of the scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, soincreasesinlife expectancy willresultinan
increasein the liabilities.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligationis 22 years.
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22. Share capital
2017 2016
Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital '000 £m ‘000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 1p each
At1April 1,001,052 10.0 1,000,000 1,500.0
New shares allotted - - 1,052 1.6
Capitalreduction - - - (1,491.6)
Purchase and cancellation of ownshares (22,081) (0.2) - -
Total 978,971 9.8 1,001,052 10.0

The Company commenced a share buyback programme during the year. By resolutions passed at the 2016 AGM, the Company was authorised
to make market purchases of up t0 99,905,974 of its ordinary shares, subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions. Atotal of 26,292,510
ordinary shares of £0.01each were purchasedinthe year to 31 March 2017, being 2.63% of the shares inissue at the time the authority was
granted. The average price paid per share was 387.9p, with a total consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of £102.6m. 4,211,957 shares were
purchasedtobe heldintreasury, with 22,080,553 being cancelled.

Included withinsharesinissue at 31 March 2017 are 948,924 (2016:1,021,224) shares held by the ESOT and 4,203,277 (2016:Nil) shares held in
treasury, as detailed in note 23.

On 23 April 2015 the Company issued and allotted 1,051,699 shares of £1.50 eachin connection with the Auto Trader Group plc Share Incentive
Planandthese were admitted for trade on the London Stock Exchange on 24 April 2015. The shares rank pari passu with the existing ordinary
shares of the Company.

0On 29 July 2015 the Company completed areduction of share capital and share premium (the ‘Capital Reduction’), whereby the entire amount
outstanding onthe Company's share premiumaccount was cancelled and the nominal value of eachissued ordinary share in the capital of the
Company was reduced from £1.50 to £0.01. The Capital Reduction created a significant amount of distributable reserves for the Company.

23. Ownsshares held
ESOT shares Treasury

reserve shares Total
Ownsharesheld -£m £m £m £m
Ownsharesheldasat1April 2015 - - -
Acquisition of shares by ESOT (1.6) - (1.6)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.1 - 0.1
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2016 (1.5) - (1.5)
Own sharesheld asat1April 2016 (1.5) - (1.5)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 01 - 01
Repurchase of ownshares for treasury - (15.5) (15.5)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2017 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
ESOT shares Treasury Total
reserve shares number of
number of number of ownshares
Own shares held —number shares shares held
Own sharesheldasat1April 2015 - - -
Acquisition of shares by ESOT 1,051,699 - 1,051,699
Transfer of shares from ESOT (30,475) - (30,475)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2016 1,021,224 - 1,021,224
Own shares held asat1April 2016 1,021,224 - 1,021,224
Transfer of shares from ESOT (72,300) - (72,300)
Shares purchased for treasury - 4,211,957 4,211,957
Share-basedincentives exercisedinthe year - (8,680) (8,680)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5,152,201
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24. Dividends

Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2017 2016
Pence Pence
pershare £m pershare £m
2016 interim dividend paid - - 0.5 5.0
2016 final dividend paid 1.0 9.9 - -
2017 interim dividend paid 1.7 16.7 - -
2.7 26.6 0.5 5.0

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 of 3.5p per share, totalling £34.1m, is subject to approval by shareholders
atthe Annual General Meeting and hence has not beenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2017 interim dividend paid on 27 January 2017 was £16.7m, being a difference of £0.1m compared to that reportedin the 2017 half year
results. Thiswas due toadecreaseinthe ordinary shares entitled to adividend between the date that the dividend was declared on
10 November 2016 and the dividend record date of 6 January 2017.

The 2016 final dividend paid on 30 September 2016 was £9.9m, being adifference of £0.1Im compared to thatreportedin the 2016 Annual Report.
Thiswas due toadecrease inthe ordinary shares entitled to a dividend between the date that the dividend was proposed on 9 June 2016 and
the finaldividend record date of 2 September 2016.

The Directors’ policy with regards to future dividendsis set outin the Strategic report on page 29.

25. Cash generated from operations

2017 2016
£m £m
Profit before taxation 193.4 155.0
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 3.2 2.8
Amortisation 4.8 7.8
Share-based payments charge (excluding associated NI) 4.0 2.3
Finance costs 9.7 14.6
Changesinworking capital (excluding the effects of exchange differences on consolidation):
Trade and otherreceivables 0.7 (2.6)
Trade and other payables (2.3) 53
Provisions (0.6) (51)
Cash generated from operations 212.9 18011
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26. Share-based payments

The Group currently operates four share schemes: the Performance Share Plan, Deferred Annual Bonus Plan, Share Incentive Planand the

Sharesave scheme.

Allshare-basedincentives are subject toaservice condition. Such conditions are not takeninto accountin the fair value of the service
received. The fair value of servicesreceivedinreturn for share-based incentives is measured by reference to the fair value of share-based
incentives granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share-based incentivesis measured using either the Monte Carlo or Black-Scholes

pricing modelasis mostappropriate foreach scheme.

The totalcharge inthe yearrelating to the four schemeswas £4.5m (2016: £2.5m) with a Company charge of £1.5m (2016: £0.7m). Thisincluded
associated nationalinsurance (‘NI') at13.8%, which management expects to be the prevailing rate when the awards are exercised, and

apprenticeship levyat 0.5%, based on the share price at the reporting date.

Group Company

2017 2016 2017 2016

£m £m £m £m

Share Incentive Plan (‘SIP’) 0.8 0.7 - -
Sharesave scheme (‘SAYE') 0.3 0.1 - -
Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) 2.4 1.2 1.0 0.4
Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (‘DABP’) 0.5 0.3 0.3 0.2
Total share-based payment charge 4.0 2.3 1.3 0.6
Nland apprenticeship levy onapplicable schemes 0.5 0.2 0.2 01
Total charge 4.5 2.5 1.5 0.7

Share Incentive Plan

In 2015, the Group established a Share Incentive Plan ('SIP’). All eligible employees were awarded free shares (or nil-cost optionsin the case
of employeesin Ireland) valued at £3,600 each based onthe share price at the time of the Company’s admission to the Stock Exchange in
March 2015, subject to a three-year service period ('Vesting Period’). The SIP shareholders are entitled to dividends over the Vesting Period.
There are no performance conditions applicable to the vesting of SIP shares. The fair value of the SIP awards at the grant date was measured
tobe £2.72 using the Black-Scholes model. The resulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the Vesting Period.

UKSIP

2017 2016
Number Number
Outstandingat1April 913,917 -
Awarded - 1,051,699
Dividend shares awarded 6,139 -
Forfeited (69,589) (107,307)
Released (74,422) (30,475)
Outstanding at 31 March 776,045 913,917
Vested and Outstanding at 31 March - -

Irish SIP
2017 2016
Number Number
Outstanding at1April 45,491 -
Awarded - 45491
Forfeited (1,060) -
Released - -
Outstanding at 31 March 44,431 45,491

Vested and Outstanding at 31 March

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for SIP awards released in 2017 was 387.14p (2016: 344.25p).

The SIP shares outstanding at 31 March 2017 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.1years (2016: 2.1years).

Sharesreleasedrelate to those attributable to good leavers as defined by the schemerules.
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Performance Share Plan
The Group operates a Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) for Executive Directors, the OLT and certain key employees.

On17 June 2016, the Group awarded 1,186,365 nil cost options under the PSP scheme. The extent to which such awards vest willdepend upon
the Group’s performance over a three-year performance period following the award date. The vestingin June 2019 ('Vesting Date’) of 25%
of the 2016 PSP award will be dependent on arelative TSR performance condition measured over the performance period and the vesting
of the 75% of the 2016 PSP award willbe dependent on the satisfaction of acumulative Underlying operating profit ('UOP’) target measured
over the performance period.

Fordetails of TSRand UOP performance conditions refer to the Directors’ remunerationreport on pages 62 to 68.

The PSP awards have beenvalued using the Monte Carlo model for the TSR element and the Black-Scholes model for the Underlying operating
profitelementand theresulting share-based payments charge is being spread evenly over the period between the grant date and the
Vesting Date.

Share price Exercise Expected Option Risk free Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue

at grantdate price volatility life rate yield condition per option
Grantdate Condition (£) (£) (%) (years) (%) (%) (%) (£)
19 June 2015 TSR dependent 3.06 Nil 30 3.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 2.08
19 June 2015 UOPdependent 3.06 Nil n/a 3.0 09 0.0 0.0 3.06
17 June 2016 TSR dependent 3.89 Nil 29 3.0 04 04 0.0 216
17 June 2016 UOPdependent 3.89 Nil n/a 3.0 0.9 04 0.0 3.89

Expectedvolatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date.

2017 2016

Number Number

Outstanding at1April 1,641,267 -
Options grantedinthe year 1,186,365 1,641,267
Forfeited (144,894) -
Outstanding at 31 March 2,682,738 1,641,267

Exercisable at 31 March -

The PSP awards outstanding at 31 March 2017 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.6 years (2016: 2.2 years) and a weighted
average contractuallife of 8.7 years (2016: 9.2 years).

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan
The Group operates a Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (‘DABP’) for Executive Directors and certain key senior executives.

Awards under the planare contingent on the satisfaction of pre-setinternal targetsrelating to financialand operational objectives. Awards
have avesting period of two years from the date of the award (the ‘Vesting Period’) and are potentially forfeitable during that period should
the employee leave employment. The DABP awards have beenvalued using the Monte Carlo modeland the resulting share-based payments
chargeis being spread evenly over the combined Performance Period and Vesting Period of the shares, being three years.

On17 June 2016, the Group awarded 248,263 nil cost options under the DABP scheme

Share price Exercise Expected Option Risk free Dividend Non-vesting Fairvalue

at grantdate price volatility life rate yield condition per option

Grant date (£) (£) (%) (years) (%) (%) (%) (£)
17 June 2016 3.89 Nil 30 2.0 0.4 0.4 0.0 3.89
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Expectedvolatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date.

2017

Number

Outstanding at1April -
Options grantedinthe year 248,263
Forfeited -
Outstanding at 31 March 248,263
Exercisable at 31 March -

The DABP awards outstanding at 31t March 2017 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 2.2 years (2016: n/a) and a weighted
average contractuallife of 9.2 years (2016: n/a).

The charge for the yearincludes an estimate of the awards to be granted after the balance sheet date inrespect of achievement of 2017
targets.

Sharesave scheme

The Group operates a Sharesave ('SAYE') scheme forallemployees under which employees are granted an option to purchase ordinary shares
inthe Company atup to 20% less than the market price atinvitation, inthree years’ time, dependent on their entering into a contract to make
monthly contributionsinto a savings account over the relevant period. Options are granted and are linked to a savings contract withaterm

of three years. These funds are used to fund the option exercise. No performance criteriaare applied to the exercise of Sharesave options.
The assumptionsusedinthe measurement of the fair value at grant date of the Sharesave planare as follows:

Share price Exercise Expected Option Risk free Dividend Non-vesting Fair value

atgrantdate price volatility life rate yield condition peroption

(£) (£) (%) (years) (%) (%) (%) (£)

23 September 2015 3.28 2.64 30 3.0 1.0 0.0 33 0.96

Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility at the grant date. The requirement that an employee has
tosaveinorderto purchase sharesunder the Sharesave planisanon-vesting condition. This feature has beenincorporatedinto the fair value
at grantdate by applying adiscount to the valuation obtained from the Black-Scholes pricing model.

2017 2016
Weighted average Weighted average
Number of exercise price Number of exercise price
share options £ share options £
Outstandingat1April 1,060,225 2.64 - -
Options grantedin the year - - 1,096,112 2.64
Exercised (8,680) 2.64 - -
Lapsed (132,264) 2.64 (35,887) 2.64
Outstanding at 31 March 919,281 2.64 1,060,225 2.64

Exercisable at 31 March - = - _

The weighted average market value per ordinary share for Sharesave options exercised in 2017 was 369.51p (2016 n/a).

The Sharesave options outstanding at 31 March 2017 have a weighted average remaining vesting period of 1.7 years (2016: 2.7 years)
and aweighted average contractuallife of 2.2 years (2016: 3.2 years).

Sharesave options exercised relate to those attributable to good leavers as defined by the schemerules.
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27. Contingent liabilities and guarantees

Anumber of the Group's entities provide guarantees under the Group's Syndicated Term Loan agreement. The amount borrowed under this
agreement at 31 March 2017 was £363.0m (2016: £403.0m).

28. Operating lease commitments

At the balance sheetdate, the Group had outstanding commitments for future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Land and buildings Other
2017 2016 2017 2016
£m £m £m £m
No laterthanoneyear 14 11 0.6 0.5
Later thanoneyearandno later than five years 9.9 8.9 0.7 1.0
Laterthanfiveyears 12.4 14.8 - -
Total 23.7 24.8 1.3 1.5

At 31 March 2017, £11.8m (2016: £14.2m) of future lease payments payable after five yearsrelate to the new Manchester and London properties.
The lease termsonthese properties are between10and15yearsand both lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period at
marketrate.

29. Post balance sheet event

On 25 April 2017, Auto Trader Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, acquired 100% of the share capital of Motor Trade Delivery Limited (‘MTD’)
foranundisclosed sum. MTD revenues and profits for their last financial year end were less than 1% of the revenue and profits of the Group.
The acquisitionaccounting has not yet been concluded as of the date of these financial statements.
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Company balance sheet

At 31 March 2017
2017 2016
Note £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments 3 1,210.5 1,207.8
1,210.5 1,207.8
Currentassets
Debtors 4 420.1 440.3
420.1 440.3
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 5 (118.4) (8.8)
Net current assets 301.7 431.5
Netassets 1,512.2 1,639.3
Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital 8 9.8 10.0
Own shares held 9 (16.9) (1.5)
Capitalredemptionreserve 0.2 -
Retained earnings 1,519.1 1,630.8
Total equity 1,512.2 1,639.3

The financial statements from pages 116 to 122 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised forissue.

Sean Glithero
Director
8 June 2017

Auto Trader Group plc Registered number 09439967
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Company statement of changes in equity

For the yearended 31 March 2017

Share premium Capital Retained
Share capital account Ownsharesheld redemption earnings/(deficit) Total equity
£m £m £m reserve£m £m £m

Balance at March 2015 1,500.0 144.4 - - (1.3) 1,643.1
Loss forthe period - - - - (1) (1.1)
Totalcomprehensive expense,
net of tax - - - - (1.1) (1.1)
Transactions with owners:
Issue of share capital 1.6 - (1.6) - - -
Reductioninshare capital (1,491.6) (144.4) 1,636.0 -
Transfer from ESOT - - 01 - (01) -
Dividends paid - - - - (5.0) (5.0)
Share-based payments - - - - 2.3 2.3
Total transactions with owners,
recogniseddirectly inequity (1490.0) (144.4) (1.5) - 1,633.2 (2.7)
Balance at March 2016 10.0 - (1.5) - 1,630.8 1,639.3
Loss fortheyear - - - - (1.9) (1.9)
Totalcomprehensive expense,
net of tax - - - - (1.9) (1.9)
Transactions with owners:
Purchase and cancellation of
ownshares (0.2) - - 0.2 (871) (87.1)
Purchase of treasury shares - - (15.5) - - (15.5)
Transfer from ESOT - - 0.1 - (0) -
Dividends paid - - - - (26.6) (26.6)
Share-based payments - - - - 4.0 4.0
Total transactions with owners
recognised directlyin equity (0.2) - (15.4) 0.2 (109.8) (125.2)
Balance at March 2017 9.8 - (16.9) 0.2 1,5191 1,512.2
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1. Accounting policies

Auto Trader Group plcisapublic limited company whichis listed on the London Stock Exchange and is domiciled and incorporatedinthe
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The Company was incorporated on13 February 2015 and adopted FRS102 from that date.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

The Company financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc have been preparedin compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland’
('FRS102')and the Companies Act 2006. The Company financial statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention, as modified
fortherevaluation of certain financialassets and liabilities through profit or loss. The current year financialinformation presentedis for the 369
day period ended 31 March 2017. The comparative financialinformation presentedis atand for the 364 day (52 week) period ended 27 March 2016.
Financial period ends have beenreferred to as 31 March throughout the consolidated financial statements as per the Company’s accounting
reference date.

The Directors have used the going concern principle on the basis that the current profitable financial projections and facilities of the
consolidated Group will continue in operation for a period not less than12 months from the date of thisreport.

The Company financial statements have been preparedin sterling whichis the functionaland presentational currency of the Company and
have been presentedinround £m.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, an entity profitand loss accountis notincluded as part of the published consolidated
financial statements of Auto Trader Group plc. The loss for the financial period dealt with in the financial statements of the parent company
was £1.9m (2016: loss of £1.1m).

Asthe Companyisincludedinthe consolidated financial statements andis considered to be a qualifying entity under FRS102 paragraphs
1.8t01.12, the following exemptions have been applied:

- noseparate parentcompany cash flow statement withrelated notes has beenincluded; and
- Key Management personnelcompensation has notbeenincluded asecondtime.
Amounts paid to the Company’s auditorsinrespect of the statutory audit were £55,000 (2016: £50,000).

Estimation techniques

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with FRS102 requires the use of certain criticalaccounting estimates. Italsorequires
management to exercise their judgementin the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving ahigher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are

- share-based payments; and

- carrying value of investments.

Share-based paymentarrangementsin which the Group receives goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments are
accounted foras equity-settled share-based payment transactions. The accounting policies of such arrangements are disclosed in note 1 of
the Group accounts. The fair value of services receivedinreturn for share optionsis calculated with reference to the fair value of the award on
the date of grant. Black-Scholes and Monte Carlo models have beenused where appropriate to calculate the fair value and the Directors have
therefore made estimates with regards to the inputs to that modeland the period over which the share award is expected to vest (note 26 of
the consolidated Group financial statements).

The Group considers annually whether the carrying value of investments has suffered any impairmentin accordance with the accounting policy
stated. The recoverable amounts of investments have been determined based onvalue-in-use calculations, which require the use of estimates.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investmentsin subsidiaries are held at cost, less any provision forimpairment. Annually, the Directors consider whether any events or
circumstances have occurred that could indicate that the carrying amount of fixed asset investments may not be recoverable. If such
circumstances do exist, a fullimpairmentreview is undertaken to establish whether the carrying amount exceeds the higher of net
realisable value orvalue inuse. If thisis the case,animpairment chargeisrecorded toreduce the carrying value of the related investment.

Where equity-settled share-based payments are granted to the employees of subsidiary companies, the fair value of the awardis treated
as acapital contribution by the Company and the investmentsin subsidiaries are adjusted to reflect this capital contribution.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shownin equity asadeduction
from the proceeds.

Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the Group's
shareholders. Where such shares are subsequently cancelled, the nominal value of the shares repurchased is deducted from share capitaland
transferred to a capitalredemptionreserve. Where the Group purchasesits own equity share capital to hold in Treasury, the consideration
paid forthe sharesis shown as own shares held within equity.

Shares held by the Employee Share Option Trust
Sharesinthe Company held by the Employee Share Option Trust ('ESOT’) are included in the balance sheet at cost asadeduction from equity.
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Taxation
UK corporation taxis provided atamounts expected to be paid or recovered using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxisrecognisedinrespectof all timing differences that have originated but notreversed at the balance sheetdate, where
transactions or events thatresultinan obligation to pay more taxin the future oraright to pay less taxin the future have occurred on the
balance sheet date.

Anetdeferredtaxassetisregardedasrecoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all evidence available, it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which to recover carried-forward tax losses and from which
the future reversal of underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferredtaxis measured at the average rates thatare expected to applyin the periodsin which the timing differences are expected toreverse
based onthetaxratesandlaws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred taxis measuredonan
undiscounted basis.

Financialinstruments
The Company has chosentoadopt Sections1iand12 of FRS102inrespect of financialinstruments.

a) Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables, cash and bank balances and investmentsin commercial paper, are initially
recognised at transaction price (unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction) and are subsequently carried atamortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial assets which constitute a financing transaction are measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted ata market rate
of interest. Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the changesin fair value are recognisedin profit or loss, except that
investmentsin equity instruments that are not publicly traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less
impairment.

Atthe end of eachreporting period financial assets measured atamortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an
assetisimpaired theimpairmentlossis the difference between the carryingamount and the present value of the estimated cash flows
discounted atthe asset’s original effective interestrate. The impairmentlossisrecognisedin profit or loss.

If thereisadecreaseintheimpairmentlossarising froman event occurring after the impairment was recognised, theimpairmentis reversed.
Thereversalis such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not
previously beenrecognised. Theimpairmentreversalisrecognisedin profit or loss.

Financialassetsare derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all
therisks and rewards of the ownership of the assetare transferred to another party or (c) despite having retained some significant risks and
rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to unilaterally sell the asset to
anunrelated third party withoutimposing additional restrictions.

b) Financial liabilities

Basic financiallliabilities, including trade and other payables, bank loans, loans from fellow Group companies and preference shares thatare
classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt
instrumentis measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a marketrate of interest. Debtinstruments are subsequently
carried atamortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent thatitis probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there isno evidence thatitis
probable thatsome or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to whichit relates.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have beenacquiredin the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if paymentis due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction price and subsequently measured atamortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Dividend distribution

Dividends tothe Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statementsin the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholdersin the case of final dividends. Inrespect of interim dividends, these are recognised
once paid.

2. Directors’ emoluments

The Company has no employees other than the Directors. Full details of the Directors’ remuneration andinterests are set outin the Directors’
remunerationreporton pages 62 to 68.
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3. Investments in subsidiaries

2017 2016

£m £m

At beginning of the period 1,207.8 1,206.2
Additions 2.7 1.6
At end of the period 1,210.5 1,207.8

The additionsintheyearand prioryear relate to equity-settled share-based payments granted to the employees of subsidiary companies.

Subsidiary undertakings
At 31 March 2017 the Company’srelated undertakings were:

Percentage Percentage

Country of registration or Class of shares owned by the owned by the

Subsidiary undertakings incorporation Principal activity held parent Group
Auto Trader Holding Limited? England and Wales Financing company Ordinary 100% 100%
Auto Trader Limited? England and Wales Classified listings Ordinary - 100%
Trader Licensing Limited? England and Wales Dormant company Ordinary - 100%
Trader Media Holdings Ireland Limited '® Republic of Ireland Holding company Ordinary - 100%
Trader Media Ireland Unlimited"® Republic of Ireland Holding company Ordinary - 100%
Webzone Limited? Republic of Ireland Classified listings Ordinary - 100%

1 Asat31March 2017 the denoted companies were inthe process of members’ voluntary liquidation as part of a Group structuring project. As such they are not
required toundertake a statutory audit or prepare individual company financial statements.

2 Registered office address for UK companiesis shown on theinside back cover.

3 Registered office address for the Republic of Ireland companiesis Paramount Court, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin18, D18 R9C7.

4. Debtors
2017 2016
£m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 419.7 440.0
Deferred taxasset 0.4 0.2
Corporation taxreceivable - 0.
420.1 440.3
Amounts owed by Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment.
5. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2017 2016
£m £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 17.5 8.3
Accruals and deferredincome 0.9 0.5
118.4 8.8

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are non-interest-bearing, unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment.

6. Financialinstruments
Financialinstruments utilised by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2017 and period ended 31 March 2016 may be analysed as follows:

2017 2016
Financial assets £m £m
Financialassets measured atamortised cost 419.7 440.0
2017 2016
Financial liabilities £m £m
Financial liabilities measured atamortised cost 18.4 8.8

Current assets and liabilities
Financialinstrumentsincluded within current assets and liabilities (excluding cash and borrowings) are generally short termin nature and
accordingly their fair values approximate to their book values.

120 Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2017



Strategicreport / Governance / Financial statements

7. Dividends

Dividends declared and paid by the Company were as follows:

2017 2016
Pence Pence
pershare £m pershare £m
2016 interim dividend paid - - 0.5 5.0
2016 final dividend paid 1.0 9.9 - -
2017 interim dividend paid 1.7 16.7 - -
2.7 26.6 0.5 5.0

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017 of 3.5p per share, totalling £34.1mis subject to approval by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting and hence has not beenincluded as aliability in the financial statements.

The 2017 interim dividend paid on 27 January 2017 was £16.7m, being a difference of £0.1m compared to that reportedin the 2017 half year
results. Thiswas due toadecreaseinthe ordinary shares entitled to adividend between the date that the dividend was declared on
10 November 2016 and the dividend record date of 6 January 2017.

The 2016 final dividend paid on 30 September 2016 was £9.9m, being adifference of £0.1m compared to thatreportedin the 2016 Annual Report.
Thiswas due toadecreaseinthe ordinary shares entitled to a dividend between the date that the dividend was proposed on 9 June 2016 and
the finaldividend record date of 2 September 2016.

The Directors’ policy with regards to future dividendsis set outin the Strategic report on page 29.

8. Called-up share capital

2017 2016

Number Amount Number Amount
Share capital '000 £m ‘000 £m
Allotted, called-up and fully paid: Ordinary shares of Ip each
At1April 1,001,052 10.0 1,001,000 1,500.0
New sharesallotted - - 1,052 1.6
Capitalreduction - - - (1,491.6)
Purchase and cancellation of own shares (22,081) (0.2) - -
Total 978,971 9.8 1,001,052 10.0

The Company commenced a share buyback programme during the year. By resolutions passed at the 2016 AGM, the Company was authorised
to make market purchases of up to 99,905,974 of its ordinary shares, subject to minimum and maximum price restrictions. A total of 26,292,510
ordinary shares of £0.01each were purchased in the year to 31 March 2017, being 2.63% of the sharesinissue at the time the authority was
granted. The average price paid per share was 387.9p, with a total consideration paid (inclusive of all costs) of £102.6 million. 4,211,957 shares
were purchased to be heldintreasury, with 22,080,553 being cancelled.

Included withinsharesinissue at 31 March 2017 are 948,924 (2016:1,021,224) shares held by the ESOT and 4,203,277 (2015:Nil) shares held in
treasury, as detailedinnote9.

0On 23 April 2015 the Companyissued and allotted 1,051,699 shares of £1.50 each in connection with the Auto Trader Group plc Share Incentive
Planandthese were admitted for trade on the London Stock Exchange on 24 April 2015. The shares rank pari passu with the existing ordinary
shares of the Company.

0On 29 July 2015 the Company completed areduction of share capital and share premium (the ‘Capital Reduction’), whereby the entire amount

outstanding onthe Company’s share premium account was cancelled and the nominal value of eachissued ordinary share in the capital of the
Company wasreduced from £1.50 to £0.01. The Capital Reduction created a significant amount of distributable reserves for the Company.
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9. Own shares held
ESOT shares Treasury

reserve shares Total
Ownsharesheld-£m £m £m £m
Own sharesheldasat1April 2015 - - -
Acquisition of shares by ESOT (1.6) - (1.6)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 01 - 0.1
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2016 (1.5) - (1.5)
Own shares held as at1April 2016 (1.5) B (1.5)
Transfer of shares from ESOT 0.1 - 0.1
Repurchase of own shares for treasury - (15.5) (15.5)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2017 (1.4) (15.5) (16.9)
ESOT shares Treasury Total
reserve shares number of
number of number of ownshares
Ownsshares held —number shares shares held
Ownsharesheldasat1April 2015 - - -
Acquisition of shares by ESOT 1,051,699 - 1,051,699
Transfer of shares from ESOT (30,475) - (30,475)
Ownshares held as at 31 March 2016 1,021,224 - 1,021,224
Ownsharesheld asat1April 2016 1,021,224 - 1,021,224
Transfer of shares from ESOT (72,300) - (72,300)
Shares purchased for treasury - 4211957 4211957
Share-basedincentives exercisedinthe year - (8,680) (8,680)
Own shares held as at 31 March 2017 948,924 4,203,277 5,152,201

10. Contingent liabilities and guarantees

The Companyisaguarantortoaborrowing facility relating to aloan provided to a Group entity. The amount borrowed under this agreement

at 31 March 2017 was £363.0m (2016: £403.0m).

11. Related parties

During the year,amanagement charge of £1.9m (2016: £2.0m) was received from Auto Trader Limited in respect of services rendered.

Attheyearend, balances outstanding with other Group undertakings were £419.7m and £117.5m respectively for debtors and creditors

(2016: £440.0mand £8.3m) as setoutinnotes4and 5.
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Shareholder information

Registered office and headquarters
Auto Trader Group plc

1Tony Wilson Place

Manchester

MI154FN

United Kingdom

Registered number: 09439967

Tel: +44(0) 161669 9888

Web: autotrader.co.uk

Web: about-us.autotrader.co.uk
Investor relations: ir@autotrader.co.uk

Company Secretary
Claire Baty

Joint stockbrokers

Bank of America Merrill Lynch
2King Edward Street

London

ECIATHQ

Numis Securities Limited

The London Stock Exchange Building
10 Paternoster Square

London

ECAMT7LT

Independent auditors
KPMG LLP

1St. Peter's Square
Manchester

M2 3AE

Registrar

Capita Asset Services
The Registry

34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham

BR34TU

Tel UK: +44(0) 871664 0300
(calls cost12p per minute plus network extras;

linesare open9.00amto 5.30pm Monday to Friday,

excluding public holidaysin England and Wales)

Telinternational: +44(0) 371664 0300
(charged atthe appropriate internationalrate)

Web: capitaassetservices.com

Email: shareholder.enquiries@capita.co.uk

Financial calendar 2017-2018

Annual General Meeting 21September 2017
Half-yearresults 9 November 2017
2018 Full-yearresults June 2018

Shareholder enquiries

Ourregistrars will be pleased to deal with any questions

regarding your shareholdings (see contact details in the opposite
column). Alternatively, if you have internetaccess, you can access
autotradershares.co.uk where you canview and manage allaspects
of your shareholding securely including electronic communications,
accountenquiriesoramendmenttoaddress.

Investor relations website

Theinvestorrelations section of our website,
about-us.autotrader.co.uk/investors, provides furtherinformation
foranyoneinterestedin Auto Trader. Inaddition to the Annual Report
and Financial Statements and share price, Company announcements
including the full-year results announcements and associated
presentationsare also published there.

Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements

Certain statements made in this Reportare forward-looking
statements. Such statements are based on current expectations
and assumptions and are subject toanumber of risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ
materially from any expected future events or results expressed
orimpliedinthese forward-looking statements. They appearina
number of places throughout this Reportandinclude statements
regarding the intentions, beliefs or current expectations of the
Directors concerning,amongst other things, the Group's results
of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth,
strategies and the business. Personsreceiving this Report should
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Unless
otherwise required by applicable law, regulation or accounting
standard, Auto Trader Group plc does notundertake to update
orrevise any forward-looking statements, whetheras aresult

of new information, future developments or otherwise.
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